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CryoLife,® Inc,. |
Bi'otechnologics for Medicine -

1655 Robens Boulevard N.W.
Kennesaw, Georgia 30144

T

PHONE: 770-419-3355
FAX: 770-426-0031
E-Mail: info@cryolife.com
http://www.cryolife.com
_ FORM 10-K, '* STOCK LISTINGS
A HE S

Included in this Annua] Report to
Stockholders is.a copy of the Company’s Annual
chort on Forim 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006, including ccmﬁcanons by
the Chief Execunve Officer.and chief Financial
Officer, but excludmg additional exhibits, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Additional copies of this Annual Report and the
Form 10-K, without exhibits, are available at no
charge. Please send requests to:

Ms. Suzanne K. Gabbert
Corporate Secretary
. . Ciyolife, Inc, ©
1655 Roberts Boulevard NW
Kennesaw, GA 30144
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STOCKHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS

Directors may be contacted by mail.
addressed c/o Ms. Gabbert at the address
provided above for requesting coples of the
Form 10-K. o
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NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGE ANNUAL
CEO CERTIFICATION

The Chief Executive Officer of CryoLife,
Inc. provided the New York Stock Exchange with
an unqualified Annual CEO Certification last
year. S o
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CryoLife, Inc. Common Stock is traded on
the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol
CRY.

Options to acquire CryoLife, Inc. Common
Stock are traded on the Chicago Board Options
Exchange (CBOE) and the American Stock
Exchange®, a subsidiary of the National
Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. (NASD®),
under the symbol CRY. ‘

CryoLife, Inc. 6% Convertible Preferred
Stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange
under the symbol CRY Pr. -
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TRANSFER AGENT

Communications regarding change of
address, transfer of stock ownership or lost stock
certificates should be directed to:

American Stock Transfer & Trust Company
59 Maiden Lane, Plaza Level
New York, NY 10038
Phone: 800-937-5449

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC
ACCOUNTING FIRM

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Suite 1500

191 Peachtree Street N.E.

Atlanta, GA 30303-1924




UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

- FORM 10-K
(Mark One)

= ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT

OF 1934
“ oo st For the ﬁscal year ended December 31, 2006 ML A
+ . N OR M . ]

O:  TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE h

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACTOF 1934 -+ et ’
For the transition period from - to

Commission file number 1-13165

CRYOLIFE, INC.

+ (Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

.

: Florida, . ~ : ’ ' ‘ 59-2417093
(State or other jurisdiction of 1ncorporatron or orgamzanon) ~ (ILRS. Employer ldentrﬁcatlon No.}

1655 Roberts Boulevard N.W., Kennesaw, GA 30144 .
{Address of principal ey@ecutwe offices) (zip code) .

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code (770) 419-3355 . . T

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:’
Title of each class ~ Name of each exchange en which registered
Common Stock, $.01 par value New York Stock Exchange
Preferred Share Purchase Rights New York Stock Exchange
6% Convertible Preferred Stock, $.01 par value New York Stock Exchange
Securmes regrstered pursuant to Sectlon l2(g) of the Act: ' - ' '
None
Indicated by check mark if thie regrstrant isa well known seasoned 1ssuer as deﬁned in Rule 405 of the Securmes Act.
YesONo X
Indicated by check mark if the reglstrant is not requnred to file repons pursuant to Section 13 or Secnon 15(d) of the Act.
Yes O No B
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has ﬁled all reports ‘required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or such shorter period that the registrant was required to
file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes & No O
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to.Item 405 of Regulation S-K Section 229. 405 of this
chapter is not contamed herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge in définitive proxy or
information statements 1ncorp0rated by, reference in Part I1I of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. O
_Indicate by check mark ‘whether the registrant is a large accelerated fi ler, an accelerated filer, or a nonaccelerated filer.
See deﬁmtlon of “accelerated filer and large accelerated filer” in Rule’12b-2 of the Exchange Act
. Large Accelerated Filer O Accelerated Filer & ~ ' ' Non—accelerated Filer O ¢
Indicate by check mark whéther the registrant is a ‘shell company (as def’med in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act)
Yes O No X
As of June 30, 2006, the aggregate market value of the votmg stock of the Registrant held by non-affiliates of the
reg:strant was $120 532, 000, computed using the closing pnce "of $5.40 per share of Commion Stock on June 30, 2006, the
last trading day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter as reported by the New York Stock
Exchange, based on management’s belief that Registrant has no affiliates other ‘than its directors and executive officers.
As of February 16, 2007 the number of outstanding shares of Common Stock of the registrant was 24,988 465.

, Documents Incorporated By Reference

Document ‘ Parts Into Which lncorporated
Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders ' . ; o Part 111 '
to be filed within 120 days after December 31, 2006. o '
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PART I

BN 1 By L
Item 1. Business. - ; . ..
P PV E _
Overview L . . ‘
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CryoLtfe Inc. (“CryoLlfe" the “Company we”, or “us”), mcorporated January 19 1984 in Florida, develops and
commercializes biomaterials, implantable medicat devices, and preserves and distributes human tissues for cardiovascular
and vascular transplant applications. The Company’s biomaterials and implantable devices include BioGlue® Surgical
Adhesive (“BioGlue”), porcine heart valves, and vascular grafts of bovine tissue processed using the Company’s proprietary
SynerGrafi® technology. The Company’s products are often marketed internationally several years before they can be
marketed in the U.S. In 2006 international revenues were 15% of total revenues.

3% L,

BioGlue

CryoLife’s proprietary product BioGlue, designed for cardiovascular, vascular, pelmonary, and general surgical
applications, is a polymer based on bovine blood protein and an agent for cross-linking proteins. CryoLife is authorized to
distribute BioGtue throughout the U.S. and in more than 60 other countries for designated applications. In the U.S. BioGlue
is U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA™) approved as an adjunct to sutures and staples for use in adult patients in open
surgical repair of large vessels. CryoLife distributes BioGlue under Conformité Européene (“CE™) Mark product
certification in the European Economic Area (“EEA™) for soft tissue repair procedures (which include cardiovascutar,
pulmonary, and additional soft tissue repair procedures). CryoLife has also received approval and distributes BioGlue for
soft tissue repairs in Canada. Additional marketing approvals have been granted for specified applications in Australia, and
several other countries in Central and South America, and Asia.

Human Tissue Preservation and Distribution

CryoLife distributes preserved human cardiovascular, vascular, and orthopaedic tissue to implanting institutions
throughout the U.S., Canada, and Europe, although distribution of orthopaedic tissue is being phased out. See “—Recent
Events—Exchange and Service Agreement with RTI”. CryoLife preserves human tissue using special freezing techniques,
Or cryopreservation. Management believés the human tissues it distributes offer specific advantages over mechanical,
synthetic, and animal-derived alternatives. Depending on the alternative, these advantages include more natural blood ﬂow
properties for its cryopreserved human heart valves, the elimination of a long-term need for drug therapy to prevent
excessive blood clotting, and a reduced risk of catastrophic failure, thromboembolism (stroke), or calcification.

Other Products ' '

[ N T a L

CryoLife dlstnbutes a porcme heart valve, the CryoLlfe O’Brien® aortic heart valve in Europe, the Middle East, and
Africa (“EMEA™). This valve contains minimal amounts of synthetic materiat compared to other glutaraldehyde fixed
porcine valves. This decreases the nsk of endocardms a debilitating and potentially fatal infection, CryoL:fe also markets
its SynerGraft bovine vascular graﬁ "the SynerGraft Model 100, in the EMEA. This bovine vascular graft utilizes CryoLife’s
SynerGraft process, a proprretary process that involves the depopulatton of cells leavmg a matrix of protein fibers that has
the potential to be repopulated with the recipient’s cells. Cryoere beheves that this process 1ncreases graft, longevrty, and
improves the biocompatibility and functionality of the tissue.

In 2007 CryoLife will begin exclusive' dlstnbutron of CardioWrap® a product of MAST BioSurgery, Inc. CardroWrap
is a bioresorbable thin film sheet used to replace the pencardlum in cardiac reconstruct:on and other cardlac surgenes where
the patient may face re-operation wrthm six months

Research and Development

Through its continuing research and deveiopment acnv:lles CryoLlfe endeavors to use its expertise in protem chemistry,
blochemrstry, and cell biology, and its understanding of the cardiovascular and vascular surgery medical specralttes to
acquire and develop useful implantable products and technologies. CryoLlfe seeks 1o identify market areas that can benef t
from preserved living tissues and other related technologies, to develop innovative techniques and products within these
areas, to secure their commercial protection, to establish their efficacy, and then to market these techniques and products In

2




order to expand CryoLife’s service and product offerings, the Company is in the process of developing.or investigating . .
several technologies and products. The products in development have not been subject to completed clinical trials and have
not received FDA or other regulatory approval, so CryoLife may not derive any revenues from them. CryoLife generally
performs significant research arid development work before offering its services and products, building on either existing .
proprietary and non-proprietary knowledge or acquired technology and know-how. ‘The Company’s cutrent tissue . .
preservation services were developed internally. «The Company developed its BioGlue product from-a substance originally
developed by a third party and acquired by CryoLlfe + In addition the Company continues to explore technologies that may
further enhance the safety of its-tissue processing.:-. !, e g : Vo A v st
S oLk 1

BioGlue is the first product to bc developed from the Company 3 Protem Hydrogel Technology (“PHT™). CryoL1fe s
PHT is the base for several potential products in development. CryoLife is researching.the use of derivatives of the PHT
technology as a potential nucleus pulposus replacement in spinal disc repair and for use in trauma surgery Potent1al product
line extensions mc]ude modifications to the BioGlue del1very system P I N IV B O
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Risk Factors : ; Co : . . : oo

CryoLife’s business is subject to a number of risks, including the possibility of FDA actions, additional expenses and ,
losses from preduct recalls, possible losses from product liability, securities, and other litigation, other regulatory actions,
adverse publicity, and lower demand for CryoLife products resulting from product recalls and other FDA activity, inability to
obtain sufficient insGrance coverage, possible inability to protect the intellectual property rights in the Company’s
technology, the possible inability to obtain necessary regulatory approvals -and p0551ble future tack of caplta] See Part I,
Item 1A, “Rlsk Factors” below.. . I . e A
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Recent Events. TR e S o o oo s
AddrtaonalRegulatoryApprovals oo L . p .. e

On December 1 1 2006 the Company announced that it has recewed 510(k) clcarance from the FDA for its ProPatch™
Soft Tissue Repair Matrix (“ProPatch™), ProPatch, developed from bovine pericardial tissue, is used to reinforce weakened
soft tissues and provides a resorbable scaffold that is replaced by the patlent‘s own soft tissue.

* e l’ . . . h . . .
On December 13, 2006 the Company announced that it has recewed CE Mark and Health Canada approval for anew
rigid applicator tip for its BioGlue Surgical Adhesive. The new tip, designed to reach beyond 27 cm, enables precise -+

delivery of BioGlue over an extended length,

Agreement with BioForm Medical, Inc. = - . . o PEETCE

In October 2006 the Company announced that it has signed a licensing and distribution agreement with BioForm
Medical, Inc. ("BioForm") for the development and commercialization of BioGlue for use in cosmetic and plastic surgery
indications. The agreement calls for BioForm to fund the clinical development and regulatory approval process for
commercializing BioGlue for use in cosmetic and plastic surgery indications in the United States, Canada, and various
countries in Europe. In addition, BioForm will oversee all aspects of the marketing, sales and distribution of BioGlue in the
United States, Canada, and.various countries in Europe for these indications. CryoLife will remain the exclusive supplier of
BioGlue for all applications.- Under the terms of the agreement, CryoLife received an initial fee from BioForm, and will
receive a milestone payment upen the first FDA approval for use in cosmetic and plastic surgery indications. -

Exchange and Service Agreement withRTI ., - . + " ‘ e

On December 19, 2006 the Company announced that it had entered into an exchange and service agreement with
Regeneration Technologies, Inc., and certain of its affiliates (collectively, "RTI"), respecting procurement, processing, and
distribution activities for cardiovascular and vascular tissue processed and distributed by RTI and orthopaedic tissue for the
knee processed and distributed by CryoLife (the “RTI Agreement”). According to the RTI Agreement, CryoLife ceased
accepting for processing donated human orthopaedic tissue commencing Jamuary 1, 2007 and will work to transition existing
arrangements for recovery of human orthopaedic tissue to RTIL. Likewise, on January 1, 2007 RTI ceased accepting donated
human cardiovascular and-vascular tissues for processing and will work to transition its arrangements for recovery of these
tissues to CryoLife. Certain physical assets relating to the tissues that are the subject of the agreement may aiso be

'
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transferred between the parties. No cash:was exchanged in the transaction. CryoLife will continue to distribute its existing
orthopaedic tissue invéntory, and RTI will continue to distribute its existing cardiovascular and vascular tissue inventory,
through June 30, 2008. After that date CryoLife will become entitled to distribute RTI's remaining cardiovascular and |
vascular tissue inventory, and RTI will become entitled to distribute CryoLife's remaining orthopaedic tissue inventory, for a
fee. Under the RTI Agreement, from July 1; 2008 through December 31, 2016, except as set forth above, CryoLife has
agreed not to market or solicit orders for certain human orthopaedic tissues and RTI has agreed not to market or solicit orders
for human cardiac and vascular tissues. . The agreement also provides for a non-exclusive license of technology from
CryoLife to RTI, and contains customary provisions regarding indemnification and confidentiality. See discussions on the
financial impact of thls transaction in Part II, Item §, “Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”.
e L Py - . !
Agreement with the Cleveland Chmc {0 Develop Aomc Mttral Allograﬂ ' :
p , e

On J anuary 10, 2007 the Company announced that it has entered into an agreement with the Cleveland Clinic to develop
an innovative allograft, or human tissue, heart valve for patients suffering from serious heart infections. Under the terms of
the agreement, the Company will work with the Cleveland Clinic to develop a combination.aortic-mitral allograft heart valve
to be used in patients with infective endocarditis, a condition in which the structures of the heart pamcularly the heart
valves, are infected. o . i .

’
A

CardioWrap D:stnbutzon Agreement S . Sare,

. .- . i - Co .

On January 17, 2007 the Company- announced that it has signed a multi-year agreement with MAST Biosurgery, Inc. to
distribute CardioWrap, a bioresorbable thin film sheet used to replace the pericardium in cardiac reconstruction and other
cardiac surgeries in which the patient may face re-operation within six months. The agreement gives CryoLife the exclusive
rights to distribute CardioWrap in the U.S. for three years. CardioWrap is made from polylactic acid, a polymer.composed
of lactic acid, similar to that which occurs naturally in the human body. CardioWrap maintains its strength during the
healing process while slowly breaking down into lactic acid molecules. These molecules are ultimately metabolized into
carbon dioxide and water and released from the body through the lungs. Available in several sizes and thicknesses, sheets of
CardioWrap can be cut or shaped with scissors to the desired size, allowing CardioWrap to-conform to most anatomlcal
needs. e PR . ,
i [ ' St TN )

FDA Order on Human Tissue Preservation and Other FDA Correspondence and Notices

P e

FDA Ovrder on Human Tissue Preservation . . ' '

On August 13, 2002 the Company received an order from the Atlanta district office of the FDA regarding the non-valved
cardiac, vascular, and orthopaedic tissues processed by the Company since October 3, 2001 (the "FDA Order"). Pursuant to the
FDA Order, the Company placed non-valved cardiac, vascular, and orthopaedic tissue subject to the FDA Order (i.e. processed
since October 3, 2001) on quality.assurance quarantine and recalled the portion of those tissues that had been distributed but not
implanted. In addition the Company ceased processmg non-valved cardlac vascular, and orthopaedic tissues.

. et LT . .

The FDA allowed non-valved cardlac and vascular tissues covered by the .recall to be distributed beginning in late
September 2002, subject to specified conditions. The Company changed its ‘processing procedures and took other actions
intended to address the FDA’s concemns, and now processes non-valved cardiac and vascular tissues. The Company processed
orthopaedic tissues through December 31, 2006 when. it ceased processmg orthopaechc tissues pursuant to the RTI Agreement
discussed above in “—Recent Events”. i

See Part I, Item 3, “Legal Proceedings” for a discussion of certain material legal proceedings relating to the FDA Order
and other matters.

Orher FDA Correspondence and Notices . ' . : ct b
Sy . . 1 -

*An FDA Form 483 Notice of Observations ("483") was issued in August 2005 in connection with the FDA inspections of
the Company's facilities in July 2005 (*July 2005 483™"). - The Company responded to the July 2005 483 in August 2005, in
Septernber 2005, and in October 2005, In April 2006 the FDA responded on the adequacy of the Company’s responses. The
Company responded to the FDA in June 2006. In response to the July 2005 483 the Company has implemented new systems
and procedures and revised existing systems and procedures. The FDA may require the Company to implement additional

4




corrective actions, pérform additional validation testing, or supply additional information related'to the 1nspectlons and has the
authority to take other actions, which may be more burdensome. ‘The Company has cooperated and will contmue to cooperate
with the FDA to review process improvements and address any outstanding observations, W

T RN Y
ngﬂgmﬂ EUTRG TR "

- On February 20, 2003 the Company received a letter from the FDA stating that a 510(k) premarket*notlﬁcanon should be
filed for the Company's SynerGraft processed human cardiac tissues ("CryoValve® SG") and that premarket approval marketing
authorization shéuld be obtained for the Company's SynerGraft processed human vascular tissues ("CryoVein® SG") when
marketed or labeled'as an arteriovenous ("A-V") access graft. The agency's position is'that use of the SynerGraft technology in
thie processing of allograft heart valves represents a modification to the Company's legally marketed CryoValve allograft and that
vascular allograﬁs labeled for use as A-V access graﬁs are medical devices lhat requlre premarket approval '

. . .
. 4

On November 3, 2003 the Company ﬁled a 510(k) premarket notification with the FDA for- the CryoValve SG. On
February 4, 2004 the Company received a letter from the FDA requesting ‘additional information. On August 24, 2004 the
Company submitted an amendment to its original 510(k) submission providing clarification and additional information. The
FDA requested further additional information in November 2004. On June 8, 2005 CryoLife responded to some of these
additional requests. CryoLife also has initiated an appeal of other requests through administrative procedures. The FDA
requested further additional information in January 2006. Since March 2006 the Company has had discussions with the FDA
to address the outstanding requests for additional information and seck clearance for the CryoValve SG pulmonary valve.
On July 21, 2006 the Company submitted an'amendment to its-510(k) application addressing information requested by the
FDA. The Company has undertaken further clinical and preclinical evaluations in response to requests by the FDA. These
evaluations were submitted to the FDA in an additional 510(k) amendment on February 20, 2007. The FDA may stilt require
that additional studies -be undertaken. - Clearance of the 510{k) premarket notification with the FDA wﬂl be requlred before the
Company can resume distribution of SynerGraft processed CryoValve SG. = .+ . " AR

On December 8, 2003 the Company received 4 letter from the FDA stating that it was the agency's position that certain
additional cardiovascular tissues processéd with the SynerGraft-technology should be regulated as medical devices. On
September 14, 2004 the Company met with the FDA to discuss the data to be used to support a formal Request for Designation
("RFD") filing for SynerGraft processed non-valved cardiac and vascular tissue, including the CryoVein 3G. ‘An RFD
submission establishes the regulatory status of the tissue.- The Company submitted th¢ RFD on October 5, 2004. The FDA
affirmed its original decision in letters received in Decermnber 2004. That decision was subject to an administrative appeal. On
October 20, 2005 CryoLife was informed that the FDA had denied the appeal and that CryoLife will be unable to distribute
CryoVein tissues with the SynerGraft technology until further submissions and FDA approvals are granted. The Company is
evaluating whether it will file and seek FDA approvals for CryoVein SG or discontinue the CryoVein SG.

Asa result of these FDA communications, in 2003 the Company suspended the use of the SynerGraft technology in the
processing of allograﬂ tissue and the distribution of tissues on hand previously processed with the SynerGraft technology until
the regulatory issues associated with these fissues are resolved.' Additionally; the Company discontinued labeling its vascular
grafis for use'as A-V access grafts. Until such time as the issues surrounding SynerGraft are resolved, the Company is
employing its traditional processing methods on these tissues. As of December 31, 2006 the Company had no deferred
preservation'costs related to SynerGraft processed tissues on its Consolidated Balance Sheets. .~ .

Strategy - - ' A e
PR . i . o e C

On January 18 2006 the Company announced it had engaged Plper Jaffray & Co. to assist the Company s management and
Board of Directors in identifying and evaluating potential strategies to enhance shareholder value. On November 2, 2006, the
Company announced that in connection with its strategic analysis, the Board determined that sharcholder value was not likely to
bé miaximized through a sale of the Company; or of a major product line, at that time. Further, the Board concluded that the
significant improvements in the Company’s operating results in the second and third quarters of 2006, coupled with
improvements in the Company’s liquidity, made it unnecessary for the Company to pursue a capital-raising transaction at that
time. -The Company announced that it would continue to focus on growing its business and leveraging its strengths and expertise
in its core marketplaces to generate revenue and earnings growth. . The key elements of its strategy related to growing its
business and leveraging its strengths and expertise in its core marketplaces to generate revenue and earnings growth are:

o Expand Distribution of BioGlue and Develop Derivative Products. The Company intends to increase the market
penetration of its BioGlue by (i) expanding awareness of the clinical advantages of BioGlue through continuing



. educational and marketing efforts directed to physicians, (ii) pursuing additional indications or product line
extensions for the BioGlue technology in either the U.S. or internationally, (iii) pursuing indications for derivatives
of the BioGlue technology in either.the U.S. or intemationally, and (iv).continuing to seek additional marketing
approvals in other countries.

LI .
o Expand Distribution of Preserved Human Tissue. The Company intends to increase the market penetration of its
CryoLife preserved human heart valves, non-valved conduits, and vascular grafts by (i) increasing yields of
- implantable tissue per donor, (ii) expanding awareness of clinical advantages of preserved human tissues through
continuing educational efforts directed to physicians and tissue procurement agencies, (iii) improving and
expanding its relationships with the approximately 80 tissue banks and organ procurement agencies across the U.S.
which have recovered and sent tissue to the Company for preservation, (iv) increasing the number of tissue banks
and organ procurement agencies that work with CryoLife, {v) expanding its physician training activities, and
(vi} resuming the application of its SynerGraft technology to human heart vaives, non-valved conduits, and
. vascular grafts, if required FDA approvals are obtained. In an effort to increase its market penetration of CryoLife
preserved human heart valves, non-valved conduits, and vascular grafis the Company entered into the RTI
Agreement in December 2006 in order to increase cardiovascular and-vascular procurement and market share for ;
these tissues. . . : . - . '

s Broaden Application of Preservation Services. The Company will continue to collect, monitor, and evaluate 7
implant data to (i) develop expanded uses for the human tissues currently cryopreserved by the Company and
(ii) identify new human tissues as candidates for cryopreservation.

] [ .

. i v . I . Y 1
Additionally, the Company announced that it will pursue three additional key strategies designed to generate revenue
and eamnings growth. These three strategies include: - : . y

o ldentify and evaluate acquisition opportunities of complementary product lines and companies. The Company
intends (i) to leverage its current distribution channel and 1ts expertise in the cardiovascular and vascular medical
specialties by selectively pursuing the potential acquisition, distribution or licensing of additional technologies that
complement existing services and products, and (ii) to attempt to leverage its current technology platform,
including its protein hydrogel technology and its SynerGraft technology, into medical specialties other than

_ cardiovascular and vascular surgery by selectively pursuing the potential acquisition, distribution or licensing of |
. additional technologies. As-a part of this strategy, in January 2007 the Company signed a three-year agreement to -
exclusively distribute CardioWrap, a bioresorbable thin film sheet used to replace the pericardium in cardiac

reconstruction and other cardiac surgeries where the patient may face re-operation within six months.

. o License Company technology to third parties for non-competing uses. The Company intends to increase the .
market penetration of its BioGlue by (i) pursuing through strategic alliances additional indications or product line
extensions for the BioGlue technology in either the U.S. or intemationally, and (ii) pursuing through strategic
alliances indications for derivatives of the BioGlue technology in either the U.S. or internationally. The Company
will consider licensing opportunities for other existing products or for products in its research and development
pipeline if the Company determines that licensing opportunities could enhance shareholder value, As part of this,
strategy, in October 2006 the Company signed a licensing and distribution agreement with BioForm for the
development and commercialization of BioGlue for use in cosmetic and plastic surgery indications. The Co
agreement calls for BioForm to fund the clinical development and regulatory approval process for commercializing

' .BioGlue for use in cosmetic and plastic surgery indications in the United States, Canada, and various countries in

Europe. : T R : . S “ .

o Analyze and identify underperforming assets for potential sale or disposal. The Company intends to analyze and
identify underperforming assets not complementary to the strategies identified above for potential sale or disposal.
As a part of this strategy, the Company entered into the RTI Agreement in which the Company ceased processing
orthopaedic tissues on January 1, 2007,in exchange for a non-compete agreement from RTI for cardiovascular and
vascular tissues and the potential to receive additional cardiovascular and vascular procurement, which was |
previously being received by RTIL. :




Products and Services - W T S R S
Imp!antablé Biomatéi-ialsfor Use as Surgical Adhesiiies and Sealants N
1 [ . [ -+, ' "{l' l;)' [ ST t .
The effective closure of internal wounds followmg surgical procedures is critical to the restoration of the function of
tissue and to the ultimate success of the surgical procedure. Failure to effectively seal surgical wounds can result in leakage-
of air in lung surgeries, cerebral spinal fluids in neurosurgeries; blood in cardiovascular surgerics, and gastrointestinal ¢
contents in abdominal surgeries. Air and fluid leaks resulting from surgical procedures can lead to significant post-operative
morbid1ty resultmg m prolonged hospltallzatlon hlgher levels of post operatlve pam and a hlgher mortahty rate. :
' . S : . LI e N v 1 Lo
Sutures and staples fatilitate héaling by joining wound edges and allowmg the body to heal naturally However, "~
because sutures and staples do not have inherent sealing capabilities, they ‘cannot consistently eliminate air'and fluid leakage
at the wound site. This is particularly the case when sutures and staples are used to close tissues containing air or fluids'- - -
under pressure, such as thelobes of the lung, the dural membrane surrounding the brain and spinal cord; blood vessels, and
the gastrointestinal tract. ‘In addition, in minimally invasive surgical procedures where the physician must operate through -,
small access devices, it can be difficult and time consuming for the physician to' apply sutures and staples.” The Company -
believes that the use of surgical adhesives and sealants with or without sutures and staples could enhance the efﬁcacy of
these procedures through more effective and rapid wound-closure, - Poown o e L

In order to address the inherent limitations of sutures and staples, the Company developed and commercialized-its
BioGlue product. BioGlue is a polymeric surgical adhesive based on bovine blood protein and a cross-linking agent.
BioGlue has a‘tensile strength that is four to five times that of fibrin sealants. -Worldwnde clinical- apphcatlons for BloGlue
include- card1ovascular vascu]ar pulmonary, and soft tissue repalr - : . o R

: . oL Jurer - . .

BioGlue is the first product to be developed from the Company s Protem Hydrogel Technology. PHT i1s based on a
bovine protein that mirrors an: array’'of amino acids that perform complex functions in the human body. Together with
glutaraldehyde, the protein forms a hydrogel, a water based biomaterialin some ways similar to-human tissue.t Materials and
implantable replacement devices created with PHT may have the potential to provide structure, form; and function similar to
certain human body tissue. The Company is conducting a clinical trial for BioDisc™'to determine its clinical utility as a
nucleus pulposus feplacement in spinal disc repalr The Company 18 conductmg prechmcal research with BioFoam® for use
in wound sealmg mtrauma surgery g ! : N

The Company estirnates that aggregate U.S. sales for surgical adheswes and gliues was approx1mately $250 million in
2006. CryoLife is authorized to distribute BioGlue throughout the U.S. and more than 60 other'countries for designated *
applications. In the U.S. BioGlue is FDA approved as an adjunct to sutures and staples for use in adult patients in open
surgical repair of large vessels. CryoLifé distributes BioGlue under CE Mark prodict certification in the EEA for soft tissue
repair procedures (Which include cardiovascular, pulmonary, and additional soft tissue répair procedures). CryoLife has also
received approval and distfibutes BioGlue for soft tissue repairs in Canada. Additional marketing approvals have been -
granted for specified applications ifi‘Australia, and'several other countries in Central and South America and Asia. In mid-
2004 the Company introduced the 2 ml and the 5 ml syringe delivery system, which provides BioGlue without-a separate-
delivery system. The 10 ml version of the syringe delivery system was approved by the FDA and CE Marked for
distribution in fate 2005 and approved by Canada in February 2006. Prior to the release of the syringe delivery system, :
BioGlue was only available for use with a two-part applicator system. ‘The syringe spreader tip, which allows for a wider -
application of BioGlue, was added to the BioGlue CE Mark approval in May 2005, received Canadian approval in
April 2005, and received FDA' approval in January 2006, The rigid applicator tip, designed to reach beyond 27 ¢m; received
Canadian and CE Mark approvals in November and December 2006, respectively. Revenues from BioGlue represented
49%, 55%, and 57% of total revenues, respectively, in 2006, 2005, and 2004.
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The Compatfiy’s propriétary preservatlon process involves the recovery of tissue from deceased human donors by tissue
bank and organ procurement organizations, the timely and controlled delivery of such tissue to the Company, the screening,
dissection, disinfection, and preservation of the tissue by the Company, the storage and'shipment of the cryopreserved tissue,
and the controlled thawmg of the tissue. Thereaﬁer the tissue is surglcally implanted into a human recipient. - -
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The transplant of human tissue that has not been preserved must be accomplished within extremely short time limits (for
example less than eight hours for transplants of the human heart). Prior to the advent of human tissue cryopreservation, these
time constraints resulted in the inability to use much of the tissue donated for transplantation. The application.of the
Company’s cryopreservation technologies to donated tissue expands the amount of human tissue available to physicians for
transplantation: - Cryopreservation also,expands the treatment options available to physicians and their patients by offering
alternatives to implantable mechanical, synthetic, and animal-derived devices.. The tissues presently cryopreserved by the -
Company include human:heart valves, non-valved -conduits, and vascular tissue. . V. oL - Coeey - .
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CryoLife maintains and collects clinical data on the use and effectiveness of 1mplanted human tissues that it has
preserved, and shares this data with implanting physxclans and the procurement orgamzanons from which it receives nssue
The Company also uses this data to help direct,its,continuing efforts to improve 1ts -preservation services.through ongoing
research and development. 1is clinical research staff and technical representatives assist physicians by providing educational
materials, seminars, and clinics on methods for handling and implanting the tissue cryopreserved by the Company and the
clinical advantages indications;.and applications,for those tissues. . The Company has ongoing efforts to train and educate . .
physicians on the indications-for and uses of the human tissues cryopreserved by the Company, as well as its programs
whereby surgeons train other surgeons in best-demonstrated techniques.  The Company also assists organ procurement
agencies andtissue banks through training and development of protocols and proyides materials to improve their tissue
recovery techniques and, thereby, increase the yield of usable tissue. ., . . P v

Human Cardiovascular Tissue., The human heart valves and conduits cryopreserved by the Company are used in.
reconstructive heart valve replacement surgery.- CryoLife shipped approximately 62,600 cryopreserved human heart valves
and conduits from 1984-through 2006, including approximately:2,200 shipments in 2006. Revenues from human heart valve
and conduit preservatlon services accounted for 20% of total revenues in 2006, 2005, and 2004, Based on CryoLife’s
records of documented implants, management believes that the acceptance of the Company’s cryopreserved allograft heart
valve is due in part to physicians’ recognition of the longevity and natural functionality of the Company’s cryopreserved
human tissues, the Company s documented clinical data, and the Company’s technical representation, which includes its
direct technical service representatives and customer.service department. Management believes the Company offers .
advantages in the area of clinical-data and technical service representatives as compared to other allograft processors and that
the Company’s allograft tissues offer advantages in certain areas over mechanical, porcine, and bovine heart valve
alternatives. The Company currently applies its preservation services to human aortic and putmonary heart valves for
implantation by cardiac surgeons. In addition the Company provides cryopreserved human non-valved conduit and patch
tissue to surgeons who wish to perform certain specialized cardiac repair procedures. Each of these cryopreserved human
heart valves, non-valved conduits, and patches maintains a tissue structure which more closely resembles and performs like
the patiem?s own tissue than non-human tissue alternatives. y T L. . C o Lt
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~In February 2000 the Company began distributing in the. U S cryopreserved human heart valves and condmts ut1l1z1ng
its SynerGraft deceliularization technology which may reduce.antigens. » As discussed in “—FDA Order on Human Tissue
Preservation and Other FDA Correspondence and Notices,” in early 2003 the Company suspended the use of SynerGraft
technology in the processing of allograft heart valves and vascular tissue untnl the regu]atory status of the CryoValve SG and
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The Company estlmates that the total'annual heart: valve and non—valved conduxt replacement market in the U S in 2006
was.in excess of $500 million, Management.believes that approximately 98,000 heart valve replacement gurgeries were
conducted in the U.S. in 2006. Of this total number of heart wvalve.and conduit surgeries, approximately.24,000 or 24%, ,
involved mechanical heart valves, and approx:mately‘74 000 or 76%, involved tissue heart valves, including porcine, bovine,

and cryopreserved human tissues. . - 1L S S , i, M ey
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Management believes cryopreserved human heart valves and non-valved conduits have characteristics that make them
the preferred replacement option for many patients, Specifically, human heart valves, such as those cryopreserved by the |
Company, allow for more normal blood flow and provide higher cardiac output than porcine, bovine, and mechanical heart
valves. Human heart valves are not as susceptible .to progressive calcification, or hardening, as are traditional |
glutaraldehyde-fixed porcine and bovine heart valves, and do not require anti-coagulation drug therapy, as do mechanical
valves. The synthetic sewing rings contained in mechanical and stented porcine and bovine valves may harbor bacteria.
leading to endocarditis. Furthermore, prosthetic,valve endocarditis.can be difficult to treat with antibiotics, and this usually
necessitates the Surglcal removal of these valves at considerable cost, morbidity, and risk of mortality. Consequently, for
many physicians, human heart valves are the preferred alternative to mechanical and stented porcine valves for patients who

have or are at risk to contract endocarditis.
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The following table sets forth the charactenstlcs of alternative heart valve implants that management belleves make
cryopreserved human heart valves the’ preferred teplacement for cenam patlent pnpulanons :
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e R Cryopreserved .t _ ' Porcine ' Bovine
. . vy Human Stented Stentless Mechanical Pericardial
Materials; human tissue glutaraldehyde-. glutaraldehyde- pyrolitic carbon bi- + glutaraldehyde- .
fixed pig tissue and  fixed pig tissue leaflet and fixed cow tissue
PR L . <r.. v+ . gynthetic sewing : synthetic sewing .  and synthetic
T e, ring . K ring sewing ring
Blood Flow . . '
Dynamics: normal moderate elevation nearly normal high elevation -’ moderate elevation
Mode of Failure: gradual - gradual expected to be catastrophic .- .gradual
P oL -+gradual . ‘
Longevity: 115-20 years 10-15 years expected to exceed  15-20 years 10:15 years
‘ . - - oy = stented porcine
AL P I i . valves
Increased Risk of
Bleeding or
Thromboembolic*.- ‘ ' o
Events (strokes or - N . : ‘
other clotting): * - - . no " 4. occasional _occasional yes occasional -
Anti-Coagulation Drug | o '
Therapy Required:- none " short-term short-term chronic . short-term
Resporisivenessto + -t ' . .0 o : ‘
Antibiotic Treatment of - 1"+ | . '
Endocarditis: =i “high . low moderate low low X

While the clinical benefits of cryopreserved human heart valves discussed above are relevant to all patients, they are
particularly important for (i) pediatric patients (newborn to 17 years) who are prone to calcification of porcine and bovine
tissue, (ii) young or otherwise activé patients who face an increased risk of severe blood loss or even death due to side effects
associated with the anti-coagulation drug therapy required with mechanical valves, and (iii) women in their childbearing-
years for whom anti-coagulation drug therapy is contraindicated.

Human Vascular Tissues. The Company cryopreserves human saphenous veins for use in vascular surgeries that require
small diameter conduits (3 mm'to 6 mm), such as coronary bypass surgery and peripheral vascular reconstructions. Failure
to bypass or revascularize an obstruction in such cases may result in death or the loss of a limb. The Company also
cryopreserves femoral .veins and arteries for use as vascular grafts. The Company shipped approximately 45,600 human
vascular tissues from 1986 through 2006, including approximately 2,800 shipments in 2006. Revenues from human vascular-
preservation services accoumed for 21%, 17%, and 16% of total revenues, respectively, in 2006, 2005, and 2004:

o

A surgeon’s ﬁrst choice for replacmg diseased or damaged vascular tissue is generally the patient’s own tissue.

However, in cases of advanced vascular discase, the patient’s tissue is often unusable, and the surgeon may consider using
synthetic grafts or transplanted human vascular tissue. Small diameter synthetic vascular grafts are generally not suitable for
below-the-knee surgeries because they have a tendency to occlude over time. Cryopreserved human vascular tissues tend to
remain open longer-and as such are used in indications where synthetics fail. -In addition, synthetic grafts are not suitable for
use in.infected areas since they.may harbor bacteria and make treatment with antibiotics difficult. Therefore, cryopreserved
human vascular tissues are also a preferred graft alternative for patients with previously infected graft sites. The Company’s
cryopreserved human vascular tissues are used for peripheral vascular reconstruction, coronary artery bypass surgeries, and
venous valve transplantation. - In cases of peripheral arteriosclerosis, a cryopreserved saphenous vein can be implanted as a
bypass graft for'the discased artery in order to improve blood flow and maintain a functional lower limb. The only
alternative for many of these patients is amputation. A subset of coronary artery bypass procedures are re-operations and are
candidates for preservcd vascular tissue when the patients’ own tissue is not avallable

(e , P '

- Human Orthopaedic Tassue The Company historically provrded preservation services for surgical replacements for the
meniscus'and the anterior and posterior cruciate ligaments, which are critical to the proper operation of the human knee. In
December 2006 CryoLife entered into an exchange and services agreement with RTI respecting procurement, processing, and
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distribution activities for cardiovascular and vascular tissue processed and distributed by RTI and orthopaedic tissue for the
knee processed and distributed by CryoLife. .According to the RTI Agreement, CryoLife ceased accepting for processing
donated human orthopaedic tissue on January 1, 2007 and will work to transition existing arrangements for recovery of
human orthopaedic tissue to RT1. CryoLife will continue to distribute its existing orthopaedic tissue inventory through June
30, 2008. After that date RTI will become entitled to distribute CryoLife's remaining orthopaedic tissue inventory, for a fee.
Under the RTI Agreement, from July 1, 2008 through December 31, 2016, except as set forth above, CryoLife has agreed
not to market or SOilClt orders for certain human orthopacdic tissues .

Cryolife shipped approximately 31,100 human connective tissues for the knee through the end of 2006, including
approximatety 1,800 shipments in 2006. Revenues from human orthopaedic preservation services accounted for 9%, 7%,
and 5% of total revenues, respectively, in 2006, 2005, and 2004, ‘

Human menisci prov1de orthopaedic surgeons with an altemative treatment in cases where a patient’s meniscus has been
completely removed (meniscectomy). When a patient has a damaged meniscus, the current surgical alternatives are to repair,
partially remove, or completely remove the patient’s meniscus, with partial removal being the most common procedure.
Meniscal removal increases the risk of premature knee degeneration and arthritis, and typically results in the need for knee
replacement surgery at some point during the patient’s life. Management belicves that there are no synthetic total menisci on
the market.

Tendons are primarily used for the reconstruction of the anterior and posterior cruciate ligaments in cases where the
patient’s ligaments are irreparably damaged. Surgeons have traditionally removed a portion of the patient’s patellar tendon
from the patient’s undamaged knee for use in repairing a damaged anterior cruciate tigament. Cryopreserved tendons
provide an alternative to this procedure. Because surgeries using preserved human tissue do not involve the removal of any
of the patient’s own patellar tendon, the patient recovery period is typically shorter. Additionally, in May 2005 the Company
began shipping tendons terminally sterilized with gamma irradiation, The Company obtained a non-exclusive license for this
technology from Clearant, Inc. for a period of time equal to the life of the last licensed patent related to this technology. This
technology is designed to inactivate pathogens including bacteria and fungi. In January 2007 CryoLife terminated this
license agreement as a result of the RTI Agreement discussed above.

' T ' ' T : .o .

Oédteoarticular allografts represent a biological alternative for the replacement-of injured or diseased portions of the.
articular surface of the knee. Osteoarticular allografts are used for pat:ents in whom cartilage defects are extensive and there
is not enough autograft tissue-available for harvesting. - : S -

Medical Devices
' . . . . . . ' . . . .
- CryoLife O'Brien Aortic Heart Valve. The Company developed and commercialized its bioprosthetic cardiovascular
and vascular devices based on its experience with cryopreserved human tissue implants. The CryoLife O’Brien aortic heart
valve is a stentless porcine valve with design features that include a matched composite leaflet design that approximates
human heart valve blood flow characteristics and that requires only a single suture line for surgical implantation. Stented
porcine, bovine, and mechanical heart valves are typically fitted with synthetic sewing rings that are rigid and can impede
normal blood flow. Unlike most other available porcine and bovine heart valves, the Company’s stentless porcine heart
valve has minimal synthetic materials, which decreases the risk of endocarditis, a debilitating and potentially deadly
infection. Management believes these features provide advantages over certain other stentiess porcine and bovine heart
valves.! Glutaraldehyde-fixed porcine and bovine heart valves are often preferred by surgeons for procedures involving
elderly patients because they eliminate the risk-of patient non-compliance with anti-coagulation drug therapy associated with
mechanical valves, they are less expensive than allograft valves, and their shorter longevity is more appropriately matched
with these patients’ life expectancies. Glutaraldehyde-fixed porcine and bovine heart'valves address an annual worldwide
target heart valve market, which the Company estimates to have been $1 billion in 2006.
‘ : b " ! .o

CryoLife began exclusive worldwide distribution of this valve in 1992 and acquired all rights to the underlying
technology in 1995. The Company’s CryoLife O’Brien aortic heart valve is marketed in the'EMEA region. Revenues from
the CryolLife O’Brien aortic heart valve represented 1% of total revenues in 2006, 2005, and 2004,

SynerGraft Model 100 Vascular Graft. In July 2001 the Company received CE Mark approval for its SynerGraft Model
100 vascuiar graft for dialysis access. The SynerGraft Model 100 vascular graft is produced from a bovine ureter in lengths
of 25,30, 35, and 50 cn. The SynerGraft Model 100 vascular graft can be stored at room-temperature. The Company’s
SynerGraft decellularization technology which may reduce antigens involves the removal of celis from the structure of
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animal tissue, leaving a collagen'matrix that has the potential to repopulate in the recipient with the recipient’s own cells,
Animal studies and explants from human recipients have documented that allograf'heart valves processed with the -
SynerGraft process have repopulated themselves in the recipient with the recipient’s own cells, This process is designed to
increase allograﬂ longevity, and more generally to lmprove the btocompanblllty and funcuonallty of such tissue.

» . 1 ) r

Card:a Wrap. On'January 17, 2007 the Company announced that it has signed a three -year agreement with MAST
Biosurgery, Inc. to'exclusively distribute CardioWrap, a bioresorbable'thin film sheet used to replace the pericardium in -
cardiac reconstruction and other cardiac surgeries in which the patient may face re-operation-within six months. CardioWrap
is made from polylactic acid, a polymer composed of lactic acid, similar to that which occurs naturally in.the human body.
CardioWrap maintains its strength during the healing process while slowly breaking down into lactic acid molecules. These
molecules are ltimately metabolized into' carbon dioxide and water and released from the'body through the lungs. Available
in several sizes and thicknesses, sheets of CardioWrap can'be cut or shaped with scissorstto the desired size, allowing -
CardloWrap to conform to most anatomical needs.

- | i L ol ' i '

ProPatch Soft Tissue Repair Matrix. On December 11, 2006 the Company announced that it has recelved 5 10(k)
clearance from the FDA for its ProPatch Soft Tissue Repair Matrix. ProPatch, developed from bovine pericardial tissue, is
used to reinforce weakened soft tissues and provides a resorbable scaffold that is replaced by the patient's own soft tissue.

SeePart 11, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis'of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—
Seasonallty” regardlng seasonalsty of the Company s products and human tissue preservation services.
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" See Note 19 to the Company’s consohdated financial statements’ regarding segment and’ geographlc mformatlon at Part
I, Item8 ofthxsFormlOK - " T L S T RO -
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In the U.S. the Company markets BioGlue to physicians and dlstnbutes it through its technical representatwe employees.
The Company markets and distributes BioGlue in international markets through direct technical representatives employed by
the Company’s wholly owned European subsidiary, CryoLife Europa Ltd. (“Europa”) and other independent representatives.
Through its technical representatives, the Company conducts field training for doctors with. respect to the appllcatlon of -
BioGlue. : Chl b

During 1998 the Company signed an exclusive agreement with Century Medical, Inc.. for the introduction and
distribution of BioGlue in Japan. Under the terms of the agreement, Century Medical.is responsible for applications and
clearances with the Japanese Ministry of Health-and Welfare. The-application has been subm:ttcd to the Japanese Mlmstry
of Health and -Welfare. The review process is ongoing. P N Ry "
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CryoLlfe markets its preservation services'to tissue procurement agenc:es 1mplantmg physicians, and prospectwe tissue
recipients. The Company works with tissue banks and organ procurement agencics'to ensure consistent and continued
availability of donated human tissue for transplant and educates physicians and prospectlve tissue recipients with respect to :
the benefits of cryopreserved human tissues. S e

Procurement of Tissue. Donated human tissue is procured from deceased human donors by organ' procurement agencies
and tissue banks. After procurement; the tissue is packed and shipped, together with certain information about the tissue and
its donor, to the Company in accordance with the Company’s protocols. - The tissue is transported to the Company’s -«
laboratory facilities via commercial airlines pursuant to arrangements with qualified courier services.” Timely receipt of
procured tissue is important, as tissue that is not received promptly cannot be cryopreserved successfully. The procurement
agency is reimbursed by the Company for the costs associated with these procurement services. The procurement fee and
related shipping costs, together with the charges for the preservation services of the Company, are ultimately paid to the
Company by the hospital with which the implanting physician is associated. -The Company has developed relationships wuh
approximately 80 tissue banks and organ procurement agencies throughout the U:S: Management believes these
relationships are critical in the preservation services industry and that the breadth-of these existing relationships provides the
Company with a significant advantage over potential new entrants to this market. The Company employs approximately 27
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individuals in donor services to work with organ procurement agencies and tissue banks. This includes five account,
managers who are stationed throughout the country to work directly with our ¢ustomers:. The Company’s central ofﬁce for
procurement relations is staffed 24 hours per day, 365 days per year. . . C

Preservation of Tissue. Upon receiving tissue, a Company technician completes the documentation contro! for the tissue
prepared by the procurement agency and gives it a control number: The documentation identifies, among other things, donor
age and causc of death. A trained technician then removes the portion or portions of the delivered tissue that will be
processed. These procedures are conducted under aseptic conditions in clean rooms. At the same time, samples are taken.
from the donated tissue and subjected to the Company’s quality assurance program,- This program, which includes review of
the donor and tissue charts by CryoLife’s tissue quality assurance department and its medical direciors, may identify
characteristics which would disqualify the tissue for preservation or implantation. Once the tissue is approved, it is moved
from quarantine to an implantable status. , Tissue that does not pass testing is appropriately discarded. L

- oL A ,
Cardiovascular, vascular, and orthopaedic tissues are cryopreserved in a proprietary freezing process conducted
according to Company protocols. After the preservation process, the tissues are transferred to liquid nitrogen- freezers for
long-terin storage at temperatures at or below -135°C. The entire preservation process s conirolled by guidelines established
by the Company. -

Distribution of Tissue to Implanting Physicians. After the tissue has cleared quality control assurance and the tissue is
moved to an implantable status, the tissue is stored by the Company or is delivered directly to hospitals at the implanting
physician’s request. Cryopreserved tissue must be transported under stringent handling conditions and maintained within
specific temperature tolerances at all times. Cryopreserved tissue is packaged for shipment using the Company’s proprietary
processes. At the hospital the tissue is held in a liquid nitrogen freezer according to Company protocols pending
implantation. The Company provides a detailed protocot for thawing the cryopreserved tissue. The Company also makes its
technical personnel available by phone or in person to answer questions. After the Company transports the tissue to the ‘
hospital, the Company invoices the institution for its services, the procurement fee, and transportation costs.

The Company provides Company-owned liguid nitrogen freezers to certain client hospitals. The Company has currently
installed approximately 300-of these freezers. , Participating hospitals generally pay the cost-of liquid nitrogen and regular
maintenance. The avatlability of on-site freezers makes it easier for a hospital’s physicians to utilize the Company’s |
preservation services by making the cryopreserved tissue more readily available. Because fees for the Company’s
preservation services become due upon the shipment of tissue to the hospital, the use of such on-site freezers also reduces the
Company’s working capital needs.

Marketing, Educational, and Technical Supporr. The Company has records of over 987 cardiovascular and vascular
surgeons and over 352 orthopaedic surgeons who have implanted tissues cryopreserved by the Company during the past
twelve months, The Company works to maintain relationships with and market to surgeons within these medical specialties.
Because the Company markets its preservation services directly to physicians, an important aspect of increasing the: -,
distribution of the Company’s preservation services is educating physicians on the use of cryopreserved human tissue and on
proper implantation techniques. Trained field support personnel provide support to implanting institutions and surgeons.
The Company currently employs approximately 34 persons as technical service representatives and four region managers
who deal primarily with cardiovascular and vascular surgeons and provide field support. These representatives receive a
base salary with a performance bonus. .The Company currently has approximately 180 independent technical service
representatives and sub-representatives who are employed by distributor groups who deal primarity with orthopaedic.
surgeons and who are paid on a commission basis. S . e .

The Company sponsors physician training seminars where physicians teach other physicians the proper technique for
handling and implanting cryopreserved human tissue. The Company also produces educational videotapes for physicians
and coordinates live surgery demonstrations at various medical institutions. In addition the Company coordinates laboratory
sessions that utilize animal tissue to demonstrate surgical techniques. Management believes that these activities improve the
medical community’s acceptance of the cryopreservcd human tissue processed by the Company and help to differentiate the
Company from other allograft processors. o . ‘ -

To assist procurement agencies and tissue banks, the Company provides educational materials and training on .
procurement, dissection, packaging, and shipping techniques. The Company also produces. educational videotapes and, -
coordinates laboratory sessions on procurement techniques for procurement agency personnel. To supplementits - ¢
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educational activities, the Company-emiploys in-house technical specialists that' provide technical information and-assistance,
and maintains a staff 24 hours per day, 365 days per year for customer support! =~ -t ¢ - Co :
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The Company markets and distributes the CryoLife O’Brien stentless aorti¢ heart valve and the SynerGraft Model 100
Vascular Graft'in the'EMEA région. ‘Marketing efforts for the CryoLife O’Btien aortic heart valve are primarily directed -
toward cardiac surgeons. Marketing efforts for the SynerGraft Model100 are primarily dirécted toward vascular surgeons. -

European Operations =~ ' 1~ I T PR o T T L
(U P M BT : T
The Company markets its products in the EMEA regions through its European subsidiary, Cryol:ife Europa Ltd, based
in Guildford; United Kingdom! Europa, with its team of approximately eleven employees, provides ciistomier service,’
logistics, marketing, and clinical support to cardiovascular, vascular, thoracic; and general surgeons throughout the EMEA-
regions. Europa markets and distributes the Company’s complete range of products through its direct sales representatives in

England arid ' Wales and a network of independent agents and'distributors in the EMEA regions. * - R
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Backlog

* The limited supply of tissue that is donated and available for'processing typically: results in a backlog of orders in the
Company’s himan tissue'business.. The amount of backlog fluctuates based o the tissues available'for shipment and varies
based on the surgical needs of specific casés.” The'Company’s backlog is generally not considered firm and must be -
confirmed with the customer before shipment. The Company currently does not have a backlog of orders related-to BioGlue,
CryoLife O’Brien heart valves, or SynerGraft bovine vascular grafts.
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The Company uses its expertisé in biochemistty and cell biology, and its understanding of the needs of the RS
cardiovascular; and vascular, surgery medical specialties, t6 expand its-sufgical adhesive and preservation businesses in the. *
U.S. and to develop or acquire implantable products'and technologies for these specialtics. The Company seeks to identify .
market areas that cari-benefit from preserved living tissues-and other related téchnologies, to develop innovative techniques
and product's within theseareas, to'sccure their commercial protection, to establish their efficacy, and then to market these
techniques and products. The Company emiploys'approximately 18 peoplé in its'research and development department,” -
including seven PhDs with specialties in the fields of molecular biology, protein chemistry, vascular physiology, and:
biochemistry. S '

In order to expand the Company’s service and product offerings, the Company is currently-in-the process.of developing
or investigating several technologies and products, including technologies related to human tissue preservation to further
enhance its safety; its Protéin Hydrogel Techinology used in BioGlue and other-BioGlue derivatives; additional applications
of its SynerGraft tqé}}h'ology, and its Activation Gontrol Techaology (“ACT); «- v ° . oo orab
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BioFoam, a derivative of the PHT; is in preclinical dévelopment: BioFoam contains an expansion agent, which has the -
potential to'rapidly fill-and seal internal body cavities, Stich as aneurysm-sacs, and may provide hemostatsis'in penetrating "
wounds and severe trauma. 'The 20052006, and-2007 U:S. Congress Defense Appropriations Conference Reports included :
$926,000, $2.3 million,’anid $1.0 million, respectively, for thie continued development of protein hydrogel technology for use
on the battleficld.’ The Company applied for and was awarded the full $926,000 under the 2005 bill. The Company applied -
for funding for BioFoam'development under the 2006 bill in July 2006 but has'not yet been'notified of an award decision. -
The Company anticipates applying for funding under the 2007 bill during 2007." CryoLife is curréntly involved in initial -,
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animal trials related to this grant. -~ S A

BioDisc, a derivative of the PHT, is undergoing clinical evaluation to determine its clinical utility as a nucleus 't 0y
pulposus replacement in spinal disc repair. The nucleus pulposus is surrounded by fibrous tissue (annulus fibrosis) and is
located in the center of the vertebral disc. "The nucleus pulposis is Composed of a gelatinous-like material that in conjuriction
with the annulus fibrosis acts as a cushion or shock absérber to the spinal column. If the‘nucléus'pulposus herniates through-
the annulils, it may be removedtin a procedure known'as-a discectomy. BioDisc is designed to fill the area where the nucleus
pulposus was removed, arid 15 intended to preservé-disc’height] reduce lumbar motion segment instability, and reduce’ t
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recurrent disc herniation: The ten patient study enrollment has been completed and patient follow-up will continue through -
2007. An interim analysis of data will be used for CE Mark submission anticipated in 2007. )

In October 2006 the Company announced that it has signed a licensing and distribution agreement with BioForm for the
development and commercialization of BioGlue for use in cosmetic and plastic surgery indications. The agreement calls for
BioForm to fund the clinical development and regulatory approval process.for commercializing BioGlue for use in cosmetic
and plastic surgery indications in the United States, Canada, and various countries in Europe. In addition, BioForm wifl .
oversee all aspects of the marketing, sales and distribution of BioGlue in the United States, Canada, and various countries in
Europe for these indications. CryoLife will remain the exclusive supplier of BioGlue for all applications. Under the terms of
the agreement, CryoLife received an initial fee from BioForm, and will receive a milestone payment upon the first FDA
approval for use in cosmetic and plastic surgery indications.

In February 2001 the Compfmy formed AuraZyme Pharmaceuticals, Inc, (“AuraZyme”) to foster the commercial , . |
development of its ACT, The ACT is a reversible linker technology that might have possible uses in the areas of fibrinolysis
(blood clot dissolving), and other drug delivery applications. Since 1998 management has been seeking to advance the
development of drug delivery therapies utilizing the ACT through grants, research and development partnerships, joint
ventures, and equity investments thereby allowing the Company to focus its resources on the commercial development of its
BioGlue, SynerGraft technology, and other products under development.

To the extent the Company-identifies additional applications for its products, the Company may attempt to license these
products to corporate partners for further development of such applications or seek funding from outside sources to continue
the commercial development of such technologies. The Company may also attempt to license technologies from third parties
1o supplement its product lines. = | , L . )
The Company’s research and development strategy is to allocate available resources among the Company’s core market
~ areas of preservation services and implantable medical devices, based on the size of the potential market for any specific
product candidate and the estimated development time and cost required to bring the product to market. Research on these
and other projects is conducted in the Company’s research and development laboratory or at universities or clinics where the
Company sponsors research projects. In 2006, 20035, and 2004 the Cornpany spent approximately $3.:5 million, $3.7 million,
and $3.9 million respectively, on research and development activities on new and existing products. These amounts
represented approximately 4%, 5%, and 6% of the Company’s revenues for the years 2006, 20035, and 2004, respectively. ..
The Company’s medical and scientific advisory board consults on various research and development programs. The
Company’s pre-clinical studies are conducted at universities and other locations outside the Company’s facilities by third
parties under contract with the Company. In addition to these efforts the Company may pursue other research and
development activities.

Manufacturing and Operatlons \ P c . N

The Company $ corporate headquarters and laboratory facﬂmes consist of approxlmately 200,000 square feet of leased
manufacturing, administrative, laboratory, and warehouse-space located on a 21.5-acre setting in suburban Atlanta, Georgia ..
with an additional 7,600 square feet of offsite warehouse space, Approximately 20,000 square feet are dedicated to thirty-
one class 10,000 clean rooms. An additional 5,500 square feet are dedicated as class 100,000 clean rooms. The extensive
clean room environment provides a controlled environment for tissue.dissection and processing, manufacturing, and -
packaging, Approximately 55 liquid nitrogen storage units maintain cryopreserved tissue at or below — 135°C. Two back-
up emergency generators assure continuity of Company manufacturing operations. - Additionally, the Company’s corporate
complex includes the Ronald €. Elkins Learning Center, a 3,600 square foot auditorium that holds 225 participants, and a -
1,500 square foot training lab, both equipped with closed-circuit and satellite television broadcast capability allowing live
surgery broadcasts from and to anywhere in the world. The Elkins Learning Center provides visiting surgeons with a hands-
on training environment for surgical and implantation techniques for the Company’s technology platforms.

Human Tissue Processing .

The human tissue processing laboratory is responsible for the orocessing and preservation of human cardiovascular and
vascular tissue for transplant. The laboratory processed human orthopaedic tissues for transplant until December 31, 2006.
On January 1, 2007 the laboratory ceased processing human orthopaedic tissues pursuant to the RTI Agreement. This
laboratory .contains approximately 15,600 square feet with a suite of nine clean rooms. Currently there are approximately 70
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technicians employed in this area, and the laboratory is staffed for 24 hours per day, 365 days per year. In 2006 the
laboratory packaged approximately 14,400 human allografts. ‘The current processing level is estimated to be at about 20% of
total capacity The volume of tissue processed is currently constrained by the availability of tissue. To increase the current
processing levels, the Company could increase the number of employees, expand its second and third shift and add
equipment. :

BioGlue g : : . e b

s " '

BioGlue is presently manufactured at the Company’s headquarters facrlity ‘The laboratory contains dpproximately
13,500 square feet, including a suite of six clean rooms. Currently, there are 16 technicians employed in this area. The
laboratory has a’potential annual capacity of approximately 2 million cartridges or syringes of BioGlue. The current’
processing level is about 5% of total capacity. To produce at full capacity levels, the Company would need to increase the
number of employees, add work shifis, and install automated filling and pouching equipment. : v

Bioprosthetic Cardiovascular and Vascular Devices ~ +* ' e Co

coa . D . K ", e,y ‘ . Lo

The biOprosthesrs laboratory at the Company’s headquaners facrllty is responsiblé for the manufacturmg of the CryoLlfe
O’Brien stentless aortic heart valve, the SynerGraft Model 100 Vascular Graft. This laboratory is approximately 20,000
square feet wrth a suite of six clean rooms for tissue processmg Currently, this laboratory employs seven technicians. = .

C i . ¥ oo . i

Europa
, I \ . LT . N N . R .

The Company maintains a leased faeility located in Guildford; United Kingdom for its European sub51d1ary Europa that
contains approximately 3,400 square feet of office and ‘warehousing space.~ i o
QualltyAssurance ' te " SRR e oo o

"The Company § operations encompass the manufacturing of bioadhesives and bioprosthetics and human tissue
preservation services. In all of its facilities the Company is subject to regulatory standards for good manufacturing practices,
including current Quality System Regulations, which are the FDA regulatory- requrrements for médical device manufacturers.
The FDA periodically inspects Company facilities to review Company compliance with these and other regulations. The
Company also operates according to ISO 13485 Quality System Requirements, an internationally recognized voluntary
system of quality management for companies that design, develop, manufacture, distribute, and service medical devices. The
Company maintains a Certification of Approval to the ISO 13485. Lloyd’s Register Quality Assurance Limited (“LRQA”)
issues this approval. LRQA is a Notified Body officially recognized by the EEA to perform assessments of compliance with
ISO 13485 and its derivative standards. LRQA performs penodtc on-site mspections generally at least annually, of the
Company s 'quality systems ¢ ' ‘ a .

“The Company’s quality assurance staff is comprised primanly of experienced professwnals from the medidal device
mantifacturing industry. The quality assurance department, in conjunction with the Company 8 research and development
department routmely evaluates the Company s processes and procedures :

* e

¥
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Bicadhesive and Bioprosthetic Manufacturing

The Company employs a comprehensive quality assurance program in all of its manufacturing activities. The Company -
is sub}ect to Quality System Regulatlons addltional FDA regulations, and ISO 13485 requirements

[ - l , . .

All materials and components utilized in the production of the Company s products are recewed and inspected by ~
trained quality control personnel, according to written specifications and standard operating procedures. Only materials and
components found to comply w1th Company standards are accepted by quality control and utilized in production -

All materials, components, and resultmg sub-assemblies are documented throughout the manufacturmg process to assure
traceability. Each process is'documentéd along with all inspection results, including final finished product inspection and .
acceptance: All processes'in manufacturing are validated by quality engineers to produce products meeting the Company’s -
speciﬁcations ".The Company maintains a quality assurance program to evaluate and inspect manufactuted-products to
ensure conformity to product specifications. Records are maintained as to the consignees of products to track product
performance and to facilitate product- removals or corrections, if necessary. : :
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ror .
Each manufacturing facility is sub_lect to perlochc inspection by the FDA and LRQA to mdependently review the :,
Company’s compliance with its systems and regulatory requirements. - b

be {

1. . ' ‘ ."" ¢ 1 b . . LA - . [ '

Preservation Services ’ .

The Company also employs a comprehensive quality assurance program in all of its tissue processing activities, The
Company is subject to Donor Eligibility and Good Tissue Practice regulations, as well as other FDA Quality System
Regulations, and ISO 13485 requirements. The Company’s quality assurance program begins with the development and
implementation of training policies and procedures for the employees of procurement agencies. To assure uniformity of
procurement practices among the tissue recovery teams, the Company provides procurement protocols, transport packages, ,
and tissue-transport liquids to the procurement organizations:* The Company also penodlcally audits procurement
organizations to ensure and enhance best recovery practices. © -~ C o : Lo,

Upon receipt by the Company, each tissue is assigned a unique control number that provides traceability of tissue from ,
procurement through the processing and preservation processes, and ultimately to the tissue recipient. Samples from each
tissue donor are subjected to a variety of tests to screen and test for infectious diseases. Samples of some tissues are also
provided for pathology testing. Following dissection of-the tissue to be cryopreserved, dissected tissue is treated witha .
proprietary antimicrobial solution and aseptically packaged., After antimicrobial treatiment, each tissue must.be shown to be
free of detectable microbial contaminants by two independent tests before being considered releasable for distribution.

The materials and solutions used by the Company in processing tissue must meet the Company’s quality standards and
be approved by, quality assurance personnel for use in processing. Throughout tissue processing, detailed records of the
tissues, materials, and processes are maintained and reviewed by quality assurance personnel. . S

The States of Georgia, New York, Florida, Maryland, and California annually license the Company’s tissue processing -
facilities as facilities that process, store, and distribute human tissue for implantation. The regulatory bodies of these states
perform inspections of the facilities as required to ensure compliance with state law and regulations. Human tissue processed
by the Company must also comply with FDA regulations for determining donor eligibility and for processing human cell.and
tissue products for implantation under current Good Tissue Practices (“¢GTPs”). The FDA periodically audits the |
Company’s processing facilities for compliance with those requirements. See “—FDA Order on Human Tissue-Preservation
and Other FDA Correspondence and Notices—Other FDA Correspondence and Notices™ above for a discussion of recent .
inspections. . . . R C o \ ) . ' .- 1

Patents, Licenses, and Other Propriets;ry Rights = - . l, - . . S 1

The Company relies on a combination of patents, trademarks, confidentiality agreements and security procedures to .
protect its proprietary products, processing technology, trade secrets, and know-how. The Company believes that its patents,
trade secrets, trademarks, and technology licensing rights provide it.with important competitive advantages. - The Company
owns or has licensed rights to 37 U.S. patents and 69 foreign patents, including patents relating to its technology for human |
cardiovascular and vascular tissue preservation, tissue revitalization prior to freezing, tissue transport, BioGlue, ACT, and
packaging. The Company has approximately 12 pending U.S. patent applications and 73 pending foreign applications that
relate to areas including the Company’s cryopreservation, Protein Hydrogel Technologies, and other areas. There can be no
assurance that any patents pending will result in 1ssued patents. The remaining duration of the Company’s issued patents
ranges from 1 to 17 years, ' o : , o o e

o ‘ ‘ ' T i . AR =

There can be no assurance that the claims allowed in any of the Company’s existing or future patents will p‘rovide

competitive advantages for the Company's products, processes, and technologies or will not be successfully challenged or
circumvented by competitors. To the extent that any of the Company’s products or services are not effectively patent -
protected, the Company’s business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially adversely affected. -,
Under current law, patent applications in the U.S. and patent applications in foreign countries are maintained in secrecy for a
peried after filing. The'right to a patent.in the U.S. is attributable to the first.to invent, not the first to file a patent
application. The Company cannot be sure that its products or technplogies do not infringe patents that may be granted in the
future pursuant to pending patent applications or,that its products do not infringe any patents or proprietary rights of third
parties. The Company may incur substantial legal fees in defending against a;patent-infringement claim or in asserting
claims against third.parties. \In the event that any relevant claims of third:party patents are upheld as valid and enforceable,
the Company could be prevented from marketing certain of its products or could be required to obtain licenses from the
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owners of such patents or be required to redesign its products or services to avoid infringement. There can be no assurance
that such licenses would be available or| if available, would be on terms acceptable to the Company or that the Company
would be successful in any attempt to redesign its products or services to avoid infringement. The Company’s failure to
obtain these licenses or to redesign its products or services could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business,
financial condition, and results of operations. The Company has licensed from third parties certain technologies related to its
SynerGraft and ACT technologies that call for the payment of royalties based on revenues, when and if such products or
services are approved for marketing. The loss of these licenses could adversely affect the Company ] ablllty 1o succcssfully
develop certain technologies. - . - S

The-Company has entered into conﬁdentlallty agreemems with its. emp!oyecs and several of its consultants and thlrd-
party vendors to maintain the confidentiality of trade secrets and proprietary information. ;There can be no assurance that the
obligations of employees of the Company and third parties with whom the Company has entered into confidentiality
agreements will effectively prevent disclosure of the Company’s confidential information or provide meaningful protection
for the Company’s confidential information if there is unauthorized use or disclosure, or that the Company’s trade secrets or
proprietary information will not be independently developed by the Company’s competitors. Litigation may be necessary to
defend against claims of infringement, to enforce patents and trademarks of the Company, or to protect trade secrets and
could result in substantial cost to, and diversion of effort by, the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company
would prevail in any such litigation. In addition the laws of some foreign countries do not protect the Company’s proprietary
rights 1o the same extent, as do the laws of the U.S. . - : “

v
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Competition L C ,

Impiamable Bromedrcai Dewces Jor Use as Surgrcal Adheszves and Sealants

The Company competes with many domestlc and foreign medical devwe and pharmaceutlcal compames In the surgical
adhesive and surgical sealant area, the Company competes primarily with Baxter Healthcare’s Tisseel, FloSeal, and CoSeal,
Ethicon’s Evicel and Surgifoam, and Tyco Healthcare’s U.S. Surgical Division’s Duraseal products. Additionally, Johnson
& Johnson is under FDA review for a surgical adhesive for approval in vascular sealing. The Company currently competes
with these products based on the products’ features, such as strength and ease of use. Competitive products may also be
under development by other large medical device, pharmaceutical, and biopharmaceutical companies. Many of the
Company’s current and potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technological, research and development,
regulatory.and clinical; manufacturing, marketing and sales, and personnel resources than the Company.

These competitors may also have greater experience in developing products, conducting clinical trials, obtaining
regulatory approvals, and manufacturing and marketing such products. Certain of these competitors may obtain patent . .
protection, approval or clearance by the FDA or foreign countries, or product commercialization earlier than the Company,
any of which could materially adversely affect the Company. Furthermore, if the Company commences significant
commercial sales of its products, it w1ll also be competmg with respect to manufacturing efficiency and marketing
capabilities. :

) ' - N . . i L .

Other recently developed technologies or procedures are, or may in the future be, the basis of competitive products.
There can be no assurance that the Company’s current competitors or other parties will not succeed in developing alternative
technologies and products that are more effective, easier to use, or more economical than those which have been or are being.
developed by the Company or that would render the Company's technology and products obsolete and non-competitive in
these fields. In such event, the Company’s business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially
adversely affected. See Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors—Risks Relating To Qur Business-—Rapid Technologlcal Change
Could Cause Our Serv:ces And-Products To Become Obsolete.” - . . ,

. . .

Cryopreserved Human Tissues and Bioprosthetic Cardiovascular Devices - .

The Company currently faces competition from at least three non-profit tissue banks that cryopreserve and distribute
human cardiac and vascular tissue, as well as from several companies that market mechanical, porcine, and bovine heart -
valves, and synthetic vascular grafts for implantation. Many established companies, some with resources greater than those
of the Company, are engaged in manufacturing, marketing, and selling alternatives to cryopreserved human tissue.
Management believes that it competes with other entities that cryopreserve human tissue on the basis of technology,
customer service, and quality assurance. Following the FDA Order in 2002, the Company experienced a decrease in the
procurement and processing of human tissue, a decrease in cardiovascular, vascular, and orthopaedic tissue shipments, and
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the lack of orthopaedic tissue shipments for a period of time. The Company’s competitors have been favorably impacted and
the Company believes it has lost some market share following the FDA Order in 2002. The interruption in the Company's

services, and the changes made to the Company’s preservation services, which have had the effect of substantiaily increasing
tissue processing and release timnes and reducing the yield of implantable tissue per donor, have had an adverse impact on our
profitability. . s

: Management believes that the human heart valves cryopreserved by the Company, as compared to mechanical, porcine,
and bovine heart valves, compete on the factors set forth above, as well as by providing a tissue that is the preferred
replacement alternative with respect to certain medical conditions, such as pediatric cardiac reconstruction, valve
replacements for women in their child-bearing years, and valve replacements for patients with endocarditis. Generally, for
each procedure that may utilize vascular human tissue that the Company cryopreserves, there are alternative treatments.
Often, in the case of veins, these alternatives include the repair, partial removal, or complete removat of the damaged tissue
and may utilize other tissues from the patients themselves or synthetic products.. The attending physician, in consultation
with the patient, makes the selection of treatment choices. Any newly developed treatments wnll also compete with the use
of tissue cryopreserved by the Company ) v SR .

P s . ' . .

Human and Stentless Porcine Heart Valves. Alternatives to human heart valves cryopreserved by the Company include
mechanical valves, porcine valves, and valves constructed from bovine pericardium. St. Jude Medical, Inc. is the leading -
supplier of mechanical heart valves, and has a marketing and distribution arrangement with a non-profit tissue bank for
supplies of cryopreserved human heart valves. Medtronic, Inc. is the leading supplier of porcine heart valves. Edwards Life
Sciences, Inc. is the leading supplier of bovine pericardial heart valves. In addition management believes that at least three
domestic tissue banks offer preservation services for human heart valves in competition with the Company. The Company
presently distributes its stentless porcine heart valve only outside the U.S. This stentless porcine heart valve competes with
mechanical valves, stented and stentless porcine valves, human heart valves, and processed bovine pericardial heart valves.
The Company is aware of at'least five other companies that offer porcine and bovine pericardial heart valves.

. . . c . . s . .

Human Vascular Tissue. There are a mimber of providers of synthetic alternatives to veins cryopreserved by the
Company and those alternatives are available primarily in medium and large diameters. Currently, management believes that
there are at least two other non-profit tissue banks that cryopreserve and distribute human vascular tissue-in competition-with
the Company. Companies offering either synthetic or allograft products may enter this market in the future,

Human Orthopaedic Tissue. In December 2006 CryoLife entered into the RT] Agreement, discussed above, respecting
procurement, processing, and distribution activities for cardiovascular and vascular tissue processed and distributed by RTI
and orthopaedic tissue for the knee processed and distributed by CryoLife. According to the RTI Agreement, CryoLife
ceased accepting for processing donated human orthopaedic tissue on January 1, 2007 and will work to transition existing
arrangements for recovery of human orthopaedic tissue to RTL. -Likewise on January 1, 2007, RTI ceased accepting donated
human cardiovascular and vascular tissues for processing.and will work to transition its arrangements for recovery of these.
tissues to CryoLife. Certain physical assets relating to the tissues that are the subject of the agreement will also be
transferred between the parties. No cash was exchanged in the transaction. CryoLife will continue to distribute its existing
orthopaedic tissue inventory, and RTI will continue to distribute its existing cardiovascular and vascular tissue inventory,
through June 30, 2008 After that date, CryoLife will become entitled to distribute RTT's remaining cardiovascular and
vascular tissue inventory, and RTI will become entitled to distribute CryoLife's remaining orthopaedic tissue inventory, for a
fee: Under the RTI Agreement, from July 1, 2008 through December 31, 2016, except as set forth above, CryoLife has
agreed not to'market or solicit orders for certain human orthopaedlc tissues and RTI has agreed not to market or solicit orders
for human cardiac and vascular tissues, ‘

The Company’s historic competition in the area of orthopaedic tissue has varied according to the tissue involved. When
transplantation is indicated, the historic principal competition for tendons and meniscus cryopreserved by the Company has
been either freeze-dried or twice frozen human connective tissues, More than ten tissue banks process these alternative

altografts.

Government Regulation PR e
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U.S. Federal Regulcmon of Medical Devices i ' ) v

Because B:oGlue and certain human heart.valves are, and other Company products may in the future be, regulated as
medical devices, the Company and these products are subject to the provisions of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act
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(“FDCA”) and.implementing regulations of the U.S! Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”). Pursuant to the FDCA, the
FDA regulates the manufacture, distribution, labeling; and promotion of medical devices in the U.S. Also various foreign
countries in which the Company’s products are, or may be, distributed impose additional regulatory requircments.
. . Lot ) . . . R LI o .-
The FDCA provides that, unless exempted by regulation, medical devices may not be distributed in the-U.S. unless they
have been approved or cleared for marketing by the FDA. There are two review procedures by which medical devices can
receive such approval or clearance. Some products may qualify for clearance to be marketed under a Section 5 10(k)
(“510(k)”) procedure, in which the manufacturer provides a premarket notification that it intends to begin marketing the
product, and shows that the product is substantially equivalent to another legally marketed 510(k} product (i.e., that it has the
same intended use, it is as safe and effective-as a legally marketed 510(k} device, and it does not raise different questions of
safety and effectiveness than does a legally marketed device). In some cases, the submission must include data from clinical
studies Marketing may commence when the FDA issues a clearance letter finding such substantial equivalence.
et . A o !
lf the product does not qualify for the 510¢k) procedure (either because 1t is not substantlally equlvalent to a legally
marketed 510(k) device or because it is a Class III device required by the FDCA and implementing regulations to have an -
approved application for.premarket approval (“PMA™)), the FDA must approve a PMA application before marketing can
begin. PMA applications must demonstrate, among other matters, that the medical device is safe and effective.-A PMA -
application is typically a complex submission, usually including the results of human clinical studies, and preparing an
application is a detailed and time-consuming process. Once a PMA application has been submitted, the FDA’s review may
be lengthy and.may include requests for additional data: . AR - S N - '
R o ' v ! o L '
The F DCA also provides-for an mvestlgatlonal device exemption (“IDE”) which authonzes dlstnbutlon for clinical -
evaluation of devices that lack a PMA or 510(k) clearance. Devices subject to an IDE are subject to various restrictions
imposed by the FDA. The number of patients that may be treated with the device is limited, as is the number of institutions
at which the device may be used. Patients must give informed consent to be treated with an investigational device, and
review by an Institutional Review Board is needed. The device must be labeled that it is for investigational use and may not
be advertised or otherwise promoted, and the price charged for the device may be limited. Unexpected adverse experiences
st be reported to the FDA: | : - :
N , v e Lo . ) e - - .. . o . 3 .
Under certain circumstances, the FDA may grant a Humanitarian Device Exemption (“HDE”). The FDA grants HDE’s
in an attempt to encourage the development of medical devices for use in the treatment of rare conditions that affect small
patient populations. An approval by the FDA exempts such devices from full compliance with clinical study requtrements
for PMA ' '~ o+ 5. : oL ' P, . e e
The FDCA requires:all medical device manufacturers and distributors to register with the FDA annually and to provide
the FDA with a list of those medical devices that they distribute commercially. The FDCA also requires manufacturers of
medical devices to comply with labeling requirements and to manufacture devices in accordance with Quality System .
Regulations, which require that companies manufacture their products and maintain their documents in a prescribed manner ¢
with respect-to-good manufacturing practices, design, document production, process, labeling and packaging controls,
process validation, and other quality control activities. The FDA’s medical device reporting regulation requires that a device
manufacturer provide information to the FDA ‘on death or serious injuries alleged to have been associated with the use of its
products, as well as product malfunctions that would likely cause or contribute to death or serious injury if the malfunction
.were to recur. The FDA further requires that certain medlcal devnces that may not be sold.in the US. follow.certain : ..
procedures before they are exported T Co ' . Lo -
The FDA inspects med1cal device manufacturers and d1str1butors and has authority to.seize noncomplymg medical
devices, to enjoin and/or to impose civil penalties on manufacturers and distributors marketing non- complylng medlcal
devices, to cnmmally prosecute violators, and. to order recalls in certarn instances.. . .. . - ‘

Human Heart Valves. The Company 8 human'heart valves became subject to regulation by the FDA in June 1991 when’
the FDA published a notice stating that human heart-valves were Class Il medical devices under the FDCA. The June 1991
notice provided that distribution of human heart valves for transplantation would violate the FDCA unless they were the
subject of an approved PMA or IDE on or before August 26, 1991.

N v ¥ r- ' P
- On October 14, 1994 the FDA announced in the Federal Regrster that neither an approved application for PMA nor an.
IDE is required for processors and distributors who had marketed heart valve allografts before June-26, 1991. - This action by

T - . . .
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the FDA resulted in the allograft heart valves being classified as Class II Medical Devices and has removed them from
clinical trial status. It also allowed the Company to d1strlbute such valves to cardlovascular surgeons throughout the U.S.

— ' . 1

On May 25, 2005, wrth the promulgatlon of the ﬁnal rule for cGTPs the FDA reclassrﬁed human heart valves
processed on or after May 25, 2005 as human tissue subject to-that rule. R S : ..

As discussed in “—FDA Order on Human»‘Tissue Preservation and Other FDA Correspondence and Notices™, the
Company has filed a 510(k) premarket notification with the FDA for the CryoValve SG and has received three letters from
the FDA requesting that additional information be provided.to support the 510(k) submission. CryoLife has responded to.
some of the requests, anticipates respondmg to some of the additional requests and has initiated an appeal of others through
administrative procedures o Ao . - S ol .

Forcine Heart Valves. Porcine heart valves are Class I1I medical devices, and FDA approval of a PMA is required prior
to commercial distribution of such valves in the U.S. The porcine heart valves currently marketed by the Company have not
been approved by the'FDA for commercial distribution in the U.S. but may be manufactured in the U.S. and exported to
foreign countries if the valves meet the spécifications of the foreign'purchaser, and do not COHfllCt with the laws.of and are
approved by the country to-which they will be exported L o : RN

. r te t . . w s 0 l

! BmGlue The FDA regulates B1oGlue as a Class 111 medreal device. 1n December 2001 the Company received FDA
approval for BioGlue as an adjunct to sutures and staples for use in adult patients ifi.open surgical repair of large vessels.
Prior to this approval, the Company received an HDE in December 1999 for BioGlue for use as an adjunct in repair of acute
thoracic aortic dissections. . The product is Health Canada, Australia, and CE Mark approved for additional soft tissue repair.

' L . % . . . I Lot . '
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U.S. Federal Regulatzon of Human T issue o " e i . ok

The Company ] non-valved conduits, vascular grafts and orthopaed1c tissues are not currently subject to regulation -
under the FDCA as medical devices. See “FDA Order on Human Tissue Preservation and Other FDA Correspondence and
Notices—Other FDA Correspondence and Notices” regarding correspondence from the FDA about cardiovascular and
vascular tissues processed with the SynerGra& technology - wotd : ’t

However, the FDA does regulate these products pursuant to Section 361 of the Pubhc ‘Health Servxces Act, which in turn
provides the regulatory framework for regulation of human cellular and tissue products (21 C.F.R. Parts 1270 and 1271).
Historically, heart valves were one of a small number of processed human tissues over which the FDA asserted medical
device jurisdiction. Concerns with the transmission of HIV and Hepatitis B led the FDA to issue an Interim Rule in
December 1993 as an emergency measure to protect.the public from any human tissue that had. incomplete or no-
documentation ascertaining its freedom from communicable diseases. The FDA modified the regulation and reissued it as a
new rule, effective January 1998, which focused‘on doner screening and testing to prevent the-introduction, transmission,
and spread of HIV-1 and -2 and Hepatitis B and:C. The Final Rule set minimal requirements to prevent the transmission of
communicable diseases from human tissue used for transplantation, ' The rule defines human tissue as any tissue derived
from & human body which is (1) intended for administration to another human for the diagnosis, cure, mitigation, treatment,
or prevention of any condition or disease and (ii) recovered, processed, stored, or distributed by methods not intended to
change tissue function or characteristics. ‘The FDA definition excludes, among other things, tissue that currently is regulated
as a human drug, biological product, or medical device and excludes kidney, liver, heart, lung, pancreas, or any other
vascularized human organ. The current regulations applicable to human tissues include requirements for donor sultabxhty
(discussed above) processmg standards, estabhshment reglstratlon and product listing. . s

On January 19, 2001 the FDA published a fina! rule that requires human cells, tissue, and cellular and tlssue-based
products establishments to register with the agency and list their human cells, tissues, and cellular and tissue-based products
(“HCT/Ps™). The final rule, 21 C.F.R. Parts- 1271, became effective on April 4, 2001 for human tissues intended for
transplantation that are regulated under section 361 of the PHS Act and part 1270 It became effective for all other HCT/’PS
when the remaining parts of 21 C.F.R. Part 1271 were finalized. BN . .

In May 2004 the FDA published a new final rule governing the eligibility of donors of human cell and tissue products.
This rule expands previous requiréments for testing and screening for risks of communicable diseases that could be spread by
the use of these tissues.” In November 2004 the FDA published a new final rule governing the procedures and processes
related to the manufacture of human cell and tissue products under the ¢cGTPs. Both the new donor eligibility rule and the
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¢GTP rule became effective on May 25, 2005 and designate human heart valves, processed on or after May 25, 2005, as .
human tissue rather than medical devices. T P R -
B .. i | I e ey, ot . - R -
It is likely that the FDA’s regulation of processed human tissue will continue to evolve in the future. Complying with
FDA regulatory requirements or obtaining required FDA approvals or clearances may entail significant time delays and
expenses or may not be possible, any of which may have a material adverse effect on the Company. - . .

As discussed in “—FDA Order on Human Tissue Preservation and Other FDA Correspondence and Notices”, the
Company filed an administrative appeal on'an RFD.submitted in October 2004 regarding SynerGraft-processed
cardiovascular tissue, including the CryoVein SG. On October 20, 2005 CryoLife was informed that the FDA had denied the
appeal and that CryoLife will be unable to distribute CryoVein tissues with the SynerGraft technology until further submissions
and FDA approvals are granted.. The Company is evaluating whether it will file and seck FDA approvals for CryoVein SG or
discontinue the CryoVein SG. ST A e sh e e N

. o T : Y TR RO . [ R Y I P S S S S L ™ .
Possible Other FDA Regulation . - .. o oo L . P RTE Ly
Other products and processes under development by the Company are likely to be subject to regulation by the FDA.
Some may be classified as medical devices or human cells and tissue products, while others may be classified as drugs or
biological products or subject to a regulatory scheme that the FDA may adopt in the future. Regulation of drugs and
biological products is substantially similar to regulation of Class Il medical devices.- Obtaining FDA approval to market
these products is likely to be a time consuming and expensive process, and there can be no assurance that any.of these.
products will ever receive FDA approval, if required, to be marketed. . ! . L '

R Y A

NOTA Regulation

The Company’s activities in processing and transporting human hearts and certain other organs are also subject to
federal regulation under the National Organ Transplant Act (“NOTA”), which makes it unlawful for any person to
knowingly.acquire, receive, or otherwise transfer any human organ for valuable consideration for use-in human
transplantation if the transfer affects interstate commerce.” NOTA: excludes from the definition of “valuable consideration”
reasonable payments associated with the rémoval, transportation, implantation, processing, préservation, quality control, and
storage of a human organ. The purpose of this statutory provision is to allow for compensation for legitimate services. The
Company believes that to the extent its activities are subject to NOTA, it meets this statutory provision relating to the. .
reasonableness of its charges. There can be no assurance, however, that restrictive interpretations of NOTA will not be
adopted in the future that would call into question one or more aspects of the Company’s methods of charging for its
preservation services.

State Licensing Requirements

Some states have enacted statutes and regulations governing the processing, transportation, and storage of human organs
and tissue. The activities engaged in by the Company require it to be licensed as a clinical laboratory and tissue bank under
Georgia, New York, California, Maryland, and Florida law. The Company has such licenses, and the Company believes it is
in compliance with applicable state laws and regulations relating to clinical laboratories and tissue banks that store, process,
and distribute human tissue designed to be used for medical purposes in human beings. There can be no assurance, however,
that more restrictive state laws or regulations will not be adopted in the future that could adversely affect the Company’s
operations. Certain employees of the Company have obtained other required state licenses.

Foreign Approval Requirements

Sales of medical devices and biological products outside the U.S. are subject to foreign regulatory requirements that .
vary widely from country to country. Approval of a product by comparable regulatory authorities of foreign countries must
be obtained prior to commercial distribution of the product in those countries. The time required to obtain foreign approvals
may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA approval. The EEA recognizes a single medical device approval, called
a CE Mark, which allows for distribution of an approved product throughout the EEA (30 member state countries - 27
European Union (“EU”) countries, and 3 European Free Trade Association (“EFTA™) countries) without additional general
applications in each country. However, individual EEA members reserve the right to require additional labeling or
information to address particular patient safety issues prior to allowing marketing. Third parties called Notified Bodies
award the CE Mark. These Notified Bodies are approved and subject to review by the competent authorities of their
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respective countries. ‘A number of countries outside of the EEA’accept the CE Mark in lieu of marketing submissions as an
addendum to that country’s application process. The Company has been issued CE Marks for its CryoLife.O’Brien aortic -
heart valve, BioGlue, and SynerGraft Model 100 vascular grafts. The Company’s porcme heart valves and SynerGraﬁ

Model 100 vascular graft. may be exported'to more thian 40 countries.outside the U.S. .« ;
i O oy e S « TR LN M ‘ [ B 3 P ' i
Environmental Matters . - .. . a0 i T e o T

The Company’s tissue processing activitiés génerate some biomedical wastes consisting primarily of human and animal
pathologicat and biological wastes; including Kuman and animatl tissue.and body fluids removed during laboratory .
procedures. The biomedical'wastes generated by the Company are placed in appropriately constructed and labeled T
containers and are segregated' from other wastes generated by the Company. The Company contracts with third parties for
transport, treatmerit, and disposal‘of biomedical waste. Although the Company believes it is in complhiance with applicable
laws and regulations promulgated by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and the Georgia Department of Natural -
Resources, Environmental Protection Division, the failure by the Company to comply fully with any such regulations could
result in an imposition of penalties, fines, or sanctions, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s =
business.

Employees e B T Y P S T SO T T R

A . " T ’. . ‘ -

L)
LN |

As of December 31, 2006:the Company had approx1mately 388 employees These employees included seven persons
with Ph.D. degrees,'one with an-M.D. degree, and one with a D.O.-degree. None of the Company’s employees are
represented by a labor organization or covered by a collective bargaining.agreement, and the Company has never -
experienced a work stoppage or interruption due to labor disputes. Management believes its relations with its employees are
good.

Availablelnformation, SRV ST L L S Y N
St N Jl"a)l"l{l.!" o Lo "A-f,'_' B . 1 o

It is the Company 5 policy to make'all of itsfilings with the SECyincluding without linjitation its annual reporton »
Form 10-K;, quarterly reports on Form:10-Q, current reports'on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports filed or -«
furnished pursuant.to Section 13(a) or:15(d}of the Securities Exchange Act-of 1934 (the “Exchange Act™); available free of:.

charge on'the Company s website, www.crvolife.com, on the day of filing.JAll of such filings made on or after November 15,

2002 have been made available on the website.: R cooTr N
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Item 1A. Risk Factors. « . Coe e ¢ , ) K
Risks Relating Te Our Business

Overview o , : . o

. - . ‘ . E DA “ . Ry

We have faced extraordinary challenges since we received, on August 13, 2002, an FDA Order calling for the retention,

recall, and/or destruction of all non=valved cardiac, vascular, and orthopaedic tissue processed by us since October 3, 2001.
The FDA Order resulted in the destruction of much of our tissue, required that we adjust revenue for tissue recall returns;
curtailed our processing activities, and subjected us to intense FDA scrutiny and additional regulatory requirements that
increased costs. We also suffered decreased revenues due t6 lack of processing ability, and decreased market demand for our
services. During the same year we were the subject of intense adverse media attention in connection with allegations that
tissue that we processed had infected a man in Minnesota and caused his death.- We were also the subject of shareholders’
class action and derivative shareholder suits, which were not resolved until the last half of 2005. Product liability cases and
claims increased to unprecedented numbers for us, using all of our related 2002/2003 insurance policy year insurance .
coverage and taxing our other resources. The SEC has initiated a formal investigation which, to our knowledge, is ongoing:«

These challenges have affected our revenues, increased our costs to process tissues and our operating expenses, and
strained management resources. Although we resumed processing and distribution of the types of tissues subject to the FDA
Order and resolved many of the product liability suits pending against us, the. foregomg factors will continue to challenge us,
to some degree in our'operations. © | e L A

I i v ' *
We Have Experienced Operating Losses And Negative Cash Flows, And We Must Contlnue To Address The Underlying
Causes In Order To Operate Profitahly And Generate Positive Cash Flows, : :

Due pnnmpally to factors mennoned above we have suffered net losses in the years ended December 31 2002 through

2005 and generated negative operating cash flow each year in the five year period ended December 31, 2006.

-Our long term earnings, liquidity, and capital requirements will depend upon numerous factors, including:
o . PICENON I ‘
The success of BioGlue and other products using related technology,
Our ability to increase the level of tissue procurement and demand for our tissue preservation services,
Our ability to maintain sufficient margins on our lissue preservation services, . :
Our spending levels on research and development activities, mcludmg research studles to develop and support our
service and product pipeline, - ‘ L T o
The timing and cost of resolving our remaining outstandmg product Ilabllny lawsuits and other claims,
Whether we will be able to successfully transition to us the cardiovascular and vascular tissue procurement that
was previously received by RTI, . : . T -
e To a lesser degree, our success at resolving issues wrth the FDA regardmg processmg of human tissue using the
SynerGraft technology,and . . : I Co ,
o+ Our success in implementing recently identified strategic mmatwes o

. s 0

i - [}

If We Are Unable To Address The Causes Of Our Operatmg Losses And Negatwe Cash Flows, We Will Need To Ralse
Additional Capital Which May Not Be Available On Acceptable Terms Or AtAlL* . - e .
1 t

If we are unable to address the issues facing us, and continue to experience negative cash flows, we anticipate that we
will require additional financing or need to seek to raise additional funds through bank facilities, debt or equity offerings, or
other sources of capital to meet liquidity and capital requirements. We may not be able to obtain additional funds when .
needed or on acceptable terms, which could materially and adversely affect our ability to ﬁnance and operate our business.
If we issue equity capltal this may dilute the holdings of exlsnng shareholders. -~ -~
Key Growth Strategnes Identifi ed As A Result of Our Strategic Review May Not Generate the Annclpated Benel‘ ts.

In January 2006 we engaged Piper Jaffray & Co. to assist our management and Board of Dlrectors in 1dent1fymg and
evaluating potential strategies to enhance sharcholder value. As a result of this review, the Board of Directors has directed
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management to actively pursue three key strategies to generate revenue and earnings growth in addition to continuing to focus
on growing our business and leveraging our strengths and expertise in our core marketplaces. These three strategies are:

o Identifying and evaluating acquisition opportunities of complementary product lines and companies,
¢ Licensing our technology to third parties for non-competing uses, and
e Analyzing and identifying underperforming assets for us to consider selling or otherwise disposing of.
Although management has begun to 1mplement these strategies, we cannot be certain that they will ulumately enhance
shareholder value. . : . :

L

The RTI Agreement-May Not Generate The Anticipated Benefits.

As part of our strategic plan, we entered into the RTI Agreement under which we agreed to cease processing orthopaedic
tissues: starting January 1, 2007 in exchange for; among other things, a non-compete agreement from RTI with respect to
cardiovascular tissues and the potential for us to receive additional -cardiovascular and vascular procurement which was
previously being received by -RTI. We may not receive the additional cardiovascular and vascular procurement that we
anticipate to receive. Additionally, we may be unable to increase our cardiovascular and vascular revenues sufficiently to
compensate for the loss of the orthopaedic revenues resulting ﬂ'om the RTI Agreement

We May Be Unable To Comply with the Covenants Of Our Credit F aclllty, Which Would Limit Our Borrowmg
Capacity And Potentially Result In A Default Under The Credit Facility, And Our Credit Facility Limits Qur Ability To
Issue Additional Debt Or Pay Cash Dividends.

Our credit agreement places limitations on the amount that we may borrow, and includes various affirmative and -
negative covenants. In particular, we are uncertain whether we can comply with the adjusted eamnings test. In the event that
we do not reach the necessary level of quarterly adjusted earnings, and were required to spend our qualifying cash and cash
equivalents, we anticipate that our borrowing capacity would be limited to $2.5 million. . A o

Further, if we fail to meet this and other covenants under the facility, we may.be in breach of the credit agreement, our
outstanding borrowings may be accelerated, and we may lose our borrowing capacity under the credit agreement.

The credit agreement also includes conditions on incurring new indebtedness and limitations on cash dividends. These
restrictions and conditions could make it more difficult or more expensive for us to bérrow money. S
. a * . R

There Are Limitations On Our Net Operating Loss Carryforwards.

We estimate. that at Decemnber 31, 2006, we had approximately $48.5 million.in U.S. Federal net operating loss
carryforwards to offset future taxable income. These carryforwards begin to expire.in the 2023 tax year. The availability of
these net operating loss carryforwards is limited after an ownership change within the meaning of Section 382 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Accordingly, a change in control of our Company could substantially reduce the
benefit of our operating loss carryforwards. In addition, we may be unable to generate enough profits, if any, prior to the
expiration of the operating loss carryforwards, to utilize our carryforwards.

_ . . o . . i
We Are Significantly Dependent On Our Revenues From BioGlue And Are Subjeet To A Variety Of Risks Affecting
This Product.

BioGlue has become a significant source of our revenues. Should the product be the subject of adverse developments
with regard to its safety, efficacy, or reimbursement practices, or if a competitor’s product obtains greater-acceptance, or our
rights to manufacture and market this product are challenged, the result could be a material adverse effect on our business, .
financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. Also, we have only two suppliers of bovine serum albumen, which
is necessary for the manufacture of BioGlue. Furthermore, we presently have only one supplier for our new syringe. If we
lose one or more of these suppliers, our ability to manufacture and sell BioGlue could be adversely impacted. We cannot be
sure that we would be able to replace any such loss on a timely basis, if at all.
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We Coatinue To Feel The Adverse Impacts Of The FDA Order And Subsequent FDA Activity.

The FDA Order, subsequent FDA activity, and resulting adverse publicity materially and adversely affected our -
business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. As a result, our revenues decreased, and we have.
incurred losses and negatlve cash flows, )

In addition, as a result of the FD'A Order, subsequent FDA actwlty, and changes in our processing, the costs of such
processing have increased and are likely to remain high as compared to cost levels prior to the FDA Order.- These high costs
have had a matefial adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows, and financial position and may continue
to do so for some time. :

S v ' [ . T

. Thie success of our tissue preservation services depends upon, among other factors, the availability of sufficient
quantities of tissue from human donors. If the supply of donated human tissuc is materially reduced, this would restrict our
growth and adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition. We rely primarily upon the efforts
of third party procurement agencies, tissue banks (most of which are not-for-profit), and others to educate the public and
foster a willingness to donate tissue. Because of the adverse publicity associated with the FDA Order and subsequent FDA
activity and uncertainty regarding future tissue processing, some procurement agencies stopped sending tissue to us for
processing. As a result, our processing has been constrained in part due to lower availability of tissue. If we are unable to
obtain tissues from procurement agencies that have ceased sending tissue to us for processing, to develop new sources, or to
increase the tissues shipped from our current suppliers, we may be unable to obtain adequate supplies of donated tissues to
operate proﬂtably . . : ‘ . . X L . L

Physicians Have Been And May Continue To Be Reluctant To Implant Our Preserved Tissues Or Use Our Other .
Products. o “ .

Some physicians or implanting institutions have been reluctant to choose our preserved tissues for use in implantation,
due to a perception that they may not be safe or to a belief that the implanting physician or hospital may be subject to a
heightened liability risk if our tissues are used. In addition, for similar reasons, some hospital risk managers have not
allowed implanting surgeons to utilize our tissues when alternatives are available. Several risk managers and physicians
have refused to use our products due to these concerns. These conditions have materially and adversely affected demand for
our processed human tissues. If these conditions persist, our results of operations and cash flows will continue 1o be -
adversely affected. 1f additional implanting hospitals or physicians representing significant revenues refuse to use tissues
that we preserve or our other products, including BioGlue, and we are unable to replace the revenues lost, our revenues and
profits would be materially and adversely affected.

Our Products And The Tissues We Process Allegedly Have Caused And May In The Future Cause Injury To Patients,
And We Have Been And May Be Exposed To Product Liability Claims And Additional Regulatory Scrutiny As A Result.

The processing, preservation and distribution of human allograft tissue, bovine tissue products, porcine tissue products
and the manufacture and sale of medical devices entail inherent risks of medical complications for patients and have resulted
and may result in product liability claims against us. -Plaintiffs have asserted that our tissue or medical devices have causeda -
variety of injuries, including death. When patients are injured, die or have other adverse results following procedures using
our tissue or medical devices, we have been and may be sued and our insurance coverage has been and may be inadequate.
Adverse judgments and settlements in excess of our available insurance coverage could materially and adversely affect our
financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

‘ ' ' et ' b :

As a result of medical complications that are alleged to have been caused by or occur in connection with medical
procedures involving our tissue or medical devices, we have been and may be subject to additional FDA and other regulatory
scrutiny and inspections. For-example, shortly after the FDA Order, the FDA posted a notice, now archived, on its website
stating its concerns regarding our heart valve preservation services. As a result, some surgeons and hospitals decided not to
use our heart valves. Cautionary statements from the FDA or other regulators regarding our tissue services or products, or
negative reviews from the FDA or regulators of our processing and manufacturing facilities have decreased and may in the’
future decrease demand for our tissue services or products and could reduce our revenues and malenally and adversely affect
our busingss, results of operations and ﬁnanc1al position. :

In addition to the recall resulting from the FDA Order, we have in the past suspended and in the future may have to
suspend the distribution of particular types of tissues as a result of reported adverse events in connection with our tissues.
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For example, during September 2003, in response to a reported infection, we halted the shipment of boned orthopaedic.
tissues in order to conduct an additional review of the systems in place to process and release boned orthopaedic tissues.
Suspension of the distribution of, or recall of, our tissue serviées or medical products could malenally and adversely affect
our revenues and profits. 1 : Con

We May Be Unable To Address The Concerns Raised By The FDA In Its Form 483 Notices Of Observations,
P [ i . - '

The FDA 1ssued Form 483 Notices of Observanons in February and October 2003, in February 2004 .and in August
2005. Among the issues raised in the most recent 483 were the process validations associated with the CryoValve SG,
complaint handling and reporting, and root cause analysis of certain microbial testing results. If the FDA deems our .-
responses to the most recent 483, or any future notices, unsatisfactory, it could take further action, which could materially
and adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial position, or cash flows. The FDA could institute additional
recalls of products, require us to perform additional tests, begin to require prescriptions for products where they are not
currently requlred halt the shlppmg or processmg of products or require additional approvals for marketlng our products or
serv1ces“ » v I . R .

' " 1 1o . : R ' 2 Ty

The FDA Has Notified Us Of Its Belief That Marketmg Of CryoValve SG And CryoVem SG Requlre Addmonal
Regulatory Submissions Anler Approvals

Durmg 2003 the FDA notified us that it conSIders the apphcatlon of the SynerGraﬂ technology to allograft heart valves
(CryoValve SG) to be a major manufacturing change and required us to submit a 510(k). We submitted a 510(k) for .
CryoValve SG and have received three requests for additional information from the FDA. While we have provided most of
the requested information, we are still compiling additional information, including bench-testing and clinical data. We are
also seeking to resolve certain other requests through administrative procedures at the FDA. It could be time-consuming and
expensive to resolve this matter, depending in large part on the success of our efforts through the FDA’s administrative
processes. We can give no assurance that the FDA will'agree with us or that it will clear the CryoValve.-SG-510(k) in the
foreseeable future, if at all. If we are unable to resolve this issue, we may not be able to offer our SynerGraft process for
human heart valves.

The FDA has also determined that.non-valved cardiovascular “CryoVein SG” tissues processed using.our SynerGraft
technology should be regulated as medical devices and that it will require additional approvals for.continued distribution of
these tissues. Our appeal of this designation was denied. We cannot be certain that.the designation of SynerGraft
cardiovascular tissue will be resolved favorably. If we are unable to resolve this matter, we may not be able to offer our
SynerGraft process for non-valved cardiac tissues. . T ' :

Regulatory Action Outside Of The U.S. Has Affected Our Business In The Past And May Also Affect Our Business In
The Future. - " . . . .

- After the FDA issued the FDA Order, discussed above, Health Canada also issued a recall on the same types of tissue.
In addition, other countries have made'inquiries regarding the tissues that we export, although these inquiries are now, to our
knowledge, complete. In the event other countries raise additional regulatory concerns, we may be unable to export tissues .
to those countries. Revenue from international human tissue preservation services was $572,000, $193,000 and $421,000 for
the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectwely We also oﬁ‘er BioGlue and other products for use in other
countries: o b . L

Our Violation Of Government Regulations Could Result In Loss Of Revenues And Customers As Well As Addltlonal
Compliance Expense. \ :

‘The FDA and some states regulate the facilities and processes that we use. Our facilities-are also subject to periodic
inspection by the FDA and state regulatory authorities to ensure our compliance with applicable laws and regulations. .If we
fail to comply with these laws and regulations, we can be subject to sanctions, such as written observations of deficiencies
made following inspections, warning letters, product recalls, fines, product seizures and consent decrees, all of which would
be made available to the public. Such actions and publicity could affect our ability to sell our products and services. In the
past, the FDA has sent us notifications and warning letters relating to deficiencies in our compliance with FDA requirements.

We were required to take measures to respond. We also were subject to the FDA Order, which decreased our revenues,
increased our processing costs, and materially and adversely affected our business, results of operations, and financial
condition. We cannot be certain that the FDA or state regulatory authorities will not request that we take additional steps to
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correct deficiencies that may be raised in the future. Correcting any such deficiencies could materially and adversely affect .
our busmess : :

We Are The Sub]ect Of An SEC Investrgatmn

The SEC notlﬁed us in July 2003 that its mforrnal inquiry became a fonnal 1nvest1gatron in' June 2003 We have..r . .
cooperated with this investigation both before and afier issuance of the formal order of investigation in June 2003, and intend
to continue doing so. We voluntarily reported the names of six employees and former employees to the SEC in December
2002 after discovering they had apparently sold CryoLife shares on August 14, 2002 before trading was halted pending our
press release reporting the FDA Order. These individuals were not then and are not currently executive officers of our | -
Company. The formal order of investigation indicates that the SEC’s scope includes whether, during 2002, among other - -
things, we or.others may have traded while in possession of material nonpublic information, made {or caused to be made)
false or misleading statements or omissions in press releases and SEC filings, and failed to maintain accurate records and
adequate controls. The investigation could also encompass matters not specifically identified in the formal order. On .
September 15, 2005, the SEC announced that it had commenced proceedings in federal district court against certain of the
above-Teferenced former and current employees (and certain of their spouses) for alleged illegal insider trading arising out of
their August 14, 2002 trading activities. Those proceedings resulted in settlements with the SEC. As of the date hereof, the
SEC has had no discussions with our representatives as to whether the SEC will seek relief against us, or the nature of any
relief that it may seck. At present, we are unable to predict the ultimate focus or outcome of the investigation, what the
current status of the investigation may be, or when the SEC will complete it. An unfavorable outcome could result in
monetary or other penalties and could materially and adversely affect our reputatron business, financial position, results of
operations, and cash flows. TN :

1

Our Existing lnsurance Policies May Not Be Sufficient To Cover Our Actual Claims Lrabrlrty

Our products and the tissues we process allegedly have caused and may in the future cause 1n3ury to patlents using our
products or tissues and we have been and may be exposed to product liability claims. . T

Followmg the FDA Order product ltab:llty lawsurts increased to unprecedented numbers for us. These claims involved
assertions that infections and related morbidity, including death, were the result of inadequacies in our procedures. We
maintain claims-made insurance policies to mitigate our financial exposure.to product liability claims. Claims-made
insurance policies generally cover only those asserted claims and incidents that are reported to the insurance carrier while the
policy is in effect. Thus, a claims-made policy does not generally represent a transfer of risk for claims and incidents that
have been incurred but not reported to the insurance carrier during the policy period.

As of February 16, 2007, we were aware of three pending product liability lawsuits against us. Two of these lawsuits
are not covered by .insurance because the claimed loss date was prior to.the effective coverage date for the insurance policy.
Additional uninsured claims may be filed in the future. Other product liability claims have been asserted against-us that have
not resulted in lawsuits. We are monitoring these claims.

Our December 31, 2006 Consolidated Balance Sheet reflects a liability in the amount of approximately $330,000 for the
estimated cost of resolving these claims. The amounts recorded were estimates, and do not reflect actual settlement
arrangements or final judgments, the latter of which could include punitive damages, nor do they represent cash set aside for
the purpose of making payments. This balance sheet also reflects a $6.6 million liability included as a component of accrued
expenses and other current labilities of $3.3 million and other long-term liabilities of $3.3 million for the estimated cost of
resolving unreported product liability claims. Our product liability insurance policies do not include coverage for any
punitive damages. See Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—Critical Accounting Policies—Product Lrabrlrty Claims™ for a description of our accounting treatment for . ,
product liability claims.. + . o . , L .

Several putative class action lawsuits were filed in July through September 2002 against us and certain of our officers, .
alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, based on a series of purportedly
materially false and misleading statements to the market. On July 21, 2005 we reached an.agreement in principle to settle the
securities class action lawsuit and the settlement became final later in the year. In August 2002 and January 2003 purported
shareholder derivative actions were filed. These lawsuits, which named us as a nominal defendant, alleged that the
individual défendants breached their fiduciary duties to the Company by causing or allowing the Company to engage in
certain inappropriate practices that caused the Company to suffer damages. A settlement was also reached in those cases and
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became final in 2005. Our insurance proceeds were insufficient to fund the costs of defending and settling the securities
class action and derivative lawsuits. In September 2006 we settled insurance coverage disputes with former insurance
carriers for $2.1 million, net of associated legal fees. The disputes involved losses stemming from approximately $11.3
million that we paid in 2005 in settlement of outstanding claims. No party admitted any liability as part of the September
2006 settlement, The $2.1 million is included as a component of general, administrative, and marketing expenses on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations as of December 31, 2006. We received the net proceeds of $2.1 million in October
2006.

-If we are unsuccessful in arranging acceptable settlements of product liability, securities class action, or derivative
claims, we may not have sufficient insurance coverage and liquid assets to meet these obligations. Additionally, if one or
more claims in which we are a defendant, whether now pending or hereafter arising, should be tried with a substantial verdict
rendered in favor of the plaintiff{s), such verdict(s) could exceed our available insurance coverage and liquid assets. If we
are unable to meet required future cash payments to resolve the outstanding or any future claims, this will materially and
adversely affect our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows, Further, if the costs of pending or unreported
but incurred product liability claims exceed our current estimates, our business, financial condition and results of operations -
may be materially and adversely affected. If we do not have sufficient resources to pay the claims agamst us, we may be
forced to cease operations or seek protection under applicable bankruptcy laws.

»
.

We May Be Unable To Obtain Adequate Insurance At A Reasonable Cost, If At All

+
'

If we are unable to obtain satisfactory insurance coverage in the future, we may be subject to additional future exposure
from product liability claims. Additionally, insurance rates may be significantly higher than in the past, and insurers may
provide less coverage, which may adversely impact our profitability. Unlike the prior year’s policy, the 2003/2004 products
liability policy did not cover any claims which arose prior to the insurance policy year. The 2004/2005 products liability
policy was a two-year claims-made policy, covering claims arising since the commencement of the 2003/2004 policy year.
The 2005/2006 products liability policy was a three-year claims-made policy, covering claims arising since the
commencement of the 2003/2004 policy year.' Qur current products liability insurance policy is a four-year claims-made
policy covering claims since the commencement of the 2003/2004 policy year and expires in March 2007. We are currently
evaluating with prospective insurers the available coverage and cost for products liability insurance. It is possible that there
could be increases in both cost and retention, although we expect the coverage to be a five-year claims-made policy. We are
also currently evaluating with prospective insurers available coverage and cost for director’s and officer’s insurance policies
which expire in April 2007. We cannot be certain that we will be successful in obtaining satisfactory coverage once our
current coverage expires, which could adversely impact our liquidity if we suffer material uninsured claims liability.

Intense Competition May Affect Our Ability To Operate Profitably.
We face competition from other companies that process human tissue, as well as companies that market mechanical
valves and synthetic and animal tissue for implantation, and companies that market surgical adhesives and surgical sealants.
Management believes that at least three domestic tissue banks offer preservation services for allograft heart valves and many

companies offer processed porcine heart valves and mechanical heart valves. A few companies dominate portions of the
mechanical, porcine and bovine heart valve markets, including St. Jude Medical, Inc., Medtronic, Inc., and Edwards Life
Sciences. Our BioGlue product competes with other surgical adhesives and surgical sealants, including Baxter Healthcare’s
Tisseel, FloSeal, and CoSeal, Ethicon’s Evicel and Surgifoam, and Tyco Healthcare’s U.S. Surgical Division’s Duraseal -
products. We are also aware that a few companies have surgical adhesive products under development. For example,
Closure Medical is in clinical trials for a surgical adhesive for approval in vascular sealing that could compete with BioGlue
in certain applications. Other large medical device, pharmaceutical, and biopharmaceutical companies may also be
developing competitive products. Many of our competitors have greater financial, technical, manufacturing, and marketing
resources than we do and are well established in their markets, We have increased fees and prices on a number of our
services and products since January 1, 2007. This increase may provide an opportunity for our competitors to gain-market
share. If we are unable to increase prices as planned and retain or improve our market share, our revenue and return to
profitability may be adversely affected. -

Our cryopreserved tissues compete with other entities that cryopreserve human tissue on the basis of technology,
customer service, and quality assurance. Our competitors have been favorably.impacted and we believe we have lost some
market share because our procurement and processing yields of human tissue and our cardiovascular and vascular tissue
shipments decreased following the-FDA Order in 2002. ‘
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We believe that the human heart valves cryopreserved by us, as compared to mechanical, porcine, and bovine heart  ©
valves, compete on the factors set forth above, We also believe that our cryopreserved human heart valves compete by
providing a tissue that is the preferred replacement alternative with respect to certain medical conditions, including:

e ! " ' . . .. . ' . ! R
+ Pediatric cardiac reconstruction, S o T L
s Valve replacements for women in their child-bearing years, and

) . -y .

e Valve replacements for patients with endocarditis. .

Our BtoGlue product competes on the basns of its high tensile strength and ease of use.
. C o : J

We cannot give assurance that our products and services will be able to compete successfully Any products that we
develop that gain regulatory clearance or approval will have to compete for market acceptance and market share. If we fail’
to compete effectively, this could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, résults of operations, and”
cash flows. The FDA Order, related adverse publicity, and subsequent FDA' activity have adversely affected our competitive
position and may continue to do 50 in the future. Our competitors may gam competmve advantages that may be dlfﬁcult to
overcome: .o : :

We May Not Be Successful In Obtaining Necessary Clinical Results And Regulatory Approvals For Products And
Services In Development, And Our New Products And Services May Not ‘Achieve Market Acceptance,

Our'growth and profitability will depend, in part, upon our ability to complete development of and successfully ’
introduce new products and services, including new appllcattons of our BioGlue and related technology and applications
applying our SynerGrafi technology We are uncertain whether we can develop new products and services to a
commercially acceptable form. We must also expend much time and money to obtain the requiréd regulatory approvals. For
example, if we are unable to resolve the issues we are addressing with the FDA with regard to tissues processed using
SynerGraft, we may incur significant costs over a lengthy period of time to meet the FDA’s requirements. We may not be
able to meet the FDA’s requlrements and we may not be able to offer a commerc1ally successful product !

. : : " . . +

Although we have conducted pre-clinical studies on certain products under development which indicate that such
products may be effective in a particular application, we cannot be certain that the results we obtain from expanded clinical
studies will be consistent with'earlier trial results or be sufficient for us to obtain any required regulatory approvals or ‘
clearances. We cannot give assurance that we will not experience difficulties that could delay or prevent us from
successfully developing, introducing and marketing new products. We also cannot give assurance that the regulatory
agencies will clear or approve these or any new products on a timely basis, if ever, or that the riew products will adequately
meet the requirements of the applicable market or achieve market acceptance, .

Our ability to complete the development of any of our products is subject to all of the risks associated with the -
commercialization'of new products based on innovative technologies. Such'risks include unanticipated technical or other
problems, manufacturing difficulties, and the possibility that we have allocated insufficient funds to complete such
development. Consequently, we may not be able to successfully develop or manufacture our products which are under

_developrnent If we do develop or manufacture these products, we may not do so on a timely basis. These products may not
meet price or performance objectives, and may not prove to be as effectivé as competing products
L !

If we are unable to successfully complete the development of a product, appltcatlon or service, onif we determine, for
financial, technical or other reasons, not to complete development or obtain regulatory approval of any product, application
or service, particularly in instances when we have expended significant capital, this could materially and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. Research and development efforts are time consuming
and expensive and we cannot be sure that these efforts will lead to commercially successful products or services. Even the
successful commercialization of a new service or product in the medical industry can be characterized by slow growth and
high costs associated with marketing, under-utilized production capacity, and continuing research and development and
education‘costs. The'introduction of new products or services, which could include new products based on our Protein
Hydrogel Téchnology such as BioFoam, BioLastic and BioDisc, may require significant physician training and years of ’
clinical evidence derived -from follow-up studies on human implant recipients in order to gain acceptance in the medical
community. ‘ : v
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Investments In New Technologies Or Distribution Rights May Not Be Successful.

We may invest in new technology llcenses or distribution rlghts that may not succced in the marketplace ln such cases,
we may be unable to recover our initial investment, which could include acquiring license or distribution rights or purchasing
initial inventory. Inability to recover our initial investment may adversely impact our profitability.

We May Be Unable To Fund Our ACT Technology.

The ACT is a reversible linker technology that has potential uses in the areas of fibrinolysis (blood clot dissolving) and
other drug delivery applications. In February 2001 we formed AuraZyme, a wholly-owned subsidiary, in order to seek a
corporate collaboration or to complete a potential private placement of equity or equity-oriented securities to fund the
commercial development of the ACT. We have been seeking such funding since 1998 to allow us to continue developing
this technology without incurring additional research and development expenditures, other than through AuraZyme. We
cannot guarantee that we can obtain such funding on-acceptable terms, if at all. Even if we can obtain such financing, we
cannot guarantee that the ACT will in fact prove to be effective in the above applications., In addition, any new financing
may dilute the ownership interests of our current shareholders, or may include restrictive covenants that could adversely
affect us or our business.

SynerGraft Processed Tissues May Not Demonstrate Expected Benefits. 7

We process bovine tissues with the SynerGraft technology and market these services outside the U.S. . The process
involves antigen reduction, which is the depopulation of the cells of the tissue to be implanted, leaving a matrix of protein
fibers that has the potential to be repopulated with the recipient’s cells. If successful, we believe that such repopulation may
increase graft longevity and improve the biocompatibility and functionality of such tissue, resulting in the implanted tissue
behaving more like the recipient’s own tissue. Studies on animals have shown that explanted SynerGraft processed heart
valves will repopulate with the recipient’s cells.. However, should such tissues implanted in humans not consistently and
adequately repopulate with the human host cells, the higher priced SynerGraft processed tissues may not demonstrate
benefits over other alternatives. If this happens, it could materially and adversely affect our future expansion plans and could
limit our future growth. :

If We Are Not Successful In Expanding Our Business Activities In International Markets, We Will Not Be Able To
Pursue One Of Qur Strategies For Increasing Our, Revenues, :

Our international operations are subject to a number of risks which may vary from the nsks we face in the U S,

including:

Unexpected changes in regulatory requirements and tariffs;

Difficulties and costs associated with staffing and managing foreign operations, including forclgn distributor
relationships;

Longer accounts receivable collection cycles in certain foreign countries;

Adverse economic or political changes;

More limited protection for intellectual property in some countries;

Changes in our international distribution network and direct sales force;

Changes in currency exchange rates;

Potential trade restrictions, exchange controls and import and export licensing requirements; and

Potentially adverse tax consequences of overlapping tax structures. i

* & & & 9 ¢ ®

We Are Dependent On OQur Key Personnel. - . " Coe
- 1 ' . . . . . .

QOur business and future operating results depend in significant part upon the continued contributions of our key
technical personnel and senior management, many of who would be difficult to replace. Our business and future operating.
results also depend in significant part upon our ability to attract and retain qualified management, processing, technical,
marketing, sales, and support personnel for our operations. Competition for such personnel is intense and we cannot promise
that we will be successful in attracting and retaining such personnel. Our key employees include our management team,
consisting of*
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- Stéven G. Anderson President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman;” - ' * -

L

s --D. Ashley Léé, CPA, Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer, and Chief Fmancral Oﬁicer

#» ' 'Albert E. Heacox, Ph.D., Senior Vice President, Research and- Development R S L
f7 - "Gérald B, Séery, Sénior Vice President Sales and Marketing; and-  © S S
s e '-‘Dav:d M. Fronk, Vice Presrdent, Regulatory Affarrs and Quallty Assurance.' coe o

Wb ' - [ . * LT L. T n
We'do not have key life insurancé on these mdwrduals If we lose any key employees ‘if any of our key-employees fail
to perform adequately, or if we are unable to attract and retain skilled employees as needéd, this could materially and *
adversely affect our abtllty to efﬁcrently operate our busmess
L . [ o417 L g B e . . -"r-" . ]

Extensrve Government Regu]atlon May Adverscly Affect Our Ablhty To Devclop And Sell Products And Semces
“Government regulatlon in the U.S., the EEA, and other _]llrlSdlCthl'lS can determine the suceess of ourand our* - ', -
competitors’ efforts to market and develop services and products. The FDA, pursuant to rules it promulgated under the -
Public Health Services Act, currently régilates ‘allograft tissues as- “human tissie.” These rules estabhsh requirements for
donor testing and screening of huinan tissue and record keepmg relating to these activities and impose certain registrationi
- and product listing requirements on éstablishments that process or distribute hunian tissue or cellular-based products.  The -
FDA has finalized and implemented good tissue practice regulations akin to good manufacturing practices, which must be -
followed by tissue banks and processors of human tissue. These good tissue practice regulations will increase regulatory
oversight of CryoLife and other processors of human tissue, Although we and our competrtors are endeavormg to satisfy the
new regulations when they go'into éffect, there can be no assirance'of success. - e e

‘BioGlue is regitlated as a Class 111 medical device, and we believe that ot ACT riiay be régulated as a biologic or drug
by the FDA. The ACT has not been approved for commercial distribution in the U.S, or elsewhere. Fixed porcine heart: i
valve products are classified as Class Il medical devices. We may not obtain the FDA approval required to distribute our
porcine heart valve products in the U.S. Whether we are able to distribute these products within the-EEA will depend on
whether we can mamtam the CE Mark for these products and the1r ISO 13485 certlﬁcatlons of whrch we cannot be certaln
K B [ L v ol y et . c i ' i : Y ' N B ' '
Most of our products and Services in developmem and those of out competitors, if successfully developed, will require
regulatory approvals from the FDA and pérhaps other regulatory authoritiés before they may be commercially distributed.
The process of obtaining requrred regulatory approvals from the FDA normally involves clinical trials as well as an extensive
premarket approval applicdtion'and often takes many years. The process is'expensive and can vary significantly based on the
type, complexity, and novelty of the product. We cannot give any assurance that any products developed by us or our -
competitors, 1ndependently or in collaboratron w1th others wrll receive the required approvals for manufacturmg and
| 4 . - H N

marketmg : ! i

.

vy
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Delays in obtaining U.S. or foreign approvals could result in substantial additional cost and adversely affect our -
competitive posmon The'FDA may also place conditions on product approvals-that could restrict commercial applications’
of our products. The FDA imay withdraw product marketing approvals or clearances if we do not maintain compliance with
regulatory standards or if problems occur following initial marketing. Delays imposed by the governmenital clearance - !
process may matenally reduce the penod dunng whlch we have the exclusive right to commercialize patented products

PRI ¥ b .t ' o ' r P L B T IR 11

Delays or rejections may also be encountered by us during any stage of the regulatory approval process if clinical or -
other data fails to satisfactorily demonstrate compliance with, or if the product fails to meet, the regulatory agency’s
requirements for safety, efficacy and quality. Thosé r'eélulrem'e'nts may becoimne more stringent dué to changes in applicable
law, regulatory agency policy, or the adoption of new regilationis. Clinical trials may-also-be delayed due to unanticipated - -
side effects, inability to locate, récruit, an'd qualify sufficient numbers of patients, lack of funding; the inability to locate or
recruit clinical investigators, the redesrgn of clinical trial programs, the inability to mdnufacture or'acquire sufficient’ *
quantities of the particular product or'any ‘other components requrred for clinical trials, changes m development focus, and

t

disclosure of trial results by competitors. o L L

* Even if we or oné of our competitors are able to obtain regulatory approval for any products or services offered, the.
scope of the approval may srgnrﬁcantly limit the indic¢ated usage for which-such products’or'services may be marketed. TheJ
unapproved use-of our products or olir preserved tissues could adversely affect the reputation of our products or services.
Products or sérvices marketed pursuant to FDA or foreign oversight or’ ‘approvals are subject to continuing regulation, In the
U.8,, devices and biologics must be manufactired in registered establishments, and, in the case of bidlogics, licensed
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establishments, and must be produced in accordance with Quality System'Regulations. Manufacturing facilities and
processes are subject to periodic FDA inspection..,Labeling and promotional activities are also subject to scrutiny by the
FDA and, in certain instances, by the Federal Trade Commission. . The export of devices and biologics is also subject to
regulation and may require FDA appréval. From time to time, the FDA may modify.such regulations, imposing additional or
different requirements. 1f we fail to comply with applicable FDA requirements, which may be ambiguous, we could face
civil and criminal enforcement actions, warnings, citations, product recalls or detentions and other penalties. This could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. As noted above, the
FDA Order and subsequent FDA activity had, and may continue to have, such an effect.

In addition NOTA prohibits the acquisition or transfer of human organs for “valuable consideration” for use in human
transplantation. NOTA permits the payment of reasonable expenses agsociated with the removal, transportation,
implantation, processing, preservation, quality control, and storage of human organs. We cannot be certain that restrictive
interpretations of NOTA will not be adopted in the future which will challenge one, or more aspects of industry methods of
charging for preservation services., Our laboratory operations and those of our competitors are subject to the U.S. .
Department of Labor; Occupational- Safety and Health Administration and Environmental Protection Agency requirements
for prevention of occupational exposure to infectious agents and hazardous chemlcals and protection of the environment..
Some states have enacted statutes and regulattons which govem the processing, transportation and storage of human organs
and tissue. ° . e e R o .
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U.S. and foreign governments and regulatory agencies may adopt more restrictive laws.or regulations in the future that
could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows.

Uncertainties Related To Patents And Protection Of Propnetary Technology May Adversely Affect The Value Of Our
Intellectual Property. . S T A '
N o ., - .

We own severa! patents ‘patent appllcatlons and hcenses relating to our technologles which we bel:eve prov1de us with
important competitive advantages.., We cannot be ceftain that our pending patent applications will issue as patents or that no
one will challenge the validity or enforceability of any patent that we own. We also cannot be certain that if anyone does
make such a challenge, that we will be able to successfully defend that challenge. . We may have to incur substantial
litigation costs to uphold the vahdlty and prevent infringement of a patent. Furthermore we cannot be certam that
competitors will-not independently develop similar technologies or duplicate our technologles or design around the patented-
aspects of such technologies. We cannot be sure that our proposed technologxes will not mfnnge.patents or other rights
owned by others. o S _— CL
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We protect our proprletary technologies and processes in part by conﬁdentlallty agrecments with our collaboratlve )
partners, employees and consultants, We cannot be sure that these entities and persons will not breach these agreements, that
we will have adequate remedies for any. breach, or that our trade secrets will not otherwise become known or independently
discovered by competitors. If any of these events-occur, they could result in our loss of the economic benefits associated
with our key products and services and could materially and adversely. affect our business, financial condmon results. of
operations, and cash flows. b L e

crd
Future Health Care Relmbursement Methods And Pol|c1es May Affect The Avallablllty, Amount And Tlmmg of Our
Revenues. - - .. - CL W I S e
s . . “ . " '

Even though we, do not receive payments dlrect]y from th1rd-party health caré payors their relmbursement methods and
policies impact demand for our cryopreserved tissue and other services and products Our preservation services with respect
to the cardiac, vascular, and orthopaedic tissues may be particularly susceptible to thlrd-party cost _contamment measures.
For example, the initial cost of a cryopreserved allograft heart valve generally exceeds the cost of a mechanical, synthetic, or
animal-derived valve. We are unable to predict what changes will be made in the reimbursement methods and policies .

utilized by third-party health care payors or their effect on us.

If third-party health care payors, including Medicare, change their reimbursement methods and policies with respect to
cryopreserved tissues provided for 1mplant by us and other services and products that we.offer, this could have a material
adverse effect on us, Significant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursement status of newly approved health care products
and services, .and there can be no assurance that adequate third-party coverage _w1|l be: :available for us to maintain price
levels sufficient to realize an appropriate return on our.investment in developing new products.
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Government, hospitals; and other third-party payors are increasingly attempting to contain health care costs by limiting
both coverage and the level’of reimbursement for new products approved for marketing by the FDA. In some cases, these
entities refuse to provide any coverage for uses of approved products for indications for which the FDA has not granted
marketing approval. 1f government and other third-party payors do not provide adequate coverage and reimbursement levels
for uses of our new products and services, market acceptance of these products would be adversely affected, which could
negatively impact revenue growth and materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations,
and cash flows.

(PR H ' '
Rapid Technologlcal Change Could Cause Our Servnces And Products To Become Obsolete.

e 0 .f'

The lechnologxes underlymg our preducts and services are subject to rapld and profound technological change.
Competition intensifies as technical advances in cach field are made and become more widely known. We can give no
assufance that others will not develop products or processes with significant advantages over the products and processes that
we offer or are seeking to develop. Any such occurrence could matenally and adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operanons and cash ﬂows

N e Risks Related To Our Capital Stock

Tradmg Prlces For Our Secuntles Have Been, And May Contmue To Be, Volatile.

The tradmg price of our common and preferred stock has.been subject to wide fluctuations and may continue to be
volatile in the future. Trading price fluctuations can be caused by a variety of factors, including variations in operating
results, regulatory actions such as the adverse FDA activity, product liabitity claims, announcement of technological
innovations or new products by us or our competitors, governimerital regulatory acts, developments with respect to patents or
proprietary rights, general conditions in the medical device or service industries, actions taken by government regulators,
changes in earnings estimates by securities analysts, or other events or factors, many of which are beyond our control. 1f our
revenues or operating results i in future quarters fall below the expectations of sccurities analysts and investors, the price of
our cominon and preferred stock would likely decline, perhaps substantially. Changes'in the trading prlce of our common
and preferred stock may bear no relation to our actual operational or financial results. If our share prices do not meet the
requirements of the New York Stock Exchange, our shares may be delisted. Our closing common stock price in the period
January 1, 2004 to February 16, 2007 has rdnged from a high of $9.35 to a low 0f $2.99. Our closing preferred stock price in
the period March 15, 2005; the date of our first preferred stock i issuance, to February 16, 2007 has ranged from a high of
$67.00 toalow of $35.00. ~ -

The market prices of the sécurities of biotechnology companies have been highly volatile and are likely to remain highly
volatile in the future: This volatility has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. In the
past, companies that experienced volatility in the market price of their securities have often faced securities class-action “
litigation. Moreover, market prices for stocks of biotechnology-related and technology companies frequently reach levels
that bear fio relattonshlp to the' operatmg performance of these companies. These market prices generally are not sustainable
and are highly volatile.' Whither or not meritorious, lrtlgatlon brought against us could result in substantial costs, divert our
management’s attention and resources and harm our financial condition and results of operations. :

Anti-Takeover Provisions May Discourage Or Make More Difficult An Attempt Tlo Obtain Control Of CryoLife.

Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws contain provisions that may discourage or make more difficult any attempt by
a person or group to obtain control of our company, including provisions authorizing the issuance of preferred stock without
shareholder approval, restricting the persons who may call a special meeting of the shareholders, and prohibiting
shareholders from takmg action by written consent In addition, we are subject to certain provisions of Florida law that may
drscourage or make moré difficult takeover attempts or acquisitions of substantial amounts of our common stock. Further,
pursuant to the terms of a shareholder rights plan adopted in 1995 and amended in 2005, each outstanding share of common
stock has one attached right. The rights will cause substantial dilution of the ownership of a person or group that attempts to
acquire our company on terms not approved by the Board of Directors and may deter hostile takeover attempts. These

provisions could potentially deprive our stockholders of opportunities to sell shares of our stock at above-market prices. '
. R T Ve, Lo . , . ‘ . \

.

33




We Are Not Likely To Pay Common Stock Dividends In The Foreseeable Future, And We May Not Be Able To Pay
Cash Dividends On Our Capital Stock Due To Legal And Contractual Restrictions And Lack Of Liquidity.

We have not paid, and do not presently intend to pay, cash divi.dends'on. our common stock. In addition, under Florida
law and under the restrictions set forth in our credit agreement, we may not be able to pay cash dividends on our capital
stock. Under Florida law, no distribution may be paid on our capital stock, if after giving it effect:

e  We would not be able to pay our debts as they become due in the usual course of business; or

o  Our total assets would be less than the sum of our total liabilities plus the amount that would be needed, if we
were to be dissolved at the time of the distribution, to satisfy the preferential rights upon dissolution of our
preferred shareholders whose preferential rights are superior to those receiving the distribution.

Under our new credit agreement, cash dividends on common stock are prohibited, and cash dividends on preferred stock
may be paid only so.long as we maintain at least $7.5 million, in the aggregate, of borrowing capacity under the credit
agreement plus cash, and specified cash equivalents, see “Risks Factors—Risks Relating To Our Business—We May be -
Unable to Comply with the Covenants of Qur Credit Facility, Which Would Limit Our Borrowing Capacity and Potentially
Result in a Default Under the Credit Facility, And Qur Credit Facility Limits Qur Ability To Issuc Additional Debt Or Pay Cash
Dividends.” Increased borrowings under the credit agreement and judgments or settlements arising out of product liability or
other claims, negative operating cash flow and other factors which adversely affect available cash resources, will also
adversely affect our ability to make cash dividend payments both generally and under the credit agreement. In addition, the
terms of any future financing arrangements that we may enter into may also restrict our ability to pay dividends. ’

‘Fprivard-Looking Statements

r '

This Form 10-K includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, and Section 21 E of the Exchange Act. Forward-looking statements give the Company’s current '
expectations or forecasts of future events. The words “could,” “may,” “might,” “will,” “would,” *shall,” “should,” “*pro
forma,” “potential,” “pending,™ “intend,” “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “plan,” “future,” and other similar
expressions generally identify forward-looking statements, including, in particular, statements regarding future products or
services, market expansion, revenues, cost savings, procurement, tissue processing yields, regulatory activity, available funds
and capital resources, and pending litigation. These forward-looking statements are made pursuant to the safe harbor
provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Readers are cautioned not to place undue réliance on
these forward-looking statements, which are as of their respective dates. Such forward-looking statements reflect the views
of management at the time such statgments are made and are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, estimates, and
assumptions, including, without limitation, in addition to those identified in the text surrounding such statements, those
identified under Part I, Item 1A.. "Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Form 10-K., ' -

LIS LI

All statementé, other than statements of historicai facts, included herein that address activities, events or dévelopnients
that the Company expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future, are forward-looking statements, including statements
regarding: . - '

s The adequacy of product liability insurance to defend against lawsuits;

o Increases in product liability insurance coverage costs, retention, and claims years covered;

e The oqtcgoine of lawsuits filed against the Compf!ny‘,‘anzi of the SEC irivestigation; .

. The impact of the F DA Order and subsequef:t FDA activity, including the FDA’s letters regarding the'SynerGra.ﬁ
process and measures taken by the Company as a result, on future revenues, profits, and business operations;

. _Thé impacllof the FDA’s Form 483 Notices of Observation,
: t

e The Company’s estimated future liability for existing product liability lawsuits and for product liability claims incurred
but not yet reported,;
e The Company’s ability to increase yields and reduce its costs of tissue preservation services;
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. . . . . . '
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The Company’s competitive position, including the impact of price increases;: - Ser T

. . i Tty

The receipt of govemmental grants for BioFoam development;

¢ The results of paticnt studies and their use in applying for governmental approval for products and services; -
. Tne outcome of the Company’s regulatory applications regarding its SynerGraft process;

. Future.'inc.reases in research and development expenses; s S | . Tl
. Competitive advantages offered by the Company’s patents, trade secrets, trademarks, and technology licensing rights;

. Product_ demand and market growth;

v . q L .- . ! [

e  The success of the RTl Agreement including anticipated cost savmgs and increased’ procurement of cardiovascular and

vascular t:ssues - : . T T
+ ] .

o * . o ' '

The potentlal of the ACT for iise in ﬁbrmolysns (blood clot dxssolvmg) and other drug dehvery applications;

1 s -

Expected revénue and carnings growth ffom recently announced Strategic agreements; '~ - ¢ - 0

' . . e R . - )

" Expected impact of adoption of new aceounting pronouncements;  + ¢ '

‘. . : T Ly, r i

The impact on the Company of adverse publrcrty or neganve surgical-outcomes’ from products or services provided by
the Company; © v Coh Ll ,

' . . . . .
s - L e K . -

' Anticipated future revenues and expenses;"

B L . o

Expected seasonahty trends

Ant1c1pated deereases in cash payments related to the defense and resolution of lawsuits'and cla1ms from the levels seen
in 2003 through 2006;

o Anticipated impact of changes in interest rates;
o  The ability to expand the Company’s service and product offerings;

o The success of distribution, suppliér and development agreements w1th thlrd partres to distribute, supply and develop
vanous Company, as well as third party products and serv1ces ‘ ‘

' i 3 P L =

o Those issues most likely to impact the Compa.ny s future financial performance and cash flows; -

s The Company s ablllty to 1mplement its strateglc plans; ,

e The adequacy of the Company § ﬁnancral resources ‘and 1ts ab11|ty to borrow under its credlt facrhty and
i 1

i
. 0

o  Other statements regarding future plans and srrategies, anticipated events, or trends.

These statements are based on certain assumptions and analyses made by the Coinpany in light of its experience and its
perception of historical trends, current conditions, and expected future developments as well as other factors it believes are
appropriate in the crrcumstanees However whether actual results'and developments will conform with the Company’s -
expectations and predictions is sub_lect to a number of risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ
materially from the Company s expectations, including the risk factors discussed in this Form 10-K and other factors, many
of which are beyond thé control of CryoLife. Consequently, all of the forward-looking statements made in this Form 10-K
are qualificd by these cautionary statements and there can be no assurance that the actual results or developments anticipated

1 i v, -t N . - a
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by the Company will be realized or, even if substantially realized, that they will have the expected consequences to or effects
on the Company or its business or operations. The Company assumes no, obligation to update publicly any such forward-
looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.

v ‘ t

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments. ) . I T T

The Company has no unresolved written comments received from the staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission
regarding its periodic or current reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 not less than 180 days before December
31, 2006 (the end of the fiscal year to which this Form 10-K relates). .. . & . .

L -

Item 2. Properties.

The Company’s facilities are located in suburban Atlanta, Georgia, and in Guildford, United Kingdom. The corporate
headquarters in Atlanta consists of approximately 200,000 square feet of leased manufacturing, administrative, laboratory,
and warehouse space with an additional 7,600 square feet of offsite warechouse space. Approximately. 26,000 square feet are
dedicated to clean room work areas. The primary facility has six main laboratory facilities; human tissue processing,
BioGlue manufacturing, bioprosthesis manufacturing, research and development, microbiclogy, and pathology. Each of
these areas consists of a general technician work area and adjoining “clean rooms™ for work with human tissue and for
aseptic processing. The clean rooms are supplied with highly filtered air that provides a near-sterile environment. The |
human tissue processing laboratory contains approximately 15,600 square feet with a suite of nine clean rooms. The current
processing level is estimated to be at about 20% of total capacity. The volume of tissue processed is currently constrained by
the availability of tissue. To increase the current processing levels, the Company could increase the number of employees,
expand its second and third shift, and add equipment. The BioGlue manufacturing laboratory contains approximately 13,500
square feet with a suite of six clean rooms. The current processing level is about 5% of total ‘capacity. To produce at full
capacity levels, the Company would need to increase the number of employees, add work shifts, and install automated filling
and pouching equipment. The bioprosthesis manufacturing laboratory contains approximately 20,000 square. feet with a
suite of six clean rooms. The research and development laboratory is approximately 10,500 square feet with a suite of five
clean rooms. The microbiolegy laboratory is approximately 8,000 square feet with a suite of five clean rooms. The
pathology laboratory is approximately 1,100 square feet. The Europa facility tocated in Guildford, United Kingdom contains
approximately 3,400 square feet of leased office and warehousing space.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings. . . .

Product Liability Claims ‘ ... o e
In the normal course of business.as a medical device and services company, the Company has product liability complaints
filed against it. As of February 16, 2007 the Company was aware of three. pending product liability. lawsmts The lawsuits are
currently in the pre-discovery or discovery stages. Of these lawsuits, two allege product liability claims a.nsmg out of the
Company's allograft heart valve tissue services, and one alleges a product liability claim arising from the Company’s allograft
orthopaedic tissue services. S

Two of the outstanding product liability lawsuits against the Company are not covered by insurance, as the claimed loss date
was prior to the effective coverage date for its insurance policy. Additional uninsured claims may be filed,in the future. Other
product liability claims have been asserted against the Company that have not resulted in lawsuits as of February 16,2007. The
Company is monitoring these clatms. , . e C

The Company performed an analysis as of December 31, 2006 of the settled but unpaid claims and the pending product
liability ctaims based on settiement negotiations to date and advice from counsel. As of December 31, 2006 the Company had
accrued a total of approximately $330,000 for pendmg product liability. The $330,000 accrual is 1ncluded as a component ‘of
accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the December 31, 2006 Consolidated Balance Sheet. Thls amount represents
the Company's estimate of the probable losses related to onc of the three pending product liability claims. "The Company has not
recorded an accrual for the remaining two product liability claims because management has concluded that cither a loss is remote
or that, although a loss is reasonably possible or probable, a reasonable estimate of that loss or the mnge of losses cannot be
made at this time. As of December 31, 2005 the Company had accrued a total of approx1mate]y $1.5 million for settled but
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unpaid claims and pending product liability claims and recorded $244,000 representing amounts to be recovered from the
Company's insurance carriers.” The $1.5 million accrual is included as & component of accrued expénses and other current
lrabllmes on the December 31, 2005 Conso]ndated Balance Sheet v e R BT

If the Company is-unable to settle one or more of the product liability lawsuits in which the Company is a defendant, and-if
any such lawsuit should be tried with a substantial verdict rendered in favor of the plaintifi(s), there can be no assurance that:
such verdict(s) would not exceed the'Company’s available liquid assets. ‘Additionally, thé Company does not have a reasonable
method for estimating the amount of compensatory or punmve damages that could be assessed by a trial jury with respect to any
lawsuit that it is unable to settle prior to trial, and the Company s product liability insurance policies do not include coverage for
any pumtrve damages.' Failure by the Company to resolve the outstanding product liability claims within its ability to pay would
have a material adverse effect on the financial position, results of operatrons and cash ﬂows of the Company .

Yo H ' L] ™, . BEETE - .o ST ERPEL L

On Aprll 1, 2006 the Company bound coverage for the 2006/2007 insuranceé pollcy year! This polrcy isa four -year claims-
made insurance policy, i.e. claims incurred during the period April 1, 2003 through March 31, 2007 and reportéd during the
period April 1, 2006 th:ough March 31, 2007 are covered by this pollcy Clarms incurred pnor to Aprll 1,2003 that have not
been reported are uninsured. o Tl

The Company maintains clairhs-made insurarice policies to mitigaté its financial exposure'to product lrablllty claims. -
Claims-made insurance policies generally cover only those asserted claims and incidents that are reported to the insurance carrier
while the policy is'in effect:’ Thus, a claims-made’ polrcy does not generally represent a- transfer of risk for claims and incidents «
that have been incurred but not reported to the insurarice carrier during the policy period. :The Company periodically evaluates
its exposure to unreported product liability claims and records accruals as necessary for the estimated cost of unreported claims
related to services performed and products used. In January 2007 the Company retained an independent actuarial firm to
perform revised estimates of the unreported claims as of December 31, 2006. The independent firm estimated the unreported
product loss liability using a fréquency-severity approach, whereby projected losses were calculated by multiplying the estimated
number of clalms by the estimated average cost per claim. The estimated claims were: -calculated based ou the reported clalrn
development method'and the’ Bomhuetter-Ferguson method usmg a blend of the Company's historical claim experience and -
mdustry datd. The estimated cost per'claim was calculatéd using a lognormal claims modél blending the Company's hlstorrcal -
average cost per claim with industry claims data.” The independent actuarial firm used a nuinber of assumptiohs'in orderto -+
estimate the unreported product loss liability including: "

o A ceiling of $5.0 million was selected for actuarial purposes in determining the liability per claim given the uncertainty
in prOJectmg claim losses in excess of $5.0 mrlllon

s ~The future claim reportmg lag tlme would be a blend of the Company s experlences and 1ndustry data

v ! "

¢ The frequency of unreported claims for accident years 2001 through-2006 would be lower thai-the Company s -
éxperiénce in the 2002/2003 polrcy year but hlgher than the Company ] hlstoncal claun frequency pnor to the
! 2002/2003 pollcy year - _
R TR _..;., my ; v ..,l oy .“ . .
o The average cost per claim would be' lower thari the Company’s expériénce since the 2002/2003 pollcy year but hlgher
" than the Company s hlstorlcal cost per ¢laim pnor to the 2002/2003 polrcy year T3 "

L I

o The average cost per BioGlue claim'would bé consistent wrth the Cornpanys overall hlstoncal exposures untrl adequate
'hlstoncal data is avarlable on this product lirie, and - . veo. ‘ :

oo . o B o

e The number of BioGlue claims per million dollars of BioGlue revenue would be 40% lower than non-BioGlue clarms
‘ per million doltdrs of revetiue. The 40% factor was selected based on BioGlue clalms experrence to-date and
‘ consultation with the actuary. - AN c e e T
[ L AN I TR . ! : : R R . .

The Company believes that these assumptions provide a reasonable basis for the calculation of the unreported product
liability loss, but accuracy of the actuarial firm's estimates is limited by the general uncertainty that exists for any estimate of
future activity due to uncertainties surrounding the assumptions used and due to Company specrf' ic conditions, including the
Company's increased litigation activity following the FDA Order, the Company's 1ow-volumé of pre-FDA.-Order historical
claims, and the scarcity of industry data directly relevant to the Company's business activities. Due to these factors, actual results
may differ significantly from the assumptions used and amounts accrued.
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Based on the actuarial valuation performed in January 2007 as of December 31, 2006, the Company estimated that its
liability for unreported product liability claims was $6.6 million as of December 31, 2006. In accordance with Emerging Issues -
Task Force Issue 03-§, the Company has accrued $6.6 million, representing the Company’s best estimate of the totat liability for
unreported product liability claims related to services performed and products sold prior to December 31, 2006. The $6.6
million balance is included as a component of accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $3.3 million and other long-term
liabilities of $3.3 million on the December 31, 2006 Consoclidated Balance Sheet. Further.analysis indicated that the liability
could be estimated to be as high as $12.3 million, after including a reasonable margin for statistical fluctuations calculated based
on actuarial simulation techniques. Based on the actuarial valuation, the Company estimated that as of December 31, 2006, $2.3
million of the accrual for unreported liability claims .would be recoverable under the Company's insurance policies. .The $2.3
million insurance recoverable is included as a component of other reccivables of $1.1 million and other long-term assets of $1.2
million on the December 31, 2006 Consolidated Balance Sheet. These amounts represent management's estimate of the probable
losses and anticipated recoveries for unreported product liability claims related to services performed and products sold prior to
December 31, 2006. Actual results may differ from this estimate. -

Lo B R N Y

As of December 31, 2005 the Company accrued $7.5 million for unreported product liability claims and recorded a
receivable of $2.5 million for unreported liability claims estimated to be recoverable under the Company’s insurance
policies. - This $7.5 million accrual is included as a component of accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $3.8 -
million and other long-term liabilities of $3.7 million on the December 31, 2005 Consolidated Balance Sheet. The $2.5
million insurance recoverable is included as a component of other current receivables of $1.1 million and other long-term
assets of $1.4 million on the December 31, 200§;C0nsolidatcd Balance Sheet. ..
Insurance Coverage Dispute . N _— T . -

In September 2006 the Company favorably settled Insurance coverage dlsputes w1th former i msurance carriers for 32. l
million, net of associated legal fees. The disputes involved losses stemming from approximately $11.3 million paid in 2005
by the Company in settlement-of outstanding claims. No party admitted any hab:llty as part of the September 2006 |
scitlement. The net procceds of $2.1 million were received in Qctober 2006 and are included as a component of genera!
administrative, and marketing expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31,

2006. G e,
SEC Investigation

On August 19, 2002 the Company issued a press release announcing that on August 17, 2002, the Company received a letter
from the Atlanta District Office of the SEC inquiring about certain matters relating to the Company's August 14, 2002
announcement of the FDA Order. The SEC notified the Company in July 2003 that the inquiry became a formal investigation in
June 2003. CryoLife cooperated with this investigation both before and after the issuance of the formal order of investigation in
June 2003 and intends to continue doing so. CryoLife voluntarily reported the names of six employees and former employees to
the SEC in December 2002 after discovering they had apparently sold CryoLife shares on August 14, 2002, before trading was
halted pending CryoLife's press release reporting the FDA Order. These individuals were not and are not executive officers of
CryoLife. The formal order of investigation indicates that the SEC's scope includes whether, during 2002, among other things,
CryoLife or others may have traded while in possession of material nonpublic information, made (or caused to be made} false or
misleading statements or omissions in press releases and SEC filings, and failed to maintain accurate records and adequate
controls. The investigation could also encompass matters not specifically identified in the formal order. On September 15,

2005 the SEC announced that it had commenced proceedings in federal district court against certain of the above-referenced
former and current employees (and certain of their spouses) for alleged illegal insider trading arising out of their August 14,
2002 trading activities. Those proceedings resulted in settlements with the SEC. As of the date hereof, the SEC has had no
discussions with CryoLife as to whether the SEC will seek relief against CryoLife, or the nature of any relief that may be sought.
At present, CryoLife is unable to predict the ultimate focus, its current status, outcome of the investigation, or when it will be
completed. An unfavorable outcome could have a material adverse effect on CryoLife's reputation, business, financial position,
results of operations, and cash flows. . . ] _ . L . D

4
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Item 4. Submissioh of Matters to Vote:df Security Hnlders_. o ‘ ) , R
[, . , . '

Inapplicable. . Co L L .
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ltem 4A. Executive Ofl" icers of the Reglstrant oo

The following table llsts the executive officers of CryoLife and their ages, positions with CryoLlfe and the dates from
which they have continually served as executive officers with CryoLife. Each of the exécutive officers of CryoLife was elected

by the Board of Directors to serve until the Board of Directors’ meeting immediately- followmg the next annual meeting of

shareholders or untll his earlier removal by the Board of Directors or his remgnatlon
i . . - v L [

Service as
Name Executive Age Position
Steven G. ANAErSON ..ccoveveeeeeeeeeeirrsrieeeeereeeeeees Si0CE 1984 68  President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman
David M. Fronk..........cceveivnreeeenenoneeorisinennnns. 9i0CE 1998 43 Vice President, Regulatory Affairs and Quality
Assurance
Albert E. Heacox, Ph.D. ..o vvicvvrivsinieveeeeeee. 3ince 1989 56  Senior Vice President, Research and Development
D. Ashley Lee, CPA ..ooovoooreervercrsnssvesssnenceeneee 9ince 2000 42 Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer,
and Chief Financial Officer
Gerald B. SEery.......ovvveroormereveerereenssesssiessesermeneeee. 9iNC€ 2005 50 Senior Vice President Sales and Marketing

Steven G. Anderson, a founder of CryoLife, has served as CryoLife’s President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Board of Directors since its inception. Mr. Anderson has more than 35 years of experience in the implantable medical device
industry. Prior to founding CryoLife, Mr. Anderson was Senior Executive Vice President and Vice President, Marketing, from
1976 until 1983 of Intermedics, Inc. (now Guidant Corp.), a manufacturer and distributor of pacemakers and other medical
devices. Mr. Anderson is a graduate of the University of Minnesota. '

David M. Fronk was appointed to the position of Vice President of Regulatory Affairs and Quality Assurance in April 2005 and
has been with the Company since 1992, serving as Vice President of Clinical Research from December 1998 to April 2005 and
Director of Clinical Research from December 1997 until December 1998. Mr. Fronk is résponsible for developing and
implementing improved safety processes and procedures for new and existing medical products. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Fronk held engineering positions with Zimmier Inc. from 1986 until 1988 and Baxter Healthcare Corporation from 1988
until 1991. Mr. Fronk served as a market manager with Baxter Healthcare Corporation from 1991 until 1992. Mr. Fronk
received his B.S. in Mechanical Engineering from the Ohio State University in 1985 and his M.S. in Biomedical Engineering
from the Ohio State University in 1986.

Albert E. Heacox, Ph.D., was appointed to the position of Senior Vice President of Research and Development in December
2004, Dr. Heacox has been with the Company since June 1985 and served as Vice President of Laboratory Operations from
June 1989 to December 2004. Dr. Heacox was promoted to Senior Vice President in December of 2000. Dr. Heacox has been
responsible for developing protocols and procedures for both cardiovascular and connective tissues, implementing upgrades in
procedures in conjunction with the Company’s quality assurance programs and overseeing all processing and production
activities of the Company’s laboratories. Dr. Heacox is now responsible for the continued development of the Company’s
current products as well as the evaluation of new technologies. Prior to joining the Company, Dr. Heacox worked as a
researcher with the U.S. Department of Agriculture and North Dakota State University, developing methods for the preservation
of cells and animal germ plasma storage. Dr. Heacox received a B.A. and an M.S. in Biology from Adelphi University, received
his Ph.D. in Biology from Washington State University and completed his post-doctorate training in cell biology at the
University of Cologne, West Giermany.

D. Ashley Lee, CPA, has served as Executive Vice President, Chief Operating Officer, and Chief Financial Officer since
November 2004. Mr. Lee has been with the Company since December 1994 serving as Vice President of Finance, Chief
Financial Officer, and Treasurer from December 2002 to November 2004; as Vice President Finance and Chief Financial Officer
from April 2000 to December 2002; and as Controller of the Company from December 1994 until April 2000. Mr. Lee is
responsible for the financial affairs of the Company, as well as investor and corporate communications, legal affairs,
manufacturing operations, information technology, human resources, and risk management. From 1993 to 1994, Mr. Lee served
as the Assistant Director of Finance for Compass Retail Inc, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Equitable Real Estate, From 1987 to
1993, Mr. Lee was employed as a certified public accountant with Ernst & Young, LLP. Mr. Lee received his B.S. in
Accounting from the University of Mississippi.
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Gerald B. Seery has served as Scnior Vice President of Sales and Marketing since October 2005. Mr. Seery has been with
the Company since July 1993 serving as Vice President of International Operations from July 2005 to October 2005,
President of CryoLife Europa from April 2002 to July 2005, President of AuraZyme from March 2001 to April 2002, and
Vice President of Marketing from August 1995 to March 2001. Mr. Seery is responsible for developing and implementing
the Company's sales and marketing plans and supervising all tissue procurement activities. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Seery held senior marketing management positions with Meadox Medicals from 1982 until 1985, Electro Catheter .
Corporation from 1985 until 1989 and Daig, Corporation from 1992 until 1993, accumulating fifteen years of specialized
marketing experience in cardiovascular medical devices. Mr. Seery received his BA in International Economics at The - .,
Catholic University of America in Washington, D.C. in 1978 and completed his MBA at Columbia University in New York
in 1980. . »
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Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equi
Securities.

Market Price of Common Stock

K IR Y e .

The Company’s Common Stock is traded on'th

Do i
2006 L
First quarter
Second quarter.. -
Third quarter .
Fourth quarter.

b

2005 .
First quarter
Second quarter
. Third quarter
* Fourth quarter

é'
table sets.forth; for the periods indicated, the-intra-day high and low sale prices per share of Co

PART 11

+

ty, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity

L L

P ? i

symbol “CRY.” The following

W York Stock Exchange

[ A

Ne under the symb

mmon. Stock on the NYSE.
h 565 % 2.95
5.50 4.25
3 6.90. 5.07
| 7.80 5.70
., s+ _High = __low
$ 860 8 586
8.28 570 4 .
) . B . B.05 ¥y 6.41
L , 7.20 :3:10

As of February 16, 2007 the Company had 503 shareholders of record.

The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends on its common stock. The Company currently intends to

t

retain any future earnings for funding its capital requirements and, therefore, does not anticipate paying any, cash dividends

on its Common Stock in the foreseeable future. The

holders of any outstanding shares of 6% convertible preferred stock . -

issued by the Company have a preference as to the payment of dividends over the holders of shares of common stock., The
holders of other shares of preferred stock that the Company may choose to issue could also have a preference as to the
payment of dividends over the holders of common stock. See discussions of the Company’s debt and limitations on the
payment of dividends in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and-Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —

Liquidity and Capital Resources™ and Item 8, “Note

" The following table provides, information about

6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements™.

pufchas'es by the Company during the quarter ended December 31, 2006

of equity securities that are registered by the Company pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act:

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

PR

i

Common Stock .
Total Number : R
T of Common Shares  Maximum Number :
N 3 v T Purchased as of Common Shares
Total Number of  Average Price  Part of Publicly That May Yet Be
Common Shares Paid per Announced Purchased Under_ . ;
Periad . Purchased . ——Programs ~  ___the Programs _ -
10/01/06 - 10/31/06 - 8. -- .- --
11/01/06 — 11/30/06 Le1,518 6.30 - . ==
12/01/06 — 12/31/06 == -- - v
Total : 1,518 3 6.30 - o ed -

-

The Company currently has no stock repurchase program, publicly announced or otherwise. The common shares shown

were tendered to the Company in payment of the exercise price of outstanding options.

-

I

L p
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6% Convertible Preferred Stock

The Company did not repurchase any shares of its 6% convertible preferred stock in the quarter ended December 31,
2006. - .0 o4 i 1 S A } . R

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
] - .

The following table provides information as of Decernber 31, 2006 with respect to shares of CryoLife common stock that
may be issued under existing equity compensation plans. CryoLife’s Board of Directors in the past has awarded grants of
options to ¢xecutive officers and employees.on a case-by-case basis when sufficient shares were not available under equity
compensation plans approved by sharcholders., CryoLife does not intend to continue this practice except to the extent that shares
are otherwise unavailable under sharcholder-approved plans and the grants are permitted by applicable NYSE rules. .

Number of Securities Remaining
Number of Securities to be  Weighted Average Available for Future Issuance
Issued Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Under Equity Compensation
.- Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Plans (Excluding Securities
' (a) (b) (©).

Plans approved by shareholders 2,129,570 $ -6.98 . . 1,901,336
Plans not approved by shareholders 58925 % 18.62 g R -
Total i 2 188 405 b 129 : - 1.901 334

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

1

" “The following Selected Financial Data should be read in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated financial
staternents and notes thereto, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
and other financial information included elsewhere in this Report or.incorporated herein by reference. :

i Selected Financial Data
*+ - (in thousands, except percentages and per share data)

i . N oo I3

Decemhber 3t

RN L 2006 . 2005 2004 2003 2002
Operations o L S ' S .
Revenues $ 81,311 $§ 69282 § 6238 $ 59532 $§ 77,795
Net income (loss) 365 (19,535 - (18,749) . (32,294) (27,761)
Net loss applicable to common shareholders (608) (20,312) (18,749} (32,294) (27,761)
Research and development as a percentage of revenues * = 4.4% 5.4% 6.3% 6.1% 5.9%
Loss Per Common Share e B
Basic . e T . $§ (©02) § (085 S (081) § (164 $ (1.43)
Diluted T e § (002) § (@85 % (081 $ (1.64) 3§ (143
. L e T . . v
Year-End Financial:Position v : « L ST,
Total assets " ... B $ 79865 $. 76,809-% 73,261 .§ 75027 § 106414
Working capital ) 26,472 23,922 15,689 14,790 - 39,385
Long term liabilities 4,864 4,909 5629 * 5716 '+ 4,552
Convertible preferred stock - 3 . 3 -- . - .-
Shareholders’ equity 52,088 250,621 49,660 48,338 79,800
Current ratio’ 2:1 2:1 2:1 2:1 3:1

Shareholders’ equity per diluted common share $ 210 % 211. % 216 $..- 246 §%. 4.11

-4 i . e . e

' Current assets divided by current liabilities.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
1 . 1 . i ' . : e : .

Overview

For CryolLife Inc., (“CryoLife” or the “Company”), the year ended December 31, 2006 brought a return to profitability
as CryoL.ife reported net income for the year ended December. 31, 2006. The fourth quarter of 2006 was a strong quarter for
the Company, as product and preservation services revenues for the quarter reached a four-year high and BioGlue quarterly
revenues-reached an all time high for the Company. -For the year ended December 31, 2006 revenues increased for each of
CryoLife’s three tissue types, cardiovascular, vascular, and orthopaedic and alse for BioGlue, resulting in an increase in
product and preservation services revenues of 17% over 2005. e

The year ended December 31,2006 also brought the resolution of some legal matters still outstanding as a result of the
FDA Order as defined in Part I, Item 1, “Business” and other FDA activity. During the third quarter of 2006 the Company
recognized a net $2.1 million gain related to the settlement of insurance coverage disputes. The Company also recorded
favorable adjustments during 2006 to reduce the levels of its legal reserves for unreported product liability claims in
accordance with new actuarial valuations, as the amount of new product liability claims brought against the Company and
the expense related to product liability claims continued to decline from the levels experienced in 2002 and 2003.

During the fourth quarter of 2006 the Company began focusing its efforts on new strategic initiatives. On November 2,
2006 the Company announced the successful conclusion of its strategic review begun in January 2006 at the request of the
Company’s Board of Directors and with the assistance of Piper Jaffray & Co. As a result of this review, the Board of
Directors directed management 1o actively pursue three key strategies in addition to continuing to focus on growing its
business and leveraging its strengths and expertise in its core marketplaces. These three strategies are designed to generate
revenue and eamings growth: identify and evaluate acquisition opportunities of complementary product lines and companies,
license Company technology to third parties for non-competing uses, and anaiyze and identify underperforming assets for
potential sale or disposal. Subsequent to conclusion of this strategic review, the Company has announced several initiatives
which management believes will benefit the Company with future revenue and eamings growth. Agreements reached with
BioForm Medical, Inc., Regeneration Technologies Inc. (“RTI”), Cleveland Clinic, and MAST Biosurgery, Inc. are
discussed in more detail in Part [, Item I, “Business”. The Company is continuing to review opportunities to implement its
three key strategies and enhance the Company’s performance in the coming years.

See Part I, Item 1, “Business,” for further discussion of the Company’s business and activities during 2006.
Recent Events '~ .. .. - ‘ S T e L

On December 19, 2006 CryoLife announced that they had entered into an exchange and service agreement with
Regeneration Technologies, Inc., and certain of its affiliates, (collectively, "RTI"), respecting procurement; processing,-and
distribution activities for cardiovascular and vascular tissue processed and distributed by RTI and orthopaedic tissue for the
knee processed and distributed by CryoLife (“RTI Agreement”). According to the RTI Agreement, CryoLife ceased
accepting for processing donated human orthopaedic tissue commencing January 1, 2007 and will work to-transition existing
arrangements for recovery of human orthopaedic tissue to RTI. Likewise, on January 1, 2007 RTI ceased accepting donated
human cardiovascular and vascular tissues for processing and will work to transition its arrangements for recovery of these
tissues to CryoLife: Certain physical assets relating to the tissues that are the subject of the agreement may also be -
transferred between the parties. No cash was exchanged in the transaction. CryoLife will continue to distribute its existing
orthopaedic tissue inventory, and RTI will continue to distribute its existing cardiovascular and vascular tissue inventory,
through June 30, 2008. After that date CryoLife will become entitled to distribute RTI's remaining cardiovascular and
vascular tissue inventory, and RTI will become entitled to distribute CryoLife's remaining orthopaedic tissue inventory, fora
fee.- Under the RTI Agreement, from July 1, 2008 through December 31, 2016, except as set forth above, CryoLife has

. agreed not to market or solicit orders for certain human orthopaedic tissues and RTI has agreed not to market or solicit orders

for human cardiac and vascular tissues. The agreement also provides for a non-exclusive license of technology from.,
CryoLife to RTI, and contains customary provisions regarding indemnification and confidentiality.

Critical Accounting Policies

A summary of the Company’s significant accounting policies is included in Item 8, “Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.” Management believes that the consistent application of these policies enables the Company to
provide users of the financial statements with useful and reliable information about the Company’s operating results and
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financial condition. The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the U.S., which require the Company to make estimates and assumptions. The following are accounting policies
that management believes are most important to the portrayal of the Company’s financial condition and results and may
involve a higher degree of judgment and complexity.

Product Liability Claims: In the normal course of business as a medical device and services company; the Company has
product liability complaints filed against it. As of February 16, 2007 the Company was aware of three pending product liability
lawsuits. The lawsuits are currently in the pre-discovery or discovery stages. Of these lawsuits, two.allege product liability
claims arising out of the Company s allograft heatt valve tissue services, and one al!eges a product liability claim arising from
allograft orthopaedic tissue services.

Two of the outstanding product liability lawsuits against the Company are not covered by insurance policies, as the claimed
loss date was prior to the effective coverage date for the insurance policy. Additional uninsured claims may be filed in the
future. Other product liability claims have been asserted against the Company that have not resulied in lawsuits as of February
16,2007. The Company is monitoring these claims, | -

The Company performed an analysis as of December 31, 2006 of the settled but unpaid claims and the pending product
liability claims based on seitlement negotiations to date and advice from counsel. As of December 31, 2006 the Company had
accrued a total of approximately $330,000 for pending product liability claims. The $330,000 accrual is included as a
component of accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the December 31, 2006 Censolidated Balance Sheet. : This
amount represents the Company's estimate of the probable losses related to one of the three pending product liability claims. The
Company has not recorded an accrual for the remaining two product liability claims because management has concluded that
either a loss is remote or that, although a loss is reasonably possible or probable, a reasonable estimate of that loss or the range of
losses cannot be made at this time. As of December 31, 2005 the Company had accrued a total of approximately $1.5 million for
settled but unpaid claims and pending product liability claims and recorded $244,000 representing amounts to be recovered from
the Company's insurance carriers. The $1.5 million accrual is included as a component of accrued expenses and other current
liabilities on the December 31, 2005 Consolidated Balance Sheet

If the Company 15 unable to settle one or more of the product liability lawsuits in which the Company is a defendant, and if
any such lawsuit should be tried with a substantial verdict rendered in favor of the plaintiff(s), there can be no assurance that
such verdict(s) would not exceed the Company’s available liquid assets. Additionally, the Company does not have a reasonable
method for estimating the amount of compensatory or punitive damages that could be assessed by a trial jury with respect to any
lawsuit that it is unable to settle prior to trial, and the Company’s product liability insurance policies do not include coverage for
any punitive damages. Failure by the Company to resolve the outstanding product liability claims within its ability to pay would
have a material adverse effect on the financial posmon results of operations, and cash ﬂows of the Company.

1
'

On April 1, 2006 the Company bound coverage for the 2006/2007 insurance policy year. This pollcy is a four-year claims-
made insurance policy, i.e. claims incurred during the period-April.1, 2003 through March 31, 2007 and reported during the
period Apnl 1, 2006 through March 31, 2007 are covered by this policy. Claims incurred pnor to April 1, 2003 that have not
been reported are uninsured. : )

The Company maintains claims-made insurance policies to mitigate its financial exposure to product liability claims.
Claims-made insurance policics generally cover only those asserted claims and incidents that are reported to the insurance carrier
while the policy is in effect. Thus, a claims-made policy does not generally represent a transfer of risk for claims and incidents
that have been incurred but not reported to the insurance carrier during the policy period. The Company periodically evaluates
its exposure to unreported product liability claims and records accruals as necessary for the estimated cost of unreported claims
related to services performed and products used. In January 2007 the Company retained an independent actuarial firm to
perform revised estimates of the unreported claims as of December 31, 2006. The independent firmn estimated the unreported
product loss liability using a frequency-severity approach, whereby projected losses were calculated by multiplying the estimated
number of claims by the estimated average cost per claim. The estimated claims were calculated based on the reported claim
development method and the Bornhuetter-Ferguson method using a blend of the Company's historical claim experience and
industry data. The estimated cost per claim was calculated using a lognormal claims mode! blending the Company's historical
average cost per claim with industry claims data. The independent actuarial firm used a number of assumptions in order to
estimate the unreported product loss liability including:
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¢ A ceiling of $5.0 million was selected for actuarial purposes in determining the liability per claim given the uncertainty
in pr0jectmg clalm losses in excess of $5 { million, L

~ o The future clalm reportmg lag time would be a blend of the Company's expenences and mdustry data

o The frequency of unreported claims for accrdent years 2001 through 2006 would be lower than the Company's
" expenence in the 2002/2003 policy year, but hlgher than the Company's hlstoncal claim frequency prior to the.
2002/2003 pollcy year . S
. o - The-average cost per claim would be 1ower than the Company’s experience since the 2002/2003 pohcy year but hlgher
than the Companys historical cost per clalm prior to the 2002/2003 policy year, - “
e The average cost per BioGlue claim would be consrstent with the Company s overall hlstoncal eXposures untll adequate
historical data 15 avallable on this product line, and

r 3

o The number of BioGlue claims per million dollars of BioGlue revenue would be 40% lower than non-BioGlue claims -
per million dollars of revenue. .The 40% factor was selected based on BioGlue claims experience to-date and
consultanon with the actuary

oo . t : e ! e
The Company belteves that these assumptions provide a reasonable bas;s for the calculatlon of the unreported product
liability loss, but accuracy of the actuarial firm's estimates is litnited by the general uncertainty that exists for any estimate of .
fusture activity due to uncertainties surrounding the assumptions used and due to Company specific conditions, including the
Company's increased litigation activity following the FDA Order, the Company's low volume.of pre-FDA Order historical
claims, and the scarcity of industry data directly relevant to the Company's business activities. Due to these factors, actual resulis
may differ significantly from the assumptions used and amounts accrued .

Based on the actuarial valuation performed in January 2007 as of December 31, 2006 the Company estimated that its
liability for unreported product liability claims was $6.6 million. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 03-8, the
Company has accrued $6.6 million, representing the Company’s best estimate of the total liability for unreported product liability
claims related to services performed and products sold prior to December 31, 2006. ‘The $6.6 million balance is included asa
component of accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $3.3 million and other long-term liabilities of $3.3 million on the
December 31, 2006 Consolidated Balance Sheet. Further analysis indicated that the liability could be estimated to be as high as
$12.3 mrlllon, after including a reasonable margin for statistical fluctuations calculated based on actuarial simulation techniques.

Based on the acfuarial valuation, the Company estimated that as of December.31, 2006, $2.3 million of the accrual for
unreported liability claims would be recoverable under the Company's insurance policies. The $2.3 million insurance
recoverable is included as a component of other receivables of $1.1 million and other long-term assets of $1.2 million on the
December 31, 2006 Consolidated Balance Sheet. These amounts represent management's estimate of the probable losses and
anticipated recoveries for unreported product liability clainis related to services performed and products sold prior to December
31, 2006. Actual results may differ from this estimate. o

- As of December 31, 2005 the Company accrued $7.5 million for unreported productliability claims-and recorded a
receivable of $2.5 million for unreported liability claims estimated to be recoverable under the Company’s insurance
policies. This $7.5 million accrual is included as a component of accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $3.8
million and other long-term liabilities of $3.7 million on the December 31, 2005 Consolidated Balance Sheet. The $2.5
million insurance recoverable is included as a component of other current receivables of $1.1 million and other long-term
assets of $1 4 mllhon on the December 31 2005 Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Deferred Preservation Casts By federal law, human tissues cannot be bought or sold. Therefore the tissues the Company
preserves and further processes cannot be held as inventory. . Tissue is procured from deceased human donors by organ and
tissue procurement agencies, which consign the tissue to the Company for processing, preservation, and distribution.

Preservation costs consist primarily of direct labor and materials (including laboratory expenses, tissue procurement fees,
freight-in charges, and fririge benefits} and indirect costs (including allocations of costs from departments that support processing
activities and facility allocations). Although the Company cannot own human tissue, the preservation process is a manufacturing
process that is accounted for in accordance with Accounting Research Bulletin No: 43 (“ARB 43”) Chapter 4, Inventory Pricing.
Preservation costs are stated at the lower of cost or market on a first-in, first-out basis and are deferred until revenue is -
recognized upon shipment of the tissue to the implanting facilities.
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The calculation of deferred preservation costs includes a high degree of judgment and complexity. The costs included in
deferred preservation costs contain several estimates due to the timing differences between the occurrence of the cost and
receipt of final bills for services. . Costs that contain estimates include tissue procurement fees; which are estimated based on
the Company’s contracts with independent procurement agencies, and freight-in charges, which are estimated based on the
Company’s prior experiences with these charges. These costs are adjusted for differences between estimated and actual fees
when invoices for these services are received. Management believes that its estimates approximate the actual costs of these
services, but estimates could differ from actual costs. Total deferred preservation costs are then allocated among the
different tissues processed during the period based on specific cost drivers such as the number of donors and the number of
tissues processed. At each balance sheet date a portion of the deferred preservation costs relates to tissues currently in active
processing or held in quarantine pending release to implantable status. The Company applies a yield estimate to all tissues in
process and in quarantine to estimate the portion of tissues that will ultimately become implantable. Management determines
this estimate of quarantine. yields based on its experience in prior periods and reevaluates this estimate periodically. Due to
the nature of this estimate and the length of the processing times experienced by the Company, actual yields could differ
from the Company’s estimates. A significant change in quarantine yields could materially impact the amount of deferred
preservation costs on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets and the cost of preservation services, including the lower
of cost or market write-down, described below; on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. -

The Company regularly evaluates its deferred preservation costs to determine if the costs are appropriately recorded at
the lower of cost or market value and to determine if thete are any impairments to the book value of the Company’s deferred
preservation costs. The Company recorded a write-down of $2.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2006 due to the,
impairment of certain orthopaedic tissues and processing materials as a result of the RTI Agreement discussed above. This
write-down is based on the Company’s estimate of the tissues that will be shipped during the 18-month period subsequent to
December 31, 2006 in which the Company can continue to distribute its orthopaedic tissues. The amount of tissues shipped
during that period could differ significantly from this initial estimate resulting in higher margins on shipments of orthopaedic
tissues during the 18-month period or additional write-downs in future periods.

\ i ! fa ,':l . . LI

The Company also recorded $1.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2006 and $1.8 million in the year ended
December 31, 2005 as an increase to cost of preservation scrvices to write-down the value of certain deferred tissue
preservation costs that exceeded market value. The amount of these write-downs are primarily due to excess current period
tissue processing costs that exceeded market value based on recent average service fees. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. - St T . S '

The Company regularly evaluates its deferred preservation costs to determine if an impairment in the wvalue of the
deferred preservation costs is required when the value of these tissues is not expected to be fully recoverable. A write-down
of $588,000 was recorded for the year,ended December 31, 2006 due to the impairment of certain orthopaedic tissues.

ot . . L ‘ et P \

As of December 31, 2006 deferred preservation costs consisted of $4.7 million for allograft heart valve tissues,
million for non-valved cardiac tissues, $11.3 million for vascular tissues, and $2.3 million for orthopaedic tissues.

$1.0

Deferred Income Taxes: Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
temporary differencés between the financial statement carrying amounts-of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax
bases. Deferred.tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted income tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled; A valuation allowance is established when it
is more likely than not that the full value of a deferred tax asset will not be recovered. - o -

D [ A Y e

The Company assesses the recoverability of its deferred tax assets on an annual basis, and on an interim basis, as

necessary, when the.Company experiences changes that could materially affect its determination of the recoverability of its
deferred tax assets. Management provides a valuation allowance when, as a result of this analysis, management believes it is
more likely than not that its deferred tax assets will not be realized. In assessing the recoverability of its deferred tax assets
at December 31, 2006 the Company reviewed its historical operating results, including the reasons for its operating losses in
prior years, and uncertainties regarding projected future operating results. Based on the results of this analysis, at December
31, 2006 the Company determined that it was more likely than not that the Company’s deferred tax assets would not be
realized. Therefore, as of December 31, 2006 the Company had a total of $33.0 million in valuation allowances against
deferred tax assets and a net deferred tax liability of $226,000 related to taxes in a foreign jurisdiction.

46




The realizability of the Company’s'deferred taxassets could be limited in future periods as mandated by Internal ..
Revenue Service Section 382. C

Vatuation of Long-lived and Intangible Assets and Goodwill: The Company assesses the impairment of its long-lived,
identifiable intangible assets and related goodwill annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may not be recoverable. Factors that management considers 1rnp0nant [hat could tngger an |mpa|rmem
review include the-following: . Do : g . o v

» Significant hnderperfonnance relative to expected historical ot projected future operating results; . RS

. . T .ot ’ - PR LT e
. Slgmf' cant negatwe industry or economic trends oo
T B .. ) N ’ \

. Slgmﬁcant decline in the Company s stock price for a sustalned perlod and e

. Slgnlﬁcant dcclme in the Company s market capnallzatlon relatlve to net book value. t ‘

- Statement of Financial Accountmg Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144 “Accountlng for the Impairment or Dlsposal of Lnng-
Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144”), requires the write-down of arlong-lived'asset to be held and used if the carrying value of the .
asset or the asset group to which the asset belongs is not recoverable. The carrying value of the asset or asset group is not
recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted future cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual
disposition of the asset or asset group. In applying'SFAS 144 the Company defined the specific asset groups used to perform
the cash flow. analysis. The Company-defined the asset groups at the lowest level possible; by-identifying the cash flows
from groups of assets that could be segregated from the cash flows of other assets and liabilitics. Using this methodology-the
Company determined that its asset groups consisted of the long-lived assets related to the Company’s two reporting -
segments. As the Company does not segrepaté assets by segment.the Company allocated assets to the two reporting
segments based on factors including facility space and revenues. The undiscounted future cash flows related to these asset
groups exceeded their carrying values as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and, therefore, management concluded that there
was not an impairment of the Company’s long-lived intangible assets and tangible assets related to the tissue preservation
business or medical device business. Management will continue to evaluate the recoverability of these assets in accordance
with SFAS 144,

SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” (“SFAS 142”), requires that goodwill resulting from business
acquisitions and other intangible assets be subject to periodic impairment testing. The Company’s intangible assets consist of
patents and trademarks. In addition, during 2006, the Company acquired customner lists, non-compete agreements, procurement
coniracts and access to the procurement of cardiovascular and vascular human tissues previously received by RTI as a result of
the RTI Agreement discussed in Recent Events above, The Company amortizes its definite lived intangible assets over their
expected useful lives using the straight-line method. As of Decemnber 31, 2006 and 2005 the Company did not believe that an
impairment existed related to its intangible assets.

Derivative Instruments: The terms of the Company’s first quarter 6% convertible Preferred Stock offering include a
Dividend Make-Whole Payment. [f the Company elects to automatically convert, or the holder elects to voluntarily convert,
some or all of the Preferred Stock into common stock prior to April 1, 2008, the Company will make an additional payment
on the Preferred Stock equal to the aggregate amount of dividends that would have been payable on the Preferred Stock
through and including April 1, 2008, less any dividends already paid on the Preferred Stock. The Dividend Make-Whole
Payment is payable in cash or, at the Company’s option, in shares of the Company’s common stock, or a combination of cash
and shares of common stock. In accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities” (*SFAS 133"), the Company is required to separate and account for, as an embedded derivative, the Dividend
Make-Whole Payment feature of the Preferred Stock, (the “Derivative”). As an embedded derivative instrument, the
Dividend Make-Whole Payment feature must be measured at fair value and reflected as a current liability on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Changes in the fair value of the Derivative are recognized as the line item change in valuation
of derivative as non-operating income/expense on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The accounting for derivatives is complex, and requires significant judgments and estimates in determining the fair value
in the absence of quoted market values. These estimates are based on valuation methodologies and assumptions deemed
appropriate in the circumstances. The fair value of the Dividend Make-Whole Payment feature is based on various
assumptions, including the estimated market volatility and discount rates. The use of different assumptions may have a
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material effect on the estimated fair value amount, which is reflected in the Company’s results of operations and financial
position.

New Accounting Pronouncements : Coe '

The Company will be required to adopt Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 48
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48”) for the fiscal year
beginning January 1, 2007. FIN 48 establishes a threshold for recognizing tax benefits if they are “more-likely-than-not” to
be upheld upon review by the appropriate taxing authority and the requirement that companies recognize the maximum
amount of tax benefit that has a “greater than 50 percent likelihood” of ultimately being realized. The cumulative effect of
adoption of this interpretation will be reported as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained eamings. The Company
does not anticipate that the adoption of FIN 48 will have a material affect on its results of operations or financial position,
although the Company is continuing to evaluate the full impact of the adoption of FIN 48, '

The Company will be required to adopt SFAS No. 157 “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS 1577) for the fiscal year
beginning January 1, 2008. SFAS 157 provides a single definition of fair value and a hierarchical framework for measuring
it, as well as establishing additional disclosure requirements about the use of fair value to measure assets and liabilities. The
Company is in the process of evaluating the impact of SFAS 157 on its results of operations and financtal position,

The Company was required to adopt Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB™) No.- 108, codified as SAB Topic 1.N,
“Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstateients When Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial
Statements” (“SAB 108”) for the year ended December 31, 2006. SAB 108 requires the use of both a balance sheet
approach and an income statement approach when quantifying and evaluating the materiality of a misstatement. Adjustment
to the financial statements is required if either approach results in quantifying a misstatement that is material. The adoption
of SAB 108 did not have an impact on the Company’s results of operations and financial position.
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Results of Operations s : o , Coe _ ‘ ;

(In thousands) G o C T
Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005
Revenues
. ) Three Months Ended B Twelve Months Ended
- December 31, i December 31
— 2 2005 2006 2005
Revenues 8 21,090 $ 17,961‘ 5 81,311 - §-- 69,282 |

Revenues increased 17% for the three months ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the three months ended
December 31, 2005, The increase was primarily dug to an increase in tissue preservatlon serv1ce revenues; as well as an
increase in BioGlue revenues as eornpared to the pnor year period. -+ S o Co

Revenues increased 17% for the twelve months énded December 31, 2006 as compared to the twelve months ended
December 31, 2005. The increase was primarily due to an increase in tissue preservatlon service revenues, as well as an
increase' in BioGlue revenues as compared to the prior year penod ) S R

T

A detalled discussion of the change in BioGlue revenues and in preservation service revenues for each of the three major
tissue types processed by the Company is presented below. .

BioGlue : : . : : - e
LT . - Three Months Ended - . ‘Twelve-Months Ended
- - December 31 — December 31, -
oo 2006 2008 206 - 2008 0 -
Revenues ... . 8 .10491 $ 9645 - S 40,025 . § . 37985
BioGlue revenues as a . . . ) o !
percentage of total revenue .- :  30% 54% - .o 49% . C55%

Revenues from the sale of BioGlue increased 9% for the three months ended December 31, 2006-as compared to the three
months ended December 31, 2005. This increase was primarily due to an increase in average selling prices, which increased
revenues by 5%, a 2% increase in the amount of BioGlue milliliters shipped, which increased revenues by 3%, and the effect
of foreign currency exchange which increased revenues by 1%.

‘ . O . . .

Revenues from the sale. of BioGlue increased 5% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the .
twelve months ended December 31, 2005 This increase was pnmar:ly due to an increase in average sellmg prlces which
increased revenues by 5%. ‘ :

The increase in average selling prices for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2006 was primarily due to |
list price increases that went into effect in January and July 2006 domestically and in certain international markets. The
increase in BioGlue volume for the three months ended December 31, 2006 was primarily due.to an increase-in unit
shipments of BioGlue syringes partially offset by a decrease in BioGlue cartridge products, as more customers transition to
the newer BioGlue syringe products, and a decrease in accessory sales. Accessory sales were negatively impacted by the
success of the BioGlue syringe product, which does not utilize a separate delivery device or require the purchase of separate
applicator tips, although a variety of optional applicator tips are available for the BioGlue syringe.

Domestic revenues accounted for 74% of total BioGlue revenues for both the three and twelve months ended December
31, 2006, and 75% and 76% of total BioGlue revenues for the three and twelve months ended December 30, 2005,.
respectively. .
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The Company anticipates that BioGlue revenues in 2007 will continue to increase due in part to domestic price increases
that went into effect on July 1, 2006 and January 1, 2007 and due to projected unit growth in domestic and international
markets.

Cardiovascular Preservation Services

Three Months Ended Twelve Months End-ed

: , December 31, December 31,
- . 2006 - 2008 20066 2005
. Revenues j $ 4438 . $ 3,355 $ 15988 § 13,762
Cardiovascular revenues as a - o T : . R
percentage of total revenue - 21% 19% 20% 20%

+ ' : S L ) P S

Revenues from cardiovascular preservatlon services increased 32% for the three months ended Dccember 31, 2006 as
compared to the three months ended December 31, 2005. This increase was primarily due to an increase in average service
fees, which increased revenues by 18%, and a 20% increase in unit shipments of cardiovascular tissues, which increased
revenues by 14% : S ! ! :

* - T ) ° " - - i .. . R 'S . : b

Revenues from cardiovascular preservation services increased 16% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 as
compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2005. This increase was primarily due to an increase in average service
fees, which increased revenues by 10%, and a-15% increase in unit shipments of cardlovascular tissues, which increased
revenues by 6%. : : :

The increase in average service fees for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2006 was primarily due to the
fee increases that went into effect in January 2006 on all cardiac tissues and in July 2006 on certain non-valved cardiac
tissues. The increase in cardiovascular volume for the threé and twelve months ended December 31, 2006 was primarily due
to increased shipments of pulmornary valves and non-valved cardiac tissues. To a lesser extent, the three months ended
December 31, 2006 also exhibited an’increase in aortic valve shipments.” The increases in cardiac shipments were a result of
increased availability of tissues due to improvements in procurement and tissue processing yields and due to strengthening
demand for the Company’s tissues, particularly in the pediatric cardiac market. The increases in the number of tissue
shipments did not result in proportional increases in cardiovascular revenues due to a shift in product mix, as the increases
were primarily experienced in products with smaller per unit revenues than the average cardiovascular tissue. * -

The Company’s procurement of cardiac tissues, from which heart valves and non-valved cardiac tissues are processed,
increased 13% forthe three months ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the three months ended December 31,.2005,
and 12% for the twelve months ended Decémber 31; 2006 as compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2005.. -,

The Company anticipates that cardiovascular service revenues in 2007 will increase due in part to the continuing effect
of price increases that went into effect in 2006, price increases on certain non-valved cardiac tissues as of January 1, 2007,
and projected growth in cardiovascular tissue shipments during 2007, primarily as a result of expected increases in
procurement. The Company anticipates that procurement of cardiac tissues during 2007 will be favorably impacted by the
RTI Agreement discussed in Recent Events above as a result of the ant1c1pated transition of some or all of the tissue

procurement previously recewed by RTI to thc Company TN Py
o EPE - i . - Toaa ., T - ‘ . ]
Vascular Preservatian Services + T ¢ - T e o N
Cee Three Months Ended: s Twelve Months Ended:
e Ve December 31, - . <L December 31, -
Revenues ‘ : o 8§ 3,800 - § 3,172 .. § 16,956 $ - . 11,453
Vascular revenues asa © - i o Co : . - -. .
percentage of total revenue - 18% 18% 21% 17%

Revenues from vascular preservation services increased 23% for the three months ended December 31, 2006 as
compared to the three months ended December 31, 2005. This increase was primarily due to an increase in average service
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fees; which increased revenues'by 14%, and an 8% increase in unit shipments of vascular tissues, whlch increased revenues
by 9%. - P : : '

Revenues from vascular preservétion'serviees increased 48% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 as
compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2005. This increase was primarily due to a 30% increase in unit
shipments of vascular tnssues whlch increased revenues by 36%, and an increase in average service fees Wthh increased
revenues by ]2% - : ‘

The increase in vascular volume for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2006 is primdrily due to increases
in shipments of saphenous veins, due in part to increased availability of tissues as a result of improvements in procurement
levels and tissue processing yields, coupled with a strong demand for these tissues, primarily for use in peripheral vascular
reconstruction surgeries to avoid limb amputations. The increase in shipments of saphencus veins is a continuation of the’
favorable trend that began in the fourth quarter of 2005. The increase in average service fees for the three and twelve months
ended December 31 2006 was pnmanly due to the fee increases that went'into effect in January 2006 on all vaseular tissues.

Thé Company’s procuremernt of vascular tissues increased 14% for the three months ended December 31 2006 as
compared to the three months ended Deceémber 31, 2005, and 31% for thé twelve months ended December 31, 2006 as
compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2005.

The Company anticipates that vascular service revenues in 2007 'will increase due in part to the continuing effect of the
price inérease that went into effect in 2006, price increases as of January 1, 2007, and projected growth in vascular tissue -
shipmenits during 2007, as a résult of expected increases in procurement. The Company anticipates that procurement of
vascular tissues during 2007 will be favorably impacted by the RTI Agreement discusséd'in Recent Events above as a result
of the anticipated transition of some or all of the tissue procurement previously received by RT! to the Company.

1 - .

Orrho_paedic Preservation Services

- : D Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended
' R ! December 31, - December 31, .

S DY T "I 2005 2006 _ - 2008 -
Revenues $ 1,911 s 1,561 $ 7,134 $ 5,092
Orthopaedlc revenues as a "' R T £ c . :

' ‘percentage of total revenue v 9% 9% ' 9% - T %

Revenues from orthopaedic preservation services increased 22% for the three months ended December 31, 2006 as
compared to the three months ended December 31, 2005. This increase was primarily due to an increase in average service
fees, which increased revenues by 16%, and a 16% increase in unit shipments of orthopaedic tissues, which increased
revenues by 6%.

Revenues from orthopaedic preservation services increased 40% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 as
compared to the twelve months-endéd December-31, 2005, This increase was primarily due to a 24% increase in unit
shipments of orthopaedic tissues, which increased revenues by 26% and an increase in average service fees, which increased
revenues by 14%.

- The increase in average service fees for the three and twelve months ended-December 31, 2006 was primarily due to the
fee increases that went into effect in January 2006 on all orthopaedic tissues and in July 2006 for certain orthopaedic tissues.
The increase in orthopaedic volume for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2006 was primarily due to an
increase in shipments of boned tendons, d@nd to a lesser extent shipments of non-boned tendons and menisci, primarily due to
reestablishment of the Company’s presence in the orthopaedic tissue business and the rebuilding of the Company’s supply of
tissues available for shipment. The increase in orthopaedic volume for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 was
also due to an increase in shipments of osteochondral grafts, which were reintroduced in'a cryopreserved condition in the
first quarter of 2005,

LT PR s Lt

Until January 1, 2007 the Company procured orthopaedic tissues, which include knees, from thCh osteochondral grafts,
menisci, and boned tendons are processed, and individual tendons, which are primarily non-boned. The Company’s
procurement of all orthopaedic tissues decreased 13% for the three months ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the
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three months ended December 31, 2005, and increased 9% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 as compared to
the twelve months ended December 31, 2005. The Company’s procurement of knees decreased 26% for the three months
ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the three months ended December 31, 2005, and increased 9% for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2006 as compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2005.

The Company anticipates that orthopaedic service revenues in 2007 will decrease significantly from 2006 due to the
Company’s cessation of processing orthopaedic tissues on January 1, 2007 in accordance with the RTI Agreement discussed
in Recent Events above. Although under the RTI Agreement CryoLife will continue to ship its existing orthopacdic tissues
through June 30, 2008, the volume of orthopaedic tissue shipments is expected to decrease each quarter beginning with the
first quarter of 2007 as the higher demand tissues and sizes are exhausted from the existing tissue inventories.

Other Revenues |

Other revenues were $122,000 and $196,000 respectively, for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and
$43,000 for both the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2005. Other revenues for the three and twelve months
ended December 31, 2006 included revenues for research grants and revenues related to the licensing of the Company’s
technology to a third party. Other revenues for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2005 included revenues for
research grants, '

Grant revenues in 2005 and 2006 are related to funding received under the U.S. Congress 2005 Defense Appropriations
Conference Report, (the “2005 DOD Grant”), which included $926,000 for the development of protein hydrogel technology
for use on the battlefield. The Company applied for and was awarded the full $926,000 allocated under the 2005 DOD Grant
in connection-with its development of BioFoam®. The Company has received advances totaling $926,000 under this grant
during 2005 and 2006, and began recognizing revenues for expenses incurred related to this grant during the fourth quarter
of 2005. The Company is currently involved in the initial BioFoam animal trial funded by this grant revenue.

The U.S. Congress 2006 Defense Appropriations Conference Report included approximatety $2.3 million for the
continued development of protein hydrogel technology for use on the battlefield. CryoLife applied for funding for BioFoam
development under this bill in July 2006, but has not yet received notice of any award decision. The 2007 Defense
Appropriations Conference Report included approximately $1.0 million for the continued development of protein hydrogel
technology for use on the battlefield. CryoLife anticipates applying for funding under this bill during 2007.

The Company anticipates that other revenues in 2007 will increase over 2006 due to continuing recognition of the
Company’s licensing revenues during 2007 and an anticipated increase in grant revenues related to spending on BioFoam
research.

Costs and Expenses
Cost of }’roducrs

Cost of products was $1.9 million for both the three months ended:December 31, 2006 and 2005, representing 18% and
20%, respectively, of total product revenues during such periods. Cost of products was $7.5 million and $8.1 million for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, representing 18% and 21%, respectively, of total product
revenues during such periods.

The cost of products decreased for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and the cost of products as a percentage
of total product revenues decreased for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2006, primarily due to
improvements in BioGlue margins from period to period. These margin improvements were a result of improvements in
BioGlue average selling prices due to the price increases which went into effect in January and July 2006 and greater
manufacturing throughput, which reduced the per unit cost to produce BioGlue. Cost of products for the three months ended
December 31, 2006 was flat compared to the three months ended December 31, 2005 as the lower per unit cost to produce
BioGlue was offset by increases in BioGlue sales volume.

The Company anticipates that in 2007 cost of products will increase to reflect volume increases.

+
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Cost of Human Tissue Preservatmn Services '

y P A . o . . . . v
. N . v

Cost of human tissue preservation services was $9.2 million and $6.4 million for the three months ended December 31,
2006 and 2005, respectively, representing 90% and 79%, respectively, of total tissue preservation service revenues during
such periods.- Cost of human tissue preservation services for the three months ended December 31, 2006 includes the write-
down of $2:8 million dué to the impairment of certain orthopaedic tissues and processing materials as a result of the RTI
Agreement discussed above and the write-down of $140,000 of certain deferred preservation costs that exceeded market
value, Cost of human tissue preservation services for the three months ended December 31, 2005 includes the write-down of
$499,000 of certain’deferred preservation costs that exceeded market value. ’

- A v e g ' B : -‘ '

+Cost of human tissue preservation services was $30.0 million and $24.4 million for the twelve months ended December
31, 2006-and 2005, respectively, representing 75% and 80%, respectively, of total tissue preservation service revenues
during-such periods: Cost of human tissue preservation services for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 includes
the write-down.of $2.8 miillion due to the impairment of certain orthopaedic tissues and processing materials as a result of the
RTI Agreement'discussed above, the write-down of $1.2 million of certain deferred preservation costs that exceeded market
value, and the write-down of $588,000 due to the impairment of certain orthopaedic tissues. Cost of human tissue
preservation services for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 includes the write-down of $1.8 million of certain
deferred preservation costs that exceeded market value. - , '

The write-down of deferred tissue preservation costs as a result of the RT1 Agreement during 2006 is based on an
estimate of the tissues that will be shipped during the 18-monthi period subsequent to December 31, 2006 in which the
Company can continue to distribute its existing orthopaedic tissues. The amount of tissues shipped during that period could
differ significantly from this initial estimate resulting in higher margins on shipments of orthopaedic tissues during the 18-
month period or additional write-downs in futire periods. See Item §, “Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements” for further dlscusswn of the RTI Agreement and its ﬁnancxal impact.

.- e o

~The write-down-of deferred tissue preservation costs that exceeded market value in bolh years was primarily related to
the Compadny’s non-valved éardiac tissues. The Company implemented a fee increase effective July 1, 2006, in part to
address these tissues, which have had costs in excess of the average service fees. The decrease of the write-down in the
current year periods as compared to the prior year periods is primarily due to the effect of this fee increase on the Company’s
average service fees for the affected tlssue types.
. o 4 1 . - . '

The: write-down due to the impairment of certain orthopacdic tissues during the twelve months ended December 31, 2006
is the result-of excess tissu¢ inventory{levels above those expected to ship before the expiration date of the tissue’s
packaging, - - - . o] : - .

sl [ R . L

‘After considering the effects of the write-downs discussed above, the remaining increase in cost of human tissue
preservation services for the three and twelve months ended December 30, 2006 is primarily due to increased tissue’
préservation service volume as compared to the samie period in 2005. After considering the effects of the write-downs
discussed above, cost of human tissue preservation services as a percentage of total tissue preservation service revenues’
decreased. The decreasé is pnman]y die to improvements in tissue preservation margins as a result of improvements in the
Company’s tissue processing yields, an increase in average service fees due to fee increases implemented in 2006, and to a
lesser extent an increase in the amount of tissues processed.

The Company anticipates that aggregate cost of human tissue preservation services in 2007 will be similar to 2006. The
Company anti¢ipates that cost of human tissue preservation services as a percentage of tissue preservation service revenues
will decrease in 2007 as compared to 2006 as a result of a mix shift as the percentage of shipments of lower margin '

. orthopaedic tissues décrease and shipments of cardiovascular and vascular tissues increase. Cardiovascular and vascular

. tissue shipments are expected to increase during 2007 as a result of anticipated increases in procurement. The Company
expects that procurement of cardiovascular and vascular tissues during 2007 will be favorably )mpactcd by the RTI
Agreement discussed in-Recent Events above. ’ '

i - - . R *

General, Administrative, and Marketing Expenses -

‘
ot o LT

General, administrative, and marketing expenses increased 9% to $11.4 million for the three months ended December 31,
2006, compared to $10.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2005, representing 54% and 58%, respectively, of
total revenues during such periods. General, adminisirative, and marketing expenses for the three months ended December
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31, 2006 includes an unfavorable charge of $751,000 for stock-based compensation expenses and a favorable adjustment of
$333,000 for the adjustment of reserves for product liability losses. General, administrative, and marketing expenses for the
three months ended December 31, 2005 includes a favorable adjustment-to legal and.settlement accruals of $683,000, an
accrual of $150,000 for post employment benefits related to the signing of a compensation agreement by one of the
Company’s senior executives, and a $118,000.charge for stock-based compensation. After considering the effect of these
items, general, administrative, and marketing expenses for the three months ended December 31, 2006 increased slightly,
primarily due to an increase in executive bonus accruals, partially offset by a decrease in legal and professmnal fees.

General, administrative, and marketmg expenses decreased 22% to $41 5 miilion for the twelve months ended December
31, 2006, compared to $53.2 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005, representing 51% and 77%,
respectively, of total revenues during such periods. General, administrative, and marketing expenses for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2006.includes a favorable adjustment of $2.1 million related to the settlement of insurance coverage
disputes with former insurance carriers, net of associated legal fees, an unfavorable charge of $1.5 million for stock-based
compensation expenses, a favorable adjustment of $784,000 for the adjustment of reserves for product liability losses, and an
accrual of $448,000 for post employment benefits. General, administrative, and marketing expenses for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2005 includes an accrual of $11.6 million in expense related to the settlement of the shareholder class
action lawsuit and related legal fees, a favorable adjustment of $961,000 for the adjustment of reserves for-product liability
losses, an accrual of $851,000 for post employment benefits, and $285,000 charge for stock-based compensation. After
considering the effect of these items, general, administrative, and marketing expenses for the twelve months ended December
31, 2006 increased, primarily. due to an increase in marketing commissions to support revenue growth and an increase in
exccutive bonus accruals, partxally offset by a decrease in decrease in legal and professional fees. .

. . . . " . o :

..The Company antlcxpates that general administrative, and marketmg expenses will increase in 2007 when compared to
2006, due to the expected increases.in marketing expenses and in personnel related expenses to support expected revenue
growth and personnel increases, although several important compone_nts‘aré difficult to estimate or control. For example the
Company will continue to evaluate the level of accruals for product liability claims and make adjustments as required based
on periodic actuarial analyses and product liability claim status. Adjustments to these accruals may, be required during 2007,
and the effect of these adjustments may be favorable or unfavorable to general, administrative, and marketing expenses. |
Gain on Exit Activities : . : A T o

(iain on exit activities was $2.6 million for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2006, compared to zero for
the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2005. This represents the gain associated with the RTI Agreement entered
into in December 2006 and discussed in the Recent Events section above. The gain is primarily due to a gain on the
recording of intangible assets received from RTI, partially offset by several individually immaterial asset write-downs and
expense accruals incurred as a result of the transaction. The intangibles acquired from RTI in the transaction include
procurement contracts and access. to the procurement of cardiovascular and vascular human tissues previously received by
RTI, customer lists, and a non-compete agreement. This gain is offset by losses due to the impairment of certain orthopaedic
tissues and - processing materials resulting from the RTI Agreement which have been recorded as part of cost of human tissue
preservation services as discussed in that section above. The gain on exit activities and the.write-down in cost of human
tissue preservation services-net to an overall loss of $159,000 related to the transaction. See Item 8, “Note 3 of the Notes to
Consplidated Financial Statements” for further discussion of the RTI Agreement and its financial impact. -
Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses were $975,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2006, compared to
$980,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2005, representing 5% and 6%, respectively, of total revenues during’ .
each such.period. Research.and development expenses were $3.5 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, .
compared to $3.7 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005, representing 4% and 5%, respectively, of total
revenues during each such period. The decrease in research and development expenses in both the three.and twelve month
periods ended December 31, 2006 was due to timing delays for planned external research studies. Research and |
development spending in 2006 and 2005 was primarily focused on the Company’s tissue preservation, SynerGraft, which
includes allograft and xenograft heart valves, vascular grafts, and ProPatch™ Soft Tissue Repair Matrix, and Protein -
Hydrogel Technologies (“PHT™), which include BioGlue, BioFoam, BioDisc™, and related products.

i . .- . . T
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The Company anticipates that research and development expenses will increase in 2007 when compared to 2006, .
primarily due to increased spendlng on research related to PHT, particularly BioFoam and BioDisc, as well as continuing
spending on research related to SynerGraft products and tissues, and human tissue preservation. The BioFoam spending
increase is expected to be due in part.to funds the Company has'obtained or expects to obtain pursuant to the 2005 and 2006
Defense Appropriation Conference Report discussed in “Revenues - Other Revenues” above.

- I

[ .
Other Costs and Expenses

Interest expense mcreased to $153,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2006 compared to $126,000 for the
three months endéd December 31, 2005 Interest expense mcreased to $657 000 for the twelve months ended December 31,
2006, compared to $346,000 for the twelve monthis endéd December 31, 2005. The incréase in interest expense for the three
and twelve months ended December 31, 2006 is primarily due to higher borrowmgs under the Company’s February 2005
credit agreement with Wells Fargo Footh111 Inc. (the “Credlt ‘Agreement”) as compared to the same penod n 2005 ‘and higher.
interest rates on these borrowmgs as the bank’s prime lending rate has increased smce the prior year period. Interest
expense for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 included interest incurred related to the Credit
Agreement notes payable, and capital leases.

Interest income decreased to $105,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2006 compared to $123,000 for the
three months ended December 31, 2005, [nterest income decreased to $409,000 for the twelve months ended December 31,
2006, compared to $531,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005. Interest income for the three and twelve
months ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 was primarily due to mterest eared on the Company’s cash, cash equivalents,
and marketable securitie. T .- o .

i vt 1

The change in valuation of the Derivative was an expense of $10,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2006 as
compared to income of $512,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2005. The change in valuation of the Derivative
was an expense of $121,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 as compared to income'of $140,000 for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2005. The valuation of the Derivative in these periods was a function of several
variables including the price and expected volatility of the Company’s common stock, the number of shares of Preferred
Stock outstariding, and the general level of U.S. interest rates, The change in valuation of the Derivative in the three and’
twelve months ended December 31, 2005 also includes the amount of thé Dividend Make Whole-Payment on preferred
shares converted during’ the perlod ' ST A ' S

. . oo ! [

The Company is unable to estimate the change in valuation of the Derivative for 2007, as this amount is subject to

numerous variables 1ncIudmg the miarket value of the Compaiy’s common stock, the number of preferred stock shares
_ converted during 2007, and the genéral level 'of U.S. interest rates. The change m valuatron "of the Derrvanve in 2007 could
significantly differ from the levels experlenced in2006. - - - : : R

The Company s income tax expénse was $148,000 and $285,000 for the threé and twelve ‘mionths endéd- December 31,

2006, respectively. The Company s income tax expense of for the three months ended Deceinber 31-2006 was primarily

. due to alternative minimum tax on the Company s taxable incomié for 2006 ‘that cannot be offset by the Comipany’s net
operating loss carryforwards and forelgn taxes on income of the Company s wholly owned European Subsidiary. The
Company’s income tax expense of for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 was primarily die to the recordmg of
, deferred tax liabilities related toa foréign _]urrsdrctron and alternatwe minimum tax on the Company s taxable income for
' 2006 that catinot be'offset by the Company’s net operatmg 10ss carryforwards, partially offset by the favorable effect’ of’

* adjustments to certain state tax obligations and the favorable effect of reductions in the estimated foreign taxes on incomé of

* the Company’s wholly owned European subsidiary.

oy
v

. The Company’s income tax beneﬁt of $618,000 and $428,000 for the three and twelve months ended December 31,
- 2005, respectively, was primarily related to foreign taxes on income of the Company’s wholly owned European subsidiary.

woem o - - - A - - .-
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Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2004 :
Revenues
Three Months Ended ’ Twelve Months Ended
December 3.] Decemher k1|
2005 2004 2008 2004
Revenues $ 17,961 $ 15,866 3 69,282 $ 62,384

Revenues increased 13% for the three months ended December 31, 2005 as compared to the three months ended
December 31, 2004. This increase was primarily due to an increase in sales of BioGlue and an increase in preservation
service revenues for each of the Company’s three major tissue types as compared to the prior year period,

Revenues increased 11% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 as compared to the twelve months ended
December 31, 2004. This increase was primarily due to an increase in sales of BioGlue and an increase in preservauon
service revenues for each of the Company’s three major tissue types as compared to the prlor year.

A detailed discussion of the change in BioGlue revenues and in preservation service revenues for each of the thrée major
tissue types processed by the Company is presented below.

BioGlue
Three Months Ended ‘Twelve Months Ended .
— December3l, — December3t,
2005 2004 2005 2004
_Revenues . § 9645 § 9226 $ 37985 S 35745
BioGlue revenues as a . . oL - ,
percentage of total revenue . 54% 58% : 55% . S57%

Revenues from the sale of BioGlue increased 5% for the three months ended December 31, 2005 as compared to the three -
months ended December 31, 2004, BioGlue revenues for the three months ended December 31, 2005 mcluded an increase in
average selling prices, which increased revenues by 7%, partially offset by a decrease in BioGlue sales volume, which
decreased revenues by 1% and the effect of foreign currency exchange, which decreased revenues by 1%.

Revenues from the sale of BioGlue increased 6% for the twelve months ended December 31 2005 as compared to the
twelve months ended December 31, 2004. The 6% increase in revenues for the twelve months ended December 31,2005
was due to an increase in average seiling prices, which increased revenues. T, R

The increase in average selling prices for the quarter and year to date periods was primarily due to list price increases
that went into effect on January 1, 2005 domestically. BioGlue volume for the three months ended December 31,2005 was
negatively impacted by the success of the BioGlue syringe product, which does not, utilize a separate delivery device or
require the purchase of separate applicator tips (a variety of optional applicator tips are available for the BioGlue synnge)
Primarily as a result of these lost accessory sales, BioGlue volume decreased slightly for the three months ended December
31, 2005 compared to the three months ended December 31, 2004, despite an increase in the milliliters of BioGlue sold
durmg that the same period. Domestic revenues accounted for 76% of total BioGlue revenues in 2005 and 78% of total
BioGlue revenues in 2004.

Cardiovascular Preservation Services

Three Months Ended - . Twelve Months Ended
December 31 oo - Decemher31, .
2005 2004 20058 2004
Revenues 5 3,355 i 2,767 $ 13,762 $ 12,504
Cardiovascular revenues as a
percentage of total revenue 19% 17% 20% 20%

Revenues from cardiovascular preservation services increased 21% for the three months ended December 31, 2005 as
compared to the three months ended December 31, 2004. The 21% increase in revenues for the three months ended

56




December 31, 2005 was due to an increase in average service fees, which increased revenues by:14%, and an increase in
cardiovascular volume, which increased revenues by 7%.

Revenues from cardiovascular-preservation services increased -10% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 as
compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2004. The 10% inciease in revenues for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2005 was due to an increase in average service fees, which increased revenues by 20%, partially offset by a
decrease in cardiovascular volume, which reduced revenues by 10%.

The increase in average service fees reflected ihe fee increases that went into effect in July 2004 and January 2005. The
fee increases primarily increased revenues for traditionally processed pulmonary valves and aortic valves. The increase in
cardiovascular volume for thé three morith period esided December 31, 2005 was primarily due to increases in aortic-valve
shipments and to a lesser extent shipments of non-valved conduits and patch material due in part to improved cardiac-
procurement in the latter part of 2005. The decrease in cardiovascular volume for the twelve months ended December 31,
2005 was largely due to a reduced level of pulmonary valve shipments, primarily due to the reduced amount of tissues
available for implantation as a result'of a decline in procurement levels pamcularly in the first half of 2005. See the
additional discussion of procurement below o e

The Company’s procurement of cardiac tissues, from which heart valves and non-valved cardiac tissues are processed,
increased 1 0% during second half of 2005 as compared to the first six months of 2005.. The Company s procurement of
cardiac tissues decreased 11% for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 as compared 1o the ‘twelve months ended
December 31,2004. - e A . - :

]

VascularPreservatmn Services : R : o - [

Three Months Ended

’

Twelve Months Ended

December 31, December 31,
I . - S 2008 - L 2004 C2005 “ 2004
. . L . ' ' E ) } . . -t o it
Revenues $ 3172 8 2522 - % 'I1453% 0% - 10,293
Vascular revenues as a
percentage of total revenue 18% 16% 17% 16%

Revenues from vascular preservation services increased 26% for the three months énded December 31, 2005 as
compared to the three months ended December 31, 2004. The 26% increase in revenues for the three months ended
December 31, 2005 was due to an increase in average service fees which mcreased revenues by 16% and an increase in

vascular volume, which’ mcreased revenues by 10%

Lo . 1

Revenues from vaseular preservition serv1ces‘1ncreased 11% for'the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 as
compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2004. The 11% increase in revenues for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2005 was due to an increase in average service fees, which moreased revemies by 20%, partially offset by a -

decrease in vascular volume, which reduced revenues by 9%.

P

The increase in average service fees reflected the fee increases that went into effect in July 2004 and January 2005 on all
vascular tissues. The increase in vascular volume for the three months ended December 31, 2005 is primarily due to
increases in shipments of saphenous veins, due in part to improved vascular procurement in the second half of 2005. The
decrease in vascular volume for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 is primarily due to decreases in shipments of
saphenous veins, due in part to a decline in procufement Ievels in the fourth quarter of 2004 and the first quarter of 2003,
which had a negative impact on vaseular revenues-for the year ended December 31, 2005. See the addmonal discussion of”

proeurement below.

' ]

The Company’s procurétent of vascular tissues increased 41% during the second half of 2005 as compared to the first
s5ix months of 2005. The Company’s procurement of vascular tissues increased 9% for the twelve months ended December

31, 2005 as compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2004.

o i s Dot ' . f

57

r
»




Orthopaedic Preservation Services, - . R R a1
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. Three Months Ended Twelve Months Ended
C 7 .t..  —— December3l, . _December31l, -~ . -
Lo oo 2005 2004 ___znns_ _znna_

P e ) " L PR L. -'. t . ! : oot - oo ot ' i
Revenues - $ 1561 A T 153p UV S 5092 . 8 2879 |
Orthopaedic revenues as a d

.percentage of totalreverme . - . . ., .. 9% . . . T% ... o T o i 5%

' . aor o oade A EPR I PR P .t
Revenues from orthopaedic preservatlon services mcreased 35% for the three months ended December 31 2005 as.
compared to the three months ended December 31, 2004. ‘The 35% increase in revenues for the three months ended . et
December 31, 2005 was largely due to an increase in orthopaedic volume, whrch increased revenues by 37%.., , ., .. .

¥

[ s oy !

Revenues from orthopaechc preservatlon services 1ncreased 77% for the twelve months ended December 31 2005 as,
compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2004. The 77% increase in revenues for the twelve months ended .
December 31, 2005 was due to an increase in orthopaedic volume, which increased revenues by 77%.

The volume increase was primarily.due to an increase in shipments of osteochondral grafts and non-boned tendons for |
the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2005.. The increase in orthopaedic tissue shipments was directly related to
an increase in demand for the Company’s orthopaedic tissues through the introduction of the new cryopreserved - . | -
osteochondral graft in the first quarter of 2005, the reestablishment of the Company’s presence in the orthopaedic tissue
business, and the rebuilding of the Company’s supply of tissues available for shipment. To a lesser degree, the Company’s .
orthopaedic tissue business was favorably impacted in 2005 by the introduction of tissues terminally sterilized with gamma
irradiation. S . :

The Company s procurement of orthopaedrc tissues mcreased 30% durmg the second half of 2005 as compared to the
first six months of 2005. The Company’s procurement of orthopaedlc tissues decreased 25% for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2005 as compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2004.

! Ll <t

Grant Revenues . o C el

Grant revenues were $43,000 and zero, respectively, for the three months ended December 31,2005 and 2004. Grant
revenues were $43,000 and $71,000, respectively, for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,

Grant revenues in 2005 are related to funding received under the 2005 DOD Grant, which included $926,000 for the |
development of protein hydrogel technology for use on the battlefield. The Company applied for and was awarded the full
$926,000 allocated under the 2005.DOD Grant in-connection with its development of BioFoam. The Company began
receiving advances under the grant during the second half of 2005, and was involved in the intial animal trial with the U.S.
Army’s Institute for Surgical Research. As a result the Company began. recognizing revenues for expenses incurred related

to this grant during the fourth quarter of 2005. I Ll [
Costs and Expenses e W e e e N e e

‘ ‘ T B SR oy .. PRI . !
Cost of Products oo T ST R P

Cost of products was $1.9 million for the three months ended December 31, 2005 as compared to $2.0. million for the
three months ended December 31, 2004, representing 20% and 21%, respectlvely, of total -product revenues during such .
periods. Cost of products was $8.1 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 as compared to $7.8. million. for
" the twelve months ended December 31, 2004, representing 21% of total product revenues during each such peried. Cost of
products as a percentage of total product revenyes remained at consistent levels from period-to-petiod..
oL oL - oL w1 e M I S e !
Cost of Human Tissue Preservation Services ‘ P N P wo

‘Cost of human tissue preservation services was $6.4 mitlion for the three months ended December 31, 2005 as compared
to $6.0 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004, representing 79% and 94%, respectively, of total tissue
preservation service revenues during such periods. Cost of human tissue preservation services for the three months ended
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December 31, 2005 and 2004 includes the write-down of $499,000 and $511,000, respectively, of certain deferred
preservation costs that exceeded market value. . "

Cost of human tissue.preservation services was $24.4 million for the twelve months ended December 31,.:2005 as
compared to $29.8 miltion for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004, representing 80% and 116%, respectively, of -
total tissue preservation service revenues during such periods. Cost of human tissue preservation services for the twelve .
months ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 includes the write-down of $1.8 million and $6.6 million, respectively,:
reflecting current period-processing costs that exceeded market value based on recent average service fees. The twelve
months ended December 31, 2004 also included $353,000 in costs.related to the write-down of SynerGraft processed tissues.

R 1 a " o . . s ) o 1 . e, ;o

The write-down of deferred tissue preservation costs in both the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2005 and
2004 is primarily due to higher overhead cost allocations per unit associated with lower tissue processing volumes and
changes in processing methods subsequent to the FDA Order, resulting in costs which exceed market value for certain
tissues. The decrease in cost of human tissue preservation services for the twelve month period ended December 31,2005
and the decrease in cost of human tissue preservation services as a percentage of tissue preservation service revenues for the
three and twelve month period ended December 31, 2005 i$ primarily due to improvements in the Company’s tissue
processing yields and, to a lesser extent, an incréase in the number of tissues processed. Cost of human tissue preservation
services as a percentage of tissue preservation service revenues-was favorably affected by shipments of tissue with a zero -
cost basis for which revenues were recognized but costs, estimated to be $549,000.for the twelve months ended December..
31, 2004, had already been recorded in previous perieds primarily related to write-downs of deferred preservation costs in
2002. The write-downs of deferred preservation costs during 2002 created a new cost basis, which cannot be written back up
when these tissues are shipped or become available for shipment.

General, Administrative, and Marketing Expenses -.

General, administrative, and marketing expenses decreased 2% to $10.5 million for the three months ended December
31, 2005, compared to $10.7 million for the three months ended December 31, 2004, representing 59% and 67%, .
respectively, of total revenues during such periods. General, administrative, and marketing expenses for the three months
ended December. 31, 2005 includes a favorable adjustment to legal and settiement accruals of $683,000 and unfavorable;
adjustmenti/expenses of approximately. $89,000 related to the expensing of stock options in accordance with the provisions
of SFAS.123R and $150,000 to accrue post employment benefits related to the signing of a compensation agreement by one
of the Company’s senior executives. Excluding these items, general, administrative, and marketing expenses decreased due
to a decrease in insurance costs, largely offset by increases in marketing fees primarily due to increased marketing expenses,
1o support revenue growth including increased commissions and expenses related to tradeshows. .,

General, administrative, and marketing expenses increased 25% to $53.2 million for the twelve months ended December
31, 2005, compared to $42.6 million for the twelve months ended December 3}, 2004, representing 77% and 68%, .
respectively, of total revenues during such periods, General, administrative, and marketing expenses for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2005 includes an accrual of $11.6 million in expense related to the settiement of the shareholder class
action lawsuit and related legal fees as discussed in Ttem 8, “Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,” and
approximately $851,000 in post employment benefits related to the signing of a compensation agreement by one of the
Company’s senior executives, partially offset by a reversal of approximately $961,000 in previously accrued legal expenses
and settlement accruals. General, administrative, and marketing expenses for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004
includes an accrual of approximately $1.5 million in additional legal expenses and settlement accruals. Excluding these
items, general; administrative, and marketing expenses decreased due to lower professwnal fees and $269,000 in lower
insurance costs in 2005 as compared to 2004, largely offset by increases in marketing fees primarily due to increased
marketing expenses to support revenue growth including increased commissions.

Research and Developmem Expenses S

bl : 1 ' ; f

Research and development expenses were $980,000 for, the three months ended December 31, 2005, compared to $1 2.

million for the three months ended December 31, 2004, representing 6% and 8%, respectively, of total revenues during such
periods.. Research and development expenses were $3.7 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005 compared
to $3.9 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2004, representing 5% and 6%, respectively, of total revenues
during such periods. Research and development spending in 2005 and 2004 was primarily focused on the Company’s tissue
preservation, SynerGraft, and Protein Hydrogel Technologies, which include BioGlue and related products.
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Other Costs and Expenses

Interest expense increased to $126,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2005, compared to $40,000 for the
three months ended December 31, 2004. Interest expense increased to $346,000 for the twelve months ended December 31,
2005, compared to $196,000 for the twelve months' ended December 31, 2004. Interest expense for the three and twelve
months ended December 31, 2005 included interest incurred related to the Credit Agreement, short term notes payable, and
capital leases. Interest expense for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2004 included interest mculred related -
to the Company’s short term notes payable and capital leases. co B e

Interest income increased to $123,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2005, compared to $61,000 for the
three months ended December 31, 2004.. Interest income increased to $531,000 for the twelve months ended Pecember 31,
2005, compared to $262,000 for the twelve months ended December 31,2004, Interest income in both penods was prlmanly
due to interest eamed on the Company’s cash, cash equlvalents and marketable securities. - .

The change in valuation of the derivative was income of $5 12,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2005 and
$140,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005. The change in valuation of derivative in the three and twelve
months ended December 31, 2005 reflects the amount of the Dividend Make-Whole Payment on preferred shares converted
during the period and the amount of the change in valuation of the derivative. The change in valuation of the derivative was

zero for the thiee and twelve months énded December 31, 2004, as the Derivative was first established in March 2005. -

Seasonality _ : o , oo e

The demand for BioGlue appears to experience seasonality, with a flattening or slight decline in demand generally
occurring in the third quarter followed by stronger demand in the fourth quarter. Management believes that this trend for
BioGlue may be"due to fewer surgeries being performed on adult patients in the summer months., The Company will .

¢

continue to evaluate the seasonal nature of BioGlue sales. + .- . 4 .~ : .. '

M E ¥

The demand for the Company’s cardiovascular tissue preservation services has historically been seasonal, with peak
demand generally occurring in the second and third quarters. Management believes this trend for cardiovascular tissue
preservation services is primarily due to the high' number of surgeries scheduled during the summer months for school aged
patients, who drive the demand for a large percentage of CryoLife’s cardiovascular tissues. This seasonal trend has been
obscured in recent years by the impact of the FDA Order and related events. The Company expects that this seasonal trend
will be apparent in future years.” | : - . : : k

The demand for the Company’s human vascular and orthopaedlc tissue preservatlon services and bioprosthetic
cardiovascular and vascular devrces does not appear to expenence seasonal trends.

Liquidity and Capltal Resources oo

L

Net Workmg Capltal oo o § !

At December 31, 2006 net workmg capltal (current assets of $49.4 million less current liabilities of $22 9 mllhon) was
$26.5 million, with a current ratio{current assets divided by current liabilities) of 2 to 1, compared to net workmg capltal of
$23.9 million, with a current ratio of 2 to 1 at December 31, 2005. : ‘

The Company's primary capital requirements for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 arose out of general
workmg capital needs, capital expenditures for facilities and equipment, and funding of research and development projects.
In recent years the Company’s operating activities have failed to generate sufficient cash to fund its business du to the
increasing costs of operations, primarily costs related to the Company’s tissue preservation services business, increases in
general, administrative, and marketing costs over pre-FDA Order levels, and increased legal, professional, and litigation
expenses. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 the Company funded its operating cash requxrements primarily
through ex15t1ng cash, cash equlvalents and marketable securmes and through bank credit facilities.
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Overall Liguidity and Capital Resources ' 3 s Ca

The Company believes that the Company's existing cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities, and availability under the

Credit Agreement w1l| enable the Company to meet its liquidity needs through at least December 31, 2007.
H o M | H

The Company could experience an adverse impact on revenues and cash flows during 2007 from decreases n orthopaedlc
revenue as a result of the RT1 Agreement, which will nced to be offset by increases in cardiovascular and vascular revenues
derived as’a result of the RTI Agreement. : : .o e

.. ' ot

The Company believes the following should continue to have a favorable 1mpact on cash flow from operations during 2007

although there can be no assurance that these events will occur as and when currently anticipated: . Lo

¢ Expected increases in BioGlue revenues over levels experienced in 2006 due to increases in BioGlue list prices
implemented in July 2006 and January 2007 and anticipated volume increases,

- o * Expected increases in total preservation service revenues over.levels experienced in»2006 due to fee increases
for certain tissues implemented in July 2006 and January 2007, to reflect the higher cost of processing these
tissues, and antlclpated volume increases for cardiovascular and vascular tissues,

. . . [ [ . *
e  Anticipated net beneﬁts of the RT] Agreement in reducmg»general administrative, and marketmg costs felated
to orthopaedic tissues, and - “ . L . . S
PR L e R i . L toan . L E v P .
e Anticipated decreases in cash payments related to the defense and resolution of lawsuits and claims from the levels
seen in 2003 through 2006.

Howevet, the Company's long term liquidity and capital requirements.will depend upon numerous factors, including:
R . X : ' . ] B 1 I oy ' " ' e
‘s "The success of BioGlue and other products using related technology,
o The Company's ability to increase the level of tissue procurement and demand for its tissue preservation services,
e The Companys ability to maintain suf‘ﬁcrent margms on its t1ssue preservatlon services,
M - v . . i - Mot . ' .
. o The Company's spending levels on its research and development act1v1t1es lncludrng research studtes to develop
' and support its service and product pipeline, - S v
-« The trmmg and cost of resolving product lrablhty lawsurts and other claims (as discussed in ltem 8, “Note 10 of the
Notes to Consolidated Fmanc1al Statements™),’ . g . . S .

L
st v

e The successful transition of cardiovascular and vascular tissue procurement previously received by RTI to the
Company (as discussed in Item 8, “Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements”),

e To a lesser degree, the Company's success at resolving the issues with the FDA regarding processing of -human
tissue using the SynerGraft technology (as discussed in Item 8, “Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Fman(:lal
o Statements™), and . } L R .
. ¥ . ‘ . ) 1
e The Company’s success in irnplementing its recenlly identified strategic initiatives.
"oy . . 1 . s 4 B '

- If the Company is unable to address these issues and continues to expertencc negative operating cash flows, the Company
anticipates that it may require additional financing or seek to raise additional funds through bank facilities, debt or equity
offerings, or other sources of capital to meet liquidity and capital requirements beyond December 31, 2007. Additional funds
may not be available when needed or on terms acceptable to the Company, which could have a material adverse effect on the
Companys busmess financtal condition, results of operatrons and cash flows, oo o

' t
On February 8, 2005 Cryoere and its subsrdranes entered into a credit agreement wrth Wells Fargo Footl'ull Inc. as lender
(the “Credit Agreement”) to address some of its liquidity needs. As of December 31, 2006 the outstanding balance. of the Credit

i1 . . . )
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Agreement was $4.5 million and the remaining borrowing availability was $10.5 million. The Company’s borrowing
availability is subject to various limitations as discussed in Item &, “Note 6 of the Notes to Consahdated Financial Statements”
that may restrict future borrowmgs i A ‘

In January 2006 the Company engaged Piper Jaffray & Co. to assist the Company's management and Board of Directors
in identifying and.evaluating potential strategies to enhance shareholder value. In November 2006 the Company announced
that as a result of this review; the' Board of Directors has directed management to actively pursue three key strategies in addition
to continuing to focus on growing its business and leveraging its strengths and expertise in its core marketplaces. These three ‘
strategies are designed to generate revenue and earnings growth: identify and evaluate acquisition opportunities of i
complementary product lines and companies; license Company technology to third parties for non-competing uses;-and analyze 1
and identify underperforming assets for potential sale or disposal. Management’s actions related to this Board directive are
ongoing.

i

Product Liability Claims

As discussed in Item 8, “Note.10 of the Notes.te Consolidated Financial Statements”, as of December 31, 2006 the
Company had accrued a total of $330,000 for pending product lability lawsuits. The $330,000 accrual is an estimate of the
Company'’s portion of the costs required to resolve one of three outstanding claims, and does not reflect actual settlement
arrangements or actual judgments for all open claims, including punitive damages, which may be assessed by the courts. The
$330,000 accrual is not a cash reserve, The timing and amount of actual future payments is dependent onwhen and if
judgments are rendered, and/or settlements are reached. Should payments related to the accrual be required, the Company’s
portion of these monies would have to be paid from liquid assets. The Company continues to attempt to reach rcsolutmn of
these outstanding claims in order to minimize the potential cash payout,

If the Company is unable to settle the outstanding claims for amounts within its ability to pay or one or more of the product
liability claims in which the Company is a defendant should be tried with a substantial verdict rendered in favor of the
plaintiff{s), there can be no assurance that such verdict(s) would not exceed the Company's available liquid assets. Failure by the
Company to meet required future cash payments to resolve the outstanding product liability claims would have a material
adverse effect on the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows of the Company.

e L. ' Lt . .ot ! P . : .

As discussed in Item 8, “Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,” at December 31, 2006 the
Company had accrued a total $6.6 million for the estimated costs of unreported product-liability claims related to services
performed and products sold prior to December 31, 2006 and had recorded a receivable of $2.3 million representing amounts
to be paid by.the Company’s insurance carriers. ‘[Further analysis indicated that the liability could be estimated to be as high as
$12.3 million, afler including a reasonable margin for statistical fluctuations calculated based on actuarial simulation techniques.
The $6.6 million accrual does not represent cash set aside. The timing of future payments related to the accrual is dependent
on when and if claims are asserted, judgments are rendered, and/or settlements are reached. Should payments related to the
accrual be required, these monies would have to be paid from insurance proceeds and liquid assets. Since the amount
accrued is based on actuarial estimates, actual amounts required could vary significantly from this estimate.

i "o . A m . .

Net Cash from Operating Activities

‘Net cash used in operating activities was $1.1.million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 as compared to
$18.5 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005. The $1.1 million in current year cash used was primarily due
to the Company’s working capital needs, as reflected in the increases in deferred preservation costs, inventory, and accounts
receivable on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.

N

The Company uses the indirect method to prepare its cash flow statement, and as such the operating cash flows are based
on the Company’s net income, which is then adjusted to remove non-cash items included that generated a book gain or loss
during the period and for changes in operating assets.and liabilities.. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2006 the
Company’s $365,000 net income included significant non-cash items that generated favorable and unfavorable adjustments
to net income. These adjustments included a favorable $4.8 million in depreciation and amortization, a favorable $1.3
million in write-downs for impairment of deferred preservation costs, a favorable $1.6 million in non-cash compensation,
primarily related to the SFAS 123R expense for new and existing stock options and stock awards to the Company’s board of
directors and certain employees, and a favorable $426,000 for the loss on disposal of assets. The Company’s working capital
needs, or changes in operating assets and liabilities, also affected cash from operations. For the twelve meonths ended
December 31, 2006 these changes included an unfavorable $10.4 million due to the buildup of deferred preservation costs
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and inventories, an unfavorable $2.4 million due to the timing differences between the recording of receivables and the
actual receipt of cash, and a-favorable $1.9 million.due to the timing differences between,the recording of accounts payable
and other accruals and the actual payment of cash. - -+ . Sl e L e g

L ! ot It ! L T YR L Lt} c. Lo Lo
Net Cash from Investing Activities . v ' P T T R N .
s s A Lotart '
Net cash used by investing activities was $557,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, as compared to
$2.0 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005. The $557,000 in current year cash used was.primarily due to.
$17.4 million in purchases of marketable securities and $1.6 million in capital expenditures, partially offset by $18.6 million

in proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities. ¢ . "t . eepnore o r e '

e it ' r - 0 : - . LN
4 YR : ! . . PR N i [T - B . N ' " -

Net Cash from Financing Activities -+ . 1 T PR DR

.13

S . N
Net cash used by financing activities was $968,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006, as compared to
$22.7 million in cash provided for the twelve months ended December 31, 2005. The $968,000 in current year cash used
was primarily due to $2.3 million in principal payments on notes payable, $973.000 in payments of Preferred Stock
dividends, $570,000 in principal payments on capital leases, and.$553,000 in debt principal payments. -These unfavorable
effects were partially offset by.$2.3 million in proceeds from the financing of insurance policies, $710,000 in proceeds from
issuance of debt, including borrowing on the Company’s line of credit and issuance of new capital leases, and $468,000 in ,

proceeds from exercises of options and issuance of stock. - O ST IO AR O ..

o
. Pl

Scheduled Contractual Obligations and Future Payments
Scheduled contractual obligations and the related future payments are as follows (in thousands):

Operating leases - - '+ $ : 19,833 §. 2459 § .- 2360. § .. 2,226 § . 2,119 $.,2,145,% , 8524
Revolving line of credit- B 4,507 c e 4,507 - — . - L
Capital lease obligations, . @ - - 193 ... ;53 .- - 52~ 153 0.0 35, o e T
Purchase commitments - ... .  , ..255 . ., 254 v 1L L ety R -
Other obligations Ch 1,239-.. 992 =192 _- 55 S = =

s § 26027 $ . 3758 § 7,012 §.°2334 $ 2154 § 2,145

4]

Total contractual obligation
) ' (KRS PR . L ' [E IR . o, 1
The Company’s operating lease obligations result from the lease of land and buildings that comprise the.Company’s
corporate headquarters and manufacturing facilities, leases related-to additional office and warehouse space rented by the .
Company, Jeases on Company.vehicles, leases on housing for-expatriates,.and leases on a variety of office equipment. -

$ . 8524

"1 !

. v G P S ot .

The line of credit obligation results from the Company’s borrowing of funds under its Credit Agreement. The timing of
the obligation in the above table is based on the February 7, 2008 Credit Agreement expiration date, at which time the,
outstanding principal balance will be'due. Due to the terms of the Credit Agreement, and due to the net losses and negative:-
cash flows experienced by the Company since the FDA Order, the Company has classified amounts due under the Credit.
Agreement as short-term debt on the December 31, 2006 Consolidated Balance Sheet in accordance with the provisions of
FASB Technical Bulletin No. 79-3 (As Amended). Assuming the Company’s level of borrowings and the interest rate on the
line of credit remain the same, the Company would have additional contractual obligations for interest expense and fees of

$486,000, and $56,000 for 2007 and 2008, respectively, which are not included, in the table above. . - 7. . . .-

The Company’s capital lease obligations result from the financing of certain of the Company’s equipment.

The Company’s purchase commitments generally, result from agreements with suppliers to stock:certain.custom raw
materials needed for the Company’s processing and production: - . -« v BT e 0 e o

The Company’s other obligations contain various items including minimum required royalty payments, payments to.
support research and development activities, and other items as appropriate.

- ." 4 -, + - A ' : .-' e i ’ e -b; ""!‘lq. A o ¥
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Preferred Stock

Dividends.on the Company’s Preferred Stock are cumulative from the date 'of original issue at the annual rate of 6% of .
the liquidation preference of the Preferred Stock, payable quarterly on the first day of January, April, July, and October;
commencing July 1, 2005. Any dividends must be declared by the Company’s board of directors and must come from funds
that are legally available for dividend payments. Dividends of approximately $243,000 were paid on January 2, 2007 to
shareholders of record on December 22, 2006.

. Tk

Stock Repurchases - . a - : : S <
) . a PRI ' . . . . : . M . i ’

In the first quarter of 2006 the Company's Board of Directors authorized the purchase of shares of its common stock from -
employees to fund the payment of employee federal and state withholding taxes in association with the grant of stock to
employees in February 2006. These repurchases of stock from employees totaled $50,000. No further purchases will be made
related to these employee stock grants.

Capital Expenditures oo S S g . .

The Company expects that its capital expenditures in 2007 will be similar to its expenditures.in 2006, which were
approximately $1.6 mitlion. Planned capital expenditures for 2007 are primarily related to routine purchases of tissue
processing, manufacturing, computer, and office equipment needed to support the Company’s business. The Company expects
to have the flexibility to increase or decrease the majority of its planned capital expenditures depending on its ability to generate

cash flows.

- Forward-Looking Statements b

This Form 10-K includes “forward-looking statements™ within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Forward-looking statements give the Company’s current - .
expectations or forecasts of future events. The words “could,” “may,” “might,” “will,” “would,” “shall,”. “should,” “pro .
forma,” “potential,” “pending,” “intend,” “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “plan,” “future,” and other similar
expressions generally identify forward-looking statements, including, in particular, statements regarding future products or
services, market expansion, revenues, cost savings, procurentent, tissue processing yields, regulatory activity, available funds
and capital resources, and pending litigation. These forward-looking statements are made pursuant to the safe harbor
provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on
these forward-looking statements, which are as of their respective dates.- Such forward-looking statements reflect the views
of management at the time such statements are made and are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, estimates, and
assumptions, including, without limitation, in addition to those identified in the text surrounding such statements, those
identified under Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

LT » W@ LI LTS LIITS

. Lo . +
All statements, othet than statements of-historical facts, included heregin that-address activities,-events or developments
that the Company expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future, are forward-looking statements, including statements

. v ‘

regarding: e :

¢  The adequacy of product liability insurance to defend against lawsuits; - E ' e

¢ Increases in product liability insurance coverage costs, retention, and claims yeats covered; A
s The outcome of lawsuits filed against the Company, and of the SEC investigation;

e  The impact of the FDA Order and subsequent FDA activity, including the FDA’s letters regarding the SynerGraft
process and measures taken by the Company as a result, on future revenues, profits, and business operations; '

.

¢ The impact of the FDA’s Form 483 Notices of Observation, - - . Co E o

+

e The Company’s estimated future liability for existing product Hability lawsuits and for product liability claims incurred
but not yet reported;

o The Company’s ability to increase yields and reduce its costs of tissue preservation services;
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o The Company’s competitive position, including the impact of price increases; -
. b ’ T "
e The receipt of governmental grants for BioFoam development;

-

o The results of patient studies and their use in applying for governmental approval for products and services;

e The outcome of the Company’s regulatory applications regarding its SynerGraft process; : :

. Future increases in research and development expenses; “ e
: e .

. Competltlve advantages offered by the Company ] patents trade secrets, trademarks and technology licensing nghts .

. Product demand and market growth L . oot
e  The success’of the RTI Agreement including anticipated cost savmgs and increased procurement of cardiovascular and
vascular tissues; ‘ .

o The potential of the ACT for use in fibrinolysis (blood clot dissolving) and other drug delivery applications;

o Expected revenue and earnings growth from recently announced strategic agreements;
. . . . " , <

» - Expected impact of adoption of new accounting pronouncementS' "

¢ The impact on the Company of adverse publicrty or negatlve surglcal outcomes' from products Or services provxded by
the Company; i .

e Anticipated future revenues and expenses;
o Expected seasonality trends;

. Antimpated decreases in cash payments related to the defense and resolution of lawsuits and claims from the levels seen
T in 2003 through 2006 S R S : ; : R
. Anticipated impact of changes in interest rates; : b " AP
' : i

s . The ability to expand the Company’s service and product offerings; i

e The success of distribution, supplier and development agreements with third parties to distribute, supply and develop
various Company, as well as third party, products and services; Te 4 Lo R :

e Those issues most likely to impact the Company’s future financial performance and cash flows;
o The Company’s ability to implement its strategic .plans‘;- | |
. The adequacy of the Company’s financial resources and its ability to borrow under its credit facility; and
o  Other statements regarding future plans and strategies, anticipated events, or trends.

These statements are based on certain assumptions and analyses made by the Company in light of its experience and its
perception of historical trends, current conditions, and expected future developments as well as other factors it believes are’
appropriate in the circumstances. However, whether actual results and developments will conform with the Company’s
expectations and predictions is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ
materially from the Company’s expectations, including the risk factors discussed in this Form 10-K and other factors, many
of which are beyond the control of CryoLife. Consequently, all of the forward-looking statements made in this Form 1¢-K
are qualified by these cautionary statements-and there can be nd assurance that the actual results or developments anticipated
by the Company will be realized ‘or, even if substantially realized, that they will have the expected consequences to or effects
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on the Company or its business or operations. The Company assumes no obligation to update publicly any such forward-
looking statements, whether as a resu!t of new information, future events, or otherwise.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.. . * *. T St
Interest Rate Risk oo gt L S

The Company’s interest income and expense are sensitive to changes in the general level of United States interest rates.
In this regard, changes in United States interest rates affect the interest earned on the Company’s cash and cash equivalents
of $4.1 million and the interest incurred.on the liné of credit-balance of $4.5 million as of December 31, 2006. The
Company’s short-term investments in- marketable securities of $4.0 million as of December 31, 2006 can also be affected by
changing interest rates to the extent that these items contain variable interest rates or are subject to maturity or sale during a
period of changing interest rates, A 10% adverse change in intcrest rates affecting the Company’s cash equivalents and
short-term investments or borrowings'under the Company’s Credit Agreement would not have a matena] impact on the
Company’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. e

Derivative Valuation Risk ' .'4. WL T otes B

!
il

The terms of the Company’s March 18; 2005 6% convertible preferred~stockofferi_ng include a Dividend Make-Whole
Payment feature. This feature is considered an embedded derivative instrument, Due to the quarterly revaluation of the
derivative liability, the Company recorded other expense of $121,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2006. At -
December 31, 2006 the derivative liability was valued at $235,000. The fair value of this derivative is based on various
factors, including the market price of the Company’s common stock and discount rates used in determination of fair value.
Changes in these factors could cause the fair value of this derivative to fluctuate significantly from period to-period: These
resulting changes in valuation may have a significant impact on the Company’s results of operations.

. o ey
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The Company has balances, such as accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accruals that are denominated in foreign
currencics. These foreign currency transactions are-sensitive to.changes in exchange rates.. In this.regard, changes in
exchange rates could cause a change in the U.S. dollar equivalent funds that the Company will receive in payment for assets
or that the Company would have to pay to settle liabilities. As a result the Company could be required to record these
changes as gains or losses on foreign currency translation. A 10% adverse change in foreign currency.rates affecting the
Company’s balances denominated in foreign currencies would not have a materlal impact on the Company’s ﬁnanc1al
position, results of operations, or cash flows. T T

L - T, ‘r' i ,-I' 5""'!'.‘; P . . - - . 'l!.‘ e

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data: : .« ., . .

Qur financial statements and supplementary data required by this item are submitted as a separate section of this annual
report on Form [0-K. See “Financial Statements” commencing on page F-1.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None., oL P e e . . , A
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures. R e LR TR [ S
LR R R S I B N aomeL . T . .
The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures (i'Disclosure Controls™) as such term is defined under Rule 13a-
" 15(e) promulgated under the Securities: Exchange Act of. 1934.: These Disclosure Controls are designed to ensure that . «
information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the
time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to
management, including the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer {(*“CF0?), as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding requ1red disclosures. :
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The Company’s management, including the Company’s President and CEO and the Company’s Executive Vice President of
Finance, Chief Operating Officer, and CFO, does not expect that its Disclosure Controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A
control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only | reasonable;:not absolute assurance that the,, Do
objectives of the control system are met. The design of any system of controls is based in part upon certain assumptlons about
the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed i in achieving its stated goals | under all
potential future condltlons Further, the desrgn ofa control system must reflect the fact. that there are resource constramts and .
the benefits of controls must be consndered relative to thelr costs., Because of the mherent lmutatlons in a]l control systems no .
evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraucl if any, within the Company '
have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that
breakdown can occur because of simple error or mistake.

IR TP o710 R T U B Pal

Based upon the.Company’s most recent Disclosure Controls evaluation as. of December 31, 2006, the CEO and CFO have
concluded that the Company’s Dlsclosure Controls were eﬁ'ectwe at the reasonable assurance level o satlsfy t.helr objectlves and
to ensure that the information requtred to be disclosed by the Company in its penodlc reports is accurnuiated and communicated
to management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding disclosure and is recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specificd in the U.S, Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules -
and forms. T ’ )

KT : el put Y [ A I ST TN L B

During the quarter ended December 31 2006 there WEre no, changes in, the Company s mtemal control oyer, financial .
reporting that materially affected or that are reasonably ltkely to matenally affect the Company s internal control over financial
reporting.

. - L LR SR ST STPAL RS RINELTRPEN: I 53 AT YR I PR A

The report called for by Item 308(a) of Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to Management’s Report on
Internal Controls over Financial Reporting under. Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404, included in Part II, Item 8, “Fmanc1al Statements
and Supplementary Data” of this report. .. . .. B S 1": cren i e A0 el Lnanid

The attestation report called for by Item 308(b) of Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, included in Part II, item 8, “Financial ‘S‘tat'erneqts’andﬁppplenremary Data’, of |
this report. ' ' ' '
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Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

67




PART IHI

~ Item 10, Diréctors and Ex"ecutive Ofﬁcei‘s of the Registrant. ' B

" The response to Item 10 is mcorporated herein by reference to the information set forth in the Proxy Statement for the
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the Commission not later than April 30, 2007, with the exception of
information concerning executive officers, which is included in Part I, Item 4A of this Form 10-K.

v '

o e oy o t

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The resporise_t(; ._l'tem 11 is incorporated heréin by referénce to the information set forth in the Proxy Statement for the
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the Commission not later than April 30, 2007.

ey

. *

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certin Beneficial Owners and Managemeht. °

The response to Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to the information set forth in the Proxy Statement for the
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to bc ﬁlecl with'the Comm:ssnon not later than April 30, 2007

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions.

The response to Item 13 is incorporated hetein by reference to the information set forth in the Proxy Statement for the
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Commission not later than April 30, 2007. : t

.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees an'd Services.

El

The response to Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the information set forth in the Proxy Statement for the
Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Commission not later than April 30, 2007.

"
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules. .
The following are filed as part of this report:

(a) 1. Consolidated Financial Statements begin on page F-1.

2 ‘ Financial Statement Schedule . o n T . '
, L C . oo
¢+ Schedule lI—Valuatlon and Qualifying Accounts : T
All other ﬁnancrnl staternent schedules not llsted aI}ove are omrrted as the redmred mformatton is not appllcable or the
information is presented in the consolidated financial statements or related notes.
(b | Exhibits . SO AL

P N - o N L . ’ K ; - X . . .

The following exhibits are filed herewith or incorporated herein by reference:

Exhibit - . - - L L
Number - . ] S Description . E SO
2.1 Reserved.
3l "'Restated Articles of Incorporatlon of the Company. (Incorporated herem by reference to Exhlblt 3.1 tothe
* Registrant’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003.) - '
32 ~ Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Cryofoe Inc , classifying

and designating Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock..: (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1
* to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 3, 2005.)

i3 Preferred Stock Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporatlon of the’ Regietrant. (Incorporated herein
by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Registrant’s Form 8-A/A filed on March 15; 2005.)

34 7 Amended and Restated By-Laws. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to ‘the Reglstrant s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed December 28 2005.)

s

4.1 ~ Reserved.

42 * Form of Centificate for the Company’s Common Stock. (Incorporated "herein. by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the ﬁscal year ended December 31, ]997 ) '

43 Reserved o |

44 Reserved o ‘ e P

4.5 Form of Specimen Convemble Preferred Stock Certificate. (Incorporated herem by reference to Exhibit 4.1
to the Registrant’s Form 8A/A filed March 15, 2005.)

4.6 First Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2005, between CryoLlfe Inc. and.
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed November 3, 2005.) - :

10.1 The Stipulation of Settlement of the shareholder derivative action dated August l 2005. (Incorporated herein by

. reference to Exhibit 0.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 5, 2005.)

10.1(a) . The Stipulation of Settlement of securities class action litigation dated August 29, 2005. (Incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2005.) .

10.2+ Credit Agreement by and between CryolLife, Inc Certam Subsidiaries of CryoLlfe Inc and Wells Fargo

Foothill, Inc., dated February 8, 2005. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004.)

10.2(a) First Amendment to the Credit Agreement signed on September 27, 2005, amends the, February 8, 2005 Credit
Agreement between Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc., CryoLife, Inc., and its subsidiaries. (Incorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2.1 to Form 8-K dated and filed on September 27, 2005.)
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Exhibit
Number Description .. S B ; e
10.2(b)* Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated October 17, 2006, amends the February 8, 2005 Credit
~ Agreement between Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc., CryoLife, Inc., and its subsidiaries, as afended on September
27, 2005. o R '

103 Reserved. T et e e

10.4 CryoLife, Inc. 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan. (Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix 1 to the
Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 17, 1998.)

10.5%+ Exchange and Service Agreement, dated December 15; 2006, by and between CryoLife, Inc.'and Regeneration
Technologies, [nc and its affiliates RTI Doner Services, Inc and Regeneration Technologies, lnc -

SFoma b Cardiovasculary T 0% et I b 1oL 0 e, S A U

10.6 Reserved. s B T

10.7 . Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement pursuant to the CryoLife, Inc. 2002 Employee Stock Incentive Plan,
{Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed August
7, 2006.) P S <

10.8 Reserved. )

10.9(a} Employment Agreement, by and between the Company and Steven G. Anderson, dated September 5, 2005:.
. {Incorporated herein by reference to'Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated September 5, 2005 and filed September 9,
2005.) <

10.9(b) . , + : Employment Agreement, by and between the Company and D. Ashley Leg, dated September 5, 2005.
{Incorporated herein by reference to: Exh:blt 10.2 to Form 8;K ¢ dated September 3 2005 and filed September 9,

‘ 2005 ),
RTINS Voo, R (RS} U9

10. 9(c) e ,' Flrst Amendment to Employment Agreement dated May 4 2006 by and between the Company and D. Ashiey
“Lee. (Incorporated herem by reference to Exhlblt 10. 2to the Reg:strant s Quanerly Report.on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30 2006 )

Hi% - " (9 Ty v,

10, 9(d) Employment Agreement by and: between the Company and Gerald B Seery, dated November 1,2005.
(lncorporated herem by reference to Exhrbrt lO fl to the Reglstrant 8 Quanerly Report on Forrn 10- Q for the
™ quarter ended’ September 30;2005) ' ‘

10.9(e)* Commission Arrangement with Gerald B. Seery, Effectwe January l 2006

! . .
R R R

' LR 1

10.9(f) . Formof Employment Agreement by and between the Company and each of Albert E. Heacox Ph D. and David
T M. Fronk, dated May 4, 2006 (lncorporated herem by reference to Exhibit 10. 3 lo, the Reglstrant s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30 2006. ) L

10.10 Form of Secrecy and Noncompete Agreement, by and between the Company and its Of’ficers'. (Incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No’ 33-56388).)

10.11%"" ** Fomiof Key Emiployee Seérecy and Noneompete Agreement by and between the Company and its Officers and
Key Employees. ca b o : oo

10:12 Technology Acqu151tlon Agreement between the Company and N:cholas Kowanko, Ph.D.; dated March 14,
s 19967 (Incorporated herein by reference 10 Exhlblt 10.14:10 the Reglstrant $ Annual Report on Form 10-K for

the fiscal year ended December 31, 1995}« e SR nTod
-1(');1-3": PR Reserved T AN PN UL AN S R 1 O SO S AT O B TE SRR IR
10.14 L Amended and Restated Technology Acqulsmon Agreement bétween thé Company and Nicholas Kowanko,
Boe o YD, dated March 14, 1996. (lncorporated herein by reference to Exh1b1t 10.14 to'the: Reglstrant s Annual’
“#et. 1" 2Report on Formi'10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004.) ! el
10.15 ’ CryoLlfe Inc. Non- Employee Directors Stock Option Plan, as amended. (Incorporated hereln 'by reference to
e Appendrx 2 to'the Registrant’ s Definitive Proxy Siatement ﬁled wrth the Seeuntles and Exchange Commission ’
B on‘Aprll 17 l998)l P31 L PO A . Lohe
10. ]6 .., ., Lease Agreement between the Company and Amli Land Development—] Limited Partnersh:p, dated Aprii 18,
Co .l W 71995 F (Incorporated hérein by reference to Exhlbn 10.26 to the Reglsn'ant’s'Annual Report on Form 10-K-for
© 7 thé fiscal year ended December 3, 1995) U R
St \ i i G li,’: LIRS ‘r J'.‘.'i.‘(.‘.‘}'.". PN
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Exhibit
Number

Description

10.16(a)
10.16(b)

10.18*
10.19

10.20
10.21
10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25
10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29*
10.30(a)*
10.30(b)*
10.31%

10.32%
10.33*

10.34*

'Descnptron of CryolL.ife, Inc. Perfonnance Based Bonus Plan. .

~ First Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated April 18, 1995 between the Company and Amli Land

Development—I Limited Partnership dated August 6, 1999. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
10.16(a) to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,1999)

Restatement and Amendment to Funding Agregment between the Company and Amll Land Deve]opment—l
Limited Partnership, dated August 6, 1999. (Incorporated ‘herein by reference to Exhlblt 10.16(b) to the
Regrstrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31 2000. )

CryoLife, Inc. 2004 Employee Stock Incentive Plan, adopted on June 29, 2004. (lncorporated herein by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2004.) '

Cryolife, Inc. 2004 Non- Employee Directors Stock Optton Plan, as amended adopted on June 29 2004,

. '(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10 3to the Reg1strant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the

quarter ended June 30, 2004 Y

Form of Directors Stock 0pt1on Agreement and Grant pursuant to the CryoLlfe Inc. 2004 Non Employee
Directors Stock Optron Plan.’ (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Reglstrant s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,20047)

Technology License Agreement between the Company and Colorado State Unwers:ty Research Foundation
dated March 28, 1996. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Reglstrant 8 Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1996.)

Form of Non-Qualified Employee Stock Option Agreement and Granit pursuant to the CryoLife, Inc. 2004
Employee Stock Incentive Plan. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Regtstrant s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004.) :

Form of Incentive Employee Stock Option Agreement and Grant pursuant to-the Cryoere Inc. 2004 Employee
Stock Incentive Plan. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. 3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Fom1 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004.)

Form of Section 16 Officer Stock Optlon Agreement pursuant to the CryolLife, Inc. 2004 Employee Stock
Incentive Plan. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed February 27, 2006.)

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement pursuant to the CryoLife, Inc. 2004 Employee Stock Incentive Plan.
(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February
27,2006.) .

Grant of Incentive Stock Optlon to D Ashley Lee dated May 4 2006. (Incorporated herem by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2006.)

Form of Purchase Agreement between CryoLife, Inc. and Piper Jaffray & Co. dated March 13, 2005.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Commission on March 15, 2005.) .

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement and Grant pursuant to the CryoLife, Inc. 1998 Long-Term Incentive
Plan.

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Optlon Agreement and Grant pursuant to the CryoLife, Inc. 1998 Long-Term
Incentive Plan.

Form of Director Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement and Grant pursuant to the CryoLife, Inc. 1998 Long-
Term Incentive Plan,

Form of Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Agreement and Grant pursuant to the Amended and Restated
Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan,

Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement and Grant pursuant to the CryoLife, Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan.

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement and Grant pursuant to the CryoLife, Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive
Plan.

Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement and Grant pursuant to the CryoLife, Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan.
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Exhibit

Number Description

10.35* Form of Non-Qualified Employee Stock Optlon Agreement and Grant pursuant to the CryoLife, Inc. 2004
Employee Stock Incentive Plan.

10.36* Form of Grant of Non-Qualified Stock Option to Directors.

10.37* Grant of lneentwe Stock Optlon to Stephen G. Anderson, dated May 4, 2006.

10.38 Intematlonal Dtstnbutlon Agreement dated September 17, 1998, between the Company and Century Medical,
Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the Reglstrant s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2000.) g

10.39-1040  Reserved.

10.41 CryoLife, fnc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002.)

10.42 Settlement and Release Agreement, dated August 2, 2002, by and between Colorado State University Research
Foundation, the Company and Dr. E. Christopher Orton. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the

~ Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002.) .

10.43 Settlement Agreement and Release, dated September 25, 2006, by and between CryoLife, Inc. and St, Paul

_Mercury Insurance Company. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterty
. Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006.)

10.44-10.49  Reserved. o ‘

14 Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 14 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004.)

21.1* Subsidiaries of CryoLife, Inc.

23.1* Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

3l.1* Certification by Steven G. Anderson pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2* Certification by D. Ashley Lee pursuant to section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

a2 Certification Pursuant To 18 U.5.C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant To Section 306 Of The Sarbanes-Oxley
‘Act Of 2002. '

* * Filed herewith.

+ The Registrant has requested conﬁdent:al treatment for certain portlons of this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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3. B: Executive Compensation Plans and Arrangements. o

1. Form of Stock Option Agreement and Grant under the Incentive Stock Option and Employee Stock Incemive Plans
{Incorporated herein by reference to Exh1b1t 10.4 to the Regrstrant s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No.
-t 33-56388).) I i : :

2. Employment Agreement, by and between the Company and Steven ‘G .Anderson dated September 5, 2005.

(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K dated September 3, 2005 and filed September 9, 2005.)
- l - { . 1

3. Emp]oyment Agreement by and between the Company and D. Ashley Lee dated September 5 2005 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8 K dated September 5, 2005 and filed September 9, 2005.)

4. - First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated May 4, 2006 by and between the Company and D. Ashley Lee.
(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2006.)

5. Employment Agreement by and between the Company and Gerald B. Seery, dated November 1, 2005. (Incorporated
herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Reglstrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September
1302005) Lo . o -

6.* Commrssron Arrangement wnth Gerald B, Seery Effectwe January 1, 2006

7. Form of Employment Agreement, by and between the Company and each of Albert E. Heacox, Ph.D. and David M.
Fronk, dated May 4, 2006. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2006:) .

8. Form of Secrecy and Noncompete Agreement, by and between the Company and its Officers. (Incorporated herein by

reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-56388).)

9.* Form of Key Employee Secrecy and Noncompete Agreement by and between the Company and its Off 1cers and Key
Employees. . . , : . ,
10. CryoLife, Inc. Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan, as amended, (lncorporated herein by reference to
- Appendix 2 to the Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April
17,1998.)
11, CryoLife, Inc. 1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan. (Incorporated herein by reference to Appendix 2 to the Registrant’s

- Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 17, 1998.) .

12. CryoLife, Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Regtstrant ]
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002.) .

13. CryoLife, Inc. 2004 Employee Stock Incentive Plan, adopted on June 29, 2004.: (Incorporated herein by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004.)

14, CryolLife, Inc. 2004 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan, as amended, adopted on June 29,2004.
(Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for.the quarter
ended June 30 2004.)

PR

15.* Descnptlon of Cryoere Inc Performance Based Benus Plan. - - . . o .

16. Form of Directors Stock Option Agreement and Grant pursuant to the CryoLife, Inc. 2004 Non-Employee Directors
Stock Option Plan. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004.)

17. Form of Non-Quazlified Employee Stock Option Agreement and Grant pursuant to the Cryolife, Inc. 2004 Employee
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Stock Incentive Plan. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form
10- Q for the quarter ended September 30 2004)

- . '
- - - P .

Form of lncentwe Employee Stock Option Agreement and Grant pursuant to the CryoLlfe Inc. 2004 Employee Stock

18.
Incentive Plan. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q \
for the quarter ended September 30 2004 )
1. . Tt ey M N .
19. ' Form of Section 16 Officer Stock Optton Agreement pursuant to the CryoLlfe lnc 2004 Employee Stock Incentive '
Plan. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Reglstrant 8 Current Report on Form 8-K ﬁled February l
£27,2006) - et 0 0D e - : . '
L L I B . T e " L . . - a R
20. Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement pursuant to the CryoLife, Inc. 2004 Employee Stock Incentive Plan.
. (]ncorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1.to'the Reglstrant § Current Report on Form §-K ﬁled February 27,
12006, 1 et et T ey Ty . .
21, Grant of Incentive Stock Option to D. Ashley Lee, dated May 4, 2006. (Incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit
~ 10.3'to the Reglstrant s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the quarter ended June 30 2006. ) :
L L ST oL .
22, Form of Purchase Agreement between CryoLife, Inc. and Piper Jaffray & Co. dated March 15 2005 (lncorporated by
reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Reglstrant s Current Report on F orm 8-K filed with the Comrrussron on March 15
2005.) [N T L TR L T e
23.% F orm of [ncenttve Stock Optlon Agreement and Grant pursuant to the CryoLlfe Inc. 1998 bong-Term Incentive Plan.
- PRI ' 11 o P . .
24 % Form of Non-Qualified Stock Optron Agreement and Grarit pursuant to the Cryofoe Inc. 1998 Long-Term Incentive |
Plan.
A T R :
25.* Form of Director Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement and Grant pursuant to the CryoLife, Inc. 1998 Long-Term
Incentive Plan.
. T L R N B T T SV TR reoor ‘
26.* Form of Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Agreement and Grant pursuant to the Amended and Restated Non-
Employee Directors Stock Optlon Plan
27.*  Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement and Grant pursuant to the Cryoere -Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan,
28.* Form of Non-Quallﬁed Stock Optton Agreement and Grant pursuant o the CryoLlfe Inc. 2002 Stock Incentive Plan.
29.* Form of Rest'ncted Stock Award Agreement.and Grant pursuant to the CryoL1fe Ine 2002 Stock Incennve Plan. l
30.* Form of Non-Qualified Employee Stock Optlon Agreement and Grant pursuant to. the CryoLlfe Inc. 2004 Employee -
Stock Incentive Plan.
31.* + Formof Grant of Non—Quahﬁed Stock Optlon to Dlrectors e J Lot e 1
1 M "‘! T '-l“'. P‘."; * LIS N '
32* Grant of lncennve Stock Opuon to Stephen G. Anderson, dated May 4, 2006
R A TRV SR B
* o 'Flledherewnh B P L LE PRI SN e o s 1
+

The Registrant has requested confidential treatment for certain portions of this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. L SR .
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant 1o the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CRYOLIFE, INC.

February 22, 2007 By /s/ STEVEN G. ANDERSON
' Steven G. Anderson

President, Chief Executive’

Officer, and Chairman of
the Board of Directors

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. ’

Signature Title : Date

/s/ STEVEN G. ANDERSON President, Chief Executive Officer, February 22, 2007
Steven G. Anderson and Chairman of the Board of

Directors (Principal Executive Officer)

s/ D. ASHLEY LEE Executive Vice President, Chief February 22, 2007
D. Ashley Lee Operating Officer, and Chief '
Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
fsf AMY D. HORTON Chief Accounting Officer (Principal February 22, 2007
Amy D. Horton Accounting Officer)
/s/ THOMAS F. ACKERMAN Director February 22, 2007

Thomas F. Ackerman

/s/ JAMES S. BENSON Director February 22, 2007
James S. Benson '
/s/ DAN BEVEVIND Director February 22, 2007
Dan Bevevino
/s/ JOHN M. COOK Director F ebruary 22, 2007
John M. Cook
A /s/ RONALD CHARLES ELKINS, M.D. Director February 22, 2007

Renald Charles Elkins, M.D.

/s/ VIRGINIA C. LACY Director ' February 22, 2007

Virginia C. Lacy

/s/ RONALD D. MCCALL Director February 22, 2007

Ronald D. McCall

/s/ BRUCE J. VAN DYNE, M.D. Director February 22, 2007

Bruce J. Van Dyne, M.D.
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Management’s Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting under Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404
") is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate

The management of CryoLlfe Inc. and subsidiaries (“CryoLife”, “w
internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934
CryoLife’s intemal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to CryoLife’s management and board of directors
regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements. CryoL.ife’s internal control over financial reporting

includes policies and procedures that: .
pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reﬂect the transactions and

0]
dlSpOSmO]‘lS of the assets of CryoLife;
provude reasonable-assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements

(ii} '
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of CryoLife; and

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unautherized acquisition, use or disposition

(iif) i
of CryoLife’s assets that could have a mateniat effect on the financial statements

All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations, Therefore, even those systems determined to
be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in

conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

CryoLife management assessed the effectiveness of CryoLife’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006
In making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our assessment we believe that, as of December 31, 2006, the

company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria

v

CryolLife’s independent registered public accountmg firm has issued an audit report on our assessment of CryoLife’s internal

control over financial reporting.

CryoLife, Inc.
February 22, 2007 ‘ i




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

‘To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Cryolife, Inc.
* Kennesaw, Georgia - ' : : . T

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Controls over
Financial Reporting under Sarbanes-Oxley Section 404, that CryoLife, Inc. and subsidiaries (the *Company”) maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the
* effectiveness of the Company’s internat control over financial reporting based on our audit.

1

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control ovi
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of intemal control over
financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
contral, and performing such other procedures as we c0n51dered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our oplnlons ’ . : : .

A company’s intemal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the-supervision of, the company’s
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of
directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company aré being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internat control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper
management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to
the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policie
procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framew
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained
all material respects, effective internal controf over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), th
conseclidated financial statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006 of the Company
our report dated February 22, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and financial statement schedule.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Atlanta, Georgia
February 22, 2007




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM -

d

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
CryolLife, Inc.
Kennesaw, Georgia

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CryoLife, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for éach of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at
Item 15. These financial staternents and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management, Our

responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and the financial statement schedule based on our audits.
1 A

" We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accouming Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the ﬁnancnal
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, ev1dence supporting the amiourits and
.~ disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accountmg prmcnples used and significant estlmates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion, o

.; In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
CryoLlfe Inc. and subsxdlanes at December 31, 2006 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the penod ended December 31, 2006, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein. .

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, effective October 1, 2005, the Company changed its method
of accounting for share based payments to conform to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R “Share Based Payment”.

" We have also audlted in accordance with the standards of the Pubtic Company Accounting OVElSlght Board (United States),
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the critéria established
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and
our report dated February 22, 2007 expressed an unquatified opinion on management s assessment of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectwcness of the Company s internal control
over financial reporting.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Atlanta, Georgia . ‘ :
February 22, 2007 e e e



ASSETS

Current assets ]
Cash and cash equwalents ’

Marketable securities, at market
Restricted cash and secu,ntlle_s.m )

Recelv‘ables

Trade accounts less allowance for. doubtful accounts of $l30 in 2006 and $ 105 in 2005

" Income taxes
Other

Total receivables

Deferred prescrvatlon costs net '

Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other assets "
* Total current assets

Property and equipment:

Equipment

Furniture and fixtures

Leasehold improvemeénts

Construction in progress
Total property and equipment
Less accumulated deprec1at|on énd amomzanon
" Net property and equlpment

Other assets:

Patents, less accumulated amortization of $1 372 in 2006 and $1,691 in 2005
Trademarks and other intangibles

Other

Total assets

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

‘CRYOLIFE; INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands)

F-4

-«

2006 2005

$ 4133 S 6,631
3.965 © - 4968

571 560

© 12553 10,153
Y148 3T
'1.255 1,563
13,956 12,087
19,278 13,959
5,153 " 4,609
2329 2387

4
49385 45201
19911 23,227
5.196 5112
28,937 29.754
30 |
54,074 58,094
12 684 , 33 7]9” .

21390 24,375
4226 4877

3,362 425
1502 1931

$__ 79865 § 76809




CRYOLIFE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands) .

December 31
-t ‘ . . 2006 2008
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities: _
Accounts payable . v 3 2475 % 2,239
Accrued compensation . - o . 2,599 - . 1,467
Accrued procurement fees : 7 4,734 3,797 .
Accrued expenses and other current hablhtlcs 7,074 8,154
Deferred income 1,223 424
Deferred income taxes 26 .
Derivative liability Lo 235 114
Line of credit . o Co,e . 4507 4, 530
. Current maturities of capital lease obligations + AT Pl = 40 - 554

Total current liabilities . . 22913 21279
Capital lease obligations, less current maturities 124 -
Deferred income taxes . - 200 -
Other. . , : 4,540 4,909
Total liabilities . —_—27777,, _____ 20188 .

b .

Shareholders’ eqmty
Preferred stock $.01 par value per -share; authorized 5,000 shares

Series A junior participating preferred stock; 2,000 shares authorized; no shares issued e -
Convertible preferred stock; 460 shares authorized; 325 issued and outstanding Ve, \

in 2006 and 2005 .- ., 3. .3,
Common stock $.01 par value per share; authorized 75 000 shares;

issued 25,813 shares in 2006 and 25,582 shares in 2005 : 258 . 256
Additional paid-in capital . - ] ey . 115,678 . 113,507
Retained deficit ' (59,177) (58,569)
Deferred compensation (73), -
Accumulated other comprehensive income , 160 123,
Treasury stock at cost; 906 shares in 2006 and 892 shares in 2005 —14761) ____ (4,699)

Total shareholders’ equity 52 088 S0.621
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity . § 7985 § 76,809

. PRI}

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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_ + CRYOLIFE; INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenues:

Products

Human'tissue preservation-services

Other -
Total revenues

Costs and expenses:
Products _
Hunian tissue preservation services (including write-downs
of $4,537 in 2006, $1,797 in 2005, and $6,905 in 2004)
General, administrative; and marketing
Gain on exit activities
Research and development
Interest expense '
Interest income- vt
Change in valuation of derivative
Other expense, net
Total costs and expenses

Income {loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income (loss)

Effect of preferred stock dividends
Net loss applicable to common shares
Loss per common share:
Basic
Diluted

Weighted averﬁge common shares outstanding:
Basic ) ’
Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

24,829

L

{

b

: Year Ended December 31 -
__2006 2008 ' 2004 -
$ 41,037 % 38932  § . 36,637~
40,078 30,307 25,676
196 43 A
7,463 8,065 © 7,818
29,958 24,357 " 29,807
41,545 53225 42,640
(2,620) - -
3:547 3,724 - 3,938
657 346 196
(409) (531) (262)
121 (140) S
399 199 13
20.661 80245 24150 -
. 650 © (19,963) *(21,766)
o 288 L)) (3D
£ 365 $._(J9535) § (18749
iy N .o - "1 ' . -
973 (117) -
$  (608) S (20312) & (18749)
$ 002y $ . (085 % . _-(081)
$. (002 $ . (085 §-- (081
24,829 ° 23,959 -+ 23,043
23,959 23,043

" _ o .




CRYOLIFE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

, oo CON SOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
: it N (in thousands) oM :
' N i *
EERRE s : T 2046 2005 2004
Net cash flows from operating actwmes - T
Net income (loss) $ 365  $.0 (19,535) $  (18,749)
Adjustments to reconcile net incomé (loss) to net cash from operatmg acnvmes ) L i
Gain on sale of marketable equity securltxes 3 - - f‘—' 2 (3) -
Loss on disposal of assets : ‘ . 426 © 7108 30
Depreciation of property and equipment . 4,560 ’ 4,759 5,202
Amortization : i 284 277 281
Provision for doubtful accounts -~ R 65 : 57 -2 53
Write-down of deferred preservat{dn' costs and inventories ' ' 1,758 ~ i 1,797_ S 7,105
Net non-cash gain on exit activities . (an | - € -
Deferred income taxes N 226 [ - -
Non-cash compensation Sao ' - 1,620 0 ¢ 3227 358

| Change in valuation of derivative ‘ ¢ 121 . (140) -

Other non-cash adjustments to income (182) ! 1,771% 10
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: - ; E ‘

! Trade and other recelvables T Lo (2431) - - (1,854) (2,159) -
Income taxes - T s O 213 -0 1,024, 665
Deferred preservatlon costs Al \ . (9,800) . T (6, 934) (6,916) ™
Inventories JE R (600) ; 158' (517) ;-
Prepaid expenses and other assets soa T T . 397 1.{ 27 . (2,060) -
Accounts payablé _ LT T e '155 S v VAR 342t
Accrued expenses and other 11ab111t1es ' 1,783 ' 361- o (3256) ;

Net cash flows used in operating activities _ . ' (1,071) (18,517) L (19611) -
Net cash flows from investing activitlfes: ! , : ) DA
Capital expenditures Pt ‘ (1,642) i ~(989) 950 -
Net proceeds from sale of assets , " . & _ S P 13 . ,\l 2 - 26 -
Purchases of marketable securities; T E (17,385) (21,690) (563) . .
Sales and maturities of marketable securities A 18,562 20,841 2,000 .
Other : (105) _(208) (56) "
Net cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities . (557) . (2,034) 457
1 ! .~ i1 oy
Net cash flows from financing activities: : . R
Principal payments of debt ) ! (553) (317, -
Proceeds from debt issuance K et 710" 4847 -
Principal payments on obligations under capital leases (570) ! z(741) 17
Proceeds from financing of insurance policies : 2,349 2,482 3,385
Principal payments on short-term note payable (2,349) (2,482) (3,385)
Proceeds from exercise of options and issuance of stock 468 372 443
Payment of preferred stock dividend and make whole payments (973). (533) -
Proceeds from equity offering - 19,098 19,265
Purchase of treasury stock . (50) - (54)
Net cash ﬂows (used in) prowded by fmancmg actlvmes R (968) 22,726 18,937
{Decrease) i mg:re_gse in cash - : —_ -(2,596). 2,175 (217
Effect of exchange rateichanges oncash - - B S 98 (257) 33
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year .- -~ ) - 6,631 - « 4713 4 897

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year =~ . Lo L
See accompanying"not.es to cor_fso!idéted financial statements.

- _ - ~

v
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- CRYOLIFE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES :
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
LT e b

Nature of Business
 t i

+

CryoLife, Inc. (“CryoLtfe“ or the "Company“) incorporated January 19, 1984 in Florida, develops and commercializes
implantable medical devices and preserves and distributes human tissues for cardiovascular and vascular transplant applications.
The Company’s biomaterials and implantable devices include BioGlue® Surgical Adhesive ("BioGlue™), porcine heart valves,
and vascular grafts of bovine tissue processed using the Company's proprietary SynerGrafi® technology. Historically, the
Company preserved and distributed human orthopaedic tissue for transplant applications. CryoLife ceased processing human
orthopaedic tissue effective January 1, 2007 but will continue to distribute its existing orthopaedic tissues through June 30, 2008,

 CryoLife is authorizéd to distribute BioGlue throughout the United States and in more than 60 other countries for designated
applications. In the U.S. BioGlue is U.S. Food and Drug Administration ("FDA™) approved as an adjunct to sutures and staples
for use in adult patients in open surgical repair of large vessels. CryoLife distributes BioGlue under Conformité Européene
("CE") Mark product certification in the European Economic Area ("EEA") for soft tissue repair procedures (which includes
cardiovascular, pulmonary, and additional soft tissue repair procedures). CryoLife has also received approval and distributes
BioGlue for soft tissue repairs in Canada. Additional marketing approvals have been granted for specified applications in .
Australia and several other countries in Central and South America, and Asia. CryoLife distributes preserved human
cardiovascular, vascular, and orthopaedic tissue to implanting institutions throughout the U.S., Canada, and Europe. CryoLife
also distributes its SynerGraft processed bovine vascular graft and a porcine heart valve the CryoLlfe O'Brien® aortic heart
valve 1in Europe, the Middle East, and Afnca N - .
N CM , AR \ , . P i . . '

The Company believes that its existing cash cash equivalents, marketable securities, and avallablllty under the Credit
Agreement, as defined in Note 6, will enable the Company to meet its liquidity needs through at least December 31, 2007.

The Company could experience an adverse impact on revenues and cash flows during 2007 from decreases in orthopaedic
revenue as a result of the exchange and service agreement with Regeneration Technologies, Inc., and certain of its affiliates
{collectively “RTI”), (the-“RTI Agreement”);, which will need to be offset by increases in cardiovascular and vascular revenues
derived as a result of the RTL. Agreement.- See Note 3-for a discussion of the RTI Agreement. : :

The Company believes the following should continue to have a favorable impact on cash flow from operations during 2007,
although there can be no assurance that these events will occur as and when currently anticipated:
» [Expected increases in BioGlue revenues over levels experienced in 2006 due to increases in BloGlue hst prices
implemented in July 2006 and January 2007 and anticipated volume increases, -

o Expected increases in total preservation service revenues over levels expenenced in 2006 due to fee increases
for certain tissues implemented in July 2006 and January 2007, to reflect the higher cost of processing these
tissues, and anticipated volume increases for cardiovascular and vascular tissues,

r
&

"o Anticipated net benefits of the'RTI Agreement in reducing general, admmlstratlve and marketing costs related
to orthopaedlc tissues, and ‘ :

. 'Anticipated decreases in cash payments related to the defense and resolution of lawsuits and claims from the levels
seen in 2003 through 2006: Lo
oo S .
However, the Company's long term liquidity and capital requirements will depend upon numerous factors, including:

e  The success of BioGlue and other products using related technology,

'

‘e 1 The Company's ability-to‘increase the level of tissue procurement and demand for its tissue preservation services,
B oy o- R P - * ~ ; .
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e The Company's ability to maintain ufficient margins on its tissue preservation services,

v

s The Company's spending levels on its research and development activities, including research studies, to develop
and support its service and product pipeline,

¢ The timing and cost of resolving product liability lawsuits and other claims (as discussed in Note 10},

e The successful transition of cardiovascular and vascular tissue procurement previously received by RTI to the
Company (as discussed in:Note 3), '

o . To a lesser degree, the Company's success at resolving the issues with the FDA regarding processing of human
tissue using the SynerGraft technology (as discussed in Note 2), and

’ '

* -« The Company’s success.in implementing its recently identified strategic initiatives.

If the Company is unable to address these issues and continues to experience negative cash flows, the Company anticipates
that it may require additional financing or seek to raise additiona! funds through bank facilities, debt or equity offerings, or other
sources of capital to meet liquidity and capital requirements beyond December 31, 2007. Additional funds may not be available
when needed or on terms acceptable to the Company, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business,
financial condition, results of operatlons and cash flows.,

Certain Rectassgﬁcanons of Prior Year, Amounts . e

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year presentation. In 2006 the Company determined
that its presentation of payments on notes payable to finance insurance policy premiums in the operating section of the cash flow
statement are more appropriately classified as a change in operating assets in the operating cash outflows and both a proceed and
principal payment in the financing cash outflows. Therefore, a total of $2.5 million and $3.4 million was reclassified from the
financing section of the cash flow statement to the operating section of the cash flow staternent as of December 31, 2005 and
2004, respectively. The Company had previously disclosed the existence and the nature of these financing agreements in the
Notes to Consolldatcd Financial Statements included in the CryoLife Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

In 2006 the Company rev:sed its presentation of income tax expense (benefit) by showing a separate disclosure for
foreign current and foreign deferred taxes. In addition the Company revised its disclosures of temporary tax' differences to -
show subtotals for total deferred tax assets and total deferred tax liabilities. As a result of these changes, the Company
revised the presentation of comparative amounts in 2005 and 2004 to conform with the new presentation.

Principles of Consolidation
L I ar ' K

The consolidated ﬁnanc1al statements-include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All

significant intercompany balances are eliminated.

Use of Estimates . . . . r

The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the U.S. requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and
~ expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates and assumptions are used
when accounting for depreciation, allowance for doubtful accounts, deferred preservation costs, valuation of long-lived tangible
and intangible assets, commitments and contingencies, including product liability claims, claims incurred but not reported, and
amounts recoverable from insurance companies, cost of share based payments and the related income statement expense or
pro-forma expense, and certain accrued expenses, including accrued procurement fees, income taxes, and derivative instruments.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") Staff Accounting
Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 104, "Revenue Recognition” ("SAB 104"), which provides guidance on applying generally accepted
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accounting principles to revenue recognition issues. Revenues for human tissue preservation services are recognized when
services are completed and tissue is shipped to the customer. Revenues for products are recognized at the time the product is
shipped, at which time title passes to the customer. There are no further performance obligations. The Company assesses the
likelihood of collection based on a number of factors, including past transaction history with the customer and the
credit-worthiness of the customer, Revenues from research grants are recognized in the period the associated costs are incurred.
Revenues from upfront licensing agreements are recognized ratably over the period the Company expects to fulfill its
obligations and complete the eamnings process. ;

Shipping and Handling Charges

Fees charged to customers for shipping and handling of preserved tissues and products are included i_n’ human tissue .
preservation service revenues and product revenues, respectively. The costs for shipping and handling of preserved human
tissues and products are included as a component of cost of human tissue preservation services and cost of products,
respectively.

Cash and Cash Equfvalents . _ . . . . ',

. Cash équival_ents consist prfmarily of highly liquid investments with insigniﬁéant interest rate risk and maturity dates of 90
days or less at the time of acquisition. The carrying value of cash equivalents approximates fair value.
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information for the years ended December 31 {(in thousands): K ;
, . : - T T
Cash paid during the year for: . S ‘ C
Interest $ . 63 §  .276. § - 27 .
Income taxes | : ‘ 34 . 216 L2000

Non-cash investing and financing activities: ( . i - . L.
Non-cash acquisition of intangibles . 5 2909 § o= 8
- Assets acquired under capital leases 180 -
Payment of legal settlement in stock . oo - 1,973 C -
Payment of make whole payments in common stock . ‘ - 786 -
Purchase of property and equipment in accounts payable ‘ o
and accrued expenses -- : 21 .70

Marketable Securities _ o , ) . e ,

The Company maintains cash equivalents and investments in several large, well-capitalized f_inaflci?l institutions, arfq‘_th'e .
Company's policy disallows investment in any securities rated less than "investment-grade" by national rating services.
Management determines the appropriate classification of its marketable securities at the time of purchase and reevaluates such
designations quarterly.

S I O I . i . ' e " : ' g

Debt securities are classified as held-to-maturity when the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold the securities
to maturity. Held-to-maturity securities are stated at amortized cost. Trading securities are securities that are acquired .
principally for the purpose of generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price. Trading securities are stated at their
fair values, with the realized and unrealized gains and losses, interest, and dividends included in investment income. Debt .
securities not classified as held-to-maturity or trading and marketable equity securities not classified as trading are classified as
available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are stated at their fair values, with the unrealized gains and losses, net of _
applicable taxes, reported in a separate component of shareholders’ equity. Interest, dividends, realized gains and losses, and
declines in value judged to be other than temporary are included in investment income.(loss). The cost of securities sold is
based on the specific identification method. - - — .

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 $4.0 million and $5.0 million, respectively, of marketable securities were d_esigﬁated as
available-for-sale, and $571,000 and $560,000, respectively, of marketable securities were designated as held-to-maturity. These
securities were designated as held-to-maturity due to a contractual commitment to pledge and hold the securities as collateral
under one of the Company's product liability insurance policies; accordingly, such securities are reported as restricted securities
on the December 31, 2006 and 2005 Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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Deferred Preservation Costsj
By federal law, human tissiies cannot be bought or sold. Therefore, the tissues the Company preserves and further * '
processes cannot be held as inventory. Tissue is procured from deceased human donors by organ and tissue procurement
agencies, which consign the tissue to the Company for processing, preservation, and distribution. Preservation costs consist
primarily of direct labor and materials (including laboratory expenses, tissue procurement fees, freight-in charges, and fringe
benefits) and indirect costs (including allocations of costs from departments that support processing activities and facility
allocations). Although the Company cannot own human tissue, the preservation process is a manufacturing process thatis *
accounted for in accordance with Accounting Research Bulletin No, 43 (“ARB 43™) Chapter 4, Inventory Pricing. Preservation
costs are stated at the lower of cost or market on a first-in, first-out basis and are deferred until revenue 1s recognized upon
shipment of the tissue to the 1mplantmg facilities. - . “

R ! | I

The calculation of deferred preservation costs includes a high degree of judgment and complexity. The costs included in
deferred preservation costs contain several estimates due to the timing differences between the occurrence of the cost and
receipt of final bills for services. Costs that contain estimates include tissue procurement fees, which are estimated based on
the Company’s contracts with independent procurement agencies, and freight-in charges, which are estimated based on the
Company’s prior experiences with these charges. These costs ar¢ adjusted for differences between estimated and actual fees
when invoices for these services are received. ‘Management believes that its estimates approximate the actual costs of these
services, but estimates could differ from actual costs. Total deferred preservation costs are then allocated among the
different tissues processed during the period based on specific cost drivers such as the number of donors and the number of
tissues processed. At each balance sheet date a portion of the deferred preservation costs relates to tissues currently in active
processing or held in quarantine pending release to implantable status. The Company applies a yield estimate to all tissues in
process and in quarantine to estimate the portion of tissues that will ultimately become implantable. Management determines
this estimate of quarantine yields based on its experience in prior periods and reevaluates this estimate periodically. Due to
the nature of this estimate and the length of the processing times experienced by the Company, actual yields could differ
from the Company’s estimates. A significant change in quarantine yields could materially impact the amount of deferred
preservation costs on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet and the cost of preservation services, including the lower
of cost or market write-down, described below, on the Company’s Consolidated Statethénts of Operations.

The Company regularly evaluates its deferred preservation costs to determine if the costs'are appropriately recorded at
the lower of cost or market value and to determine if there are any impairments to the book value of the Company’s deferred
preservation costs. The Company recorded a write-down of $2.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2006 due to the
impairment of certain orthopaedic tissues and processing materials as a result of the RTI Agreement discussed in Note 3
below. This write-down is based on the Company’s estimate of the tissues that will be shipped during the 18-month period
subsequent to December 31, 2006 in which the Company can continue to distribute its existing orthopaedic tissues. The ™
amount of tissues shipped during that period could differ significantly from this initial estimate resulting in higher margins
on shipments of orthopaedic tissues during the 18-month period or additional write-downs in future'p‘e'r:iods. ’ :

S T

The Company also recorded $1.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2006 and $1.8 million in the year ended
December 31, 2005 as an increase to cost of preservation services to write-down the value of certain deferred tissu¢
preservation costs that exceeded market value. The amount of these write-downs are primarily due to excess current period
tissue processing costs that exceeded market value based on recent average service fees”” Actual results may differ from these
estimates. : . - Ct

. St : IR G

The Company regularly evaluates its deferred preservation costs to determine if an ithpairnient in the value of the
deferred preservation costs is required when the value of these tissues is not expected to be fully recoverable. A write-down
of $588,000 was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2006 due to the impairment of certain orthopaedic tissues.

. ‘ . RS o ,

As of December 31, 2006 deferred preservation'costs consisted of $4.7 million for allograft heart valve tissues, $I.0 '+
million for non-valved cardiac tissues, $11.3 million for vascular tissues, and $2.3 million for orthopaedic tissues. As of
December 31, 2005 deferred preservation costs consisted of $3.4 million for allograft heart valve tissues, $566 000 for non-
valved cardiac tissues, $6.0 mllllon for vascular tissues, and $4.0 mllllon for orthopaed:c tissues. X o ‘

FIN |

P
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Inventories

Inventories are comprised of implantable surgical adhesives and bioprosthetic products and are valued at the lower of cost
(first-in, first-out) or market.

The Company was required to adopt Statements of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) 151 “lnventory Costs”
(“SFAS 151") effective January 1, 2006. SFAS 151 requires current period expensing of items such as idle facility expense,
excessive spoilage, doubie freight, and rehandling costs and requires allocation of fixed production overheads to be based on
the normal capacity of the productlon facilities. The adoption of SFAS 151 did not have a material impact on the Company’s
results of operations and financial position.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets, generally
three to ten years, on a straight-line basis. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term or
the estimated useful lives of the assets, whichever is shorter, '

ot

Long-Lived Assets . . . 7 . . v . w | B

SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Dlsposal of Long-Lwed Assets” (“SFAS 144”), requires the write-
down of 4 long-lived asset to be held and used if the carrying value of the asset or the asset group to which the asset belongs
is not recoverable. The carrying value of the asset or asset group is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted
future cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset or asset group. In applying SFAS 144
the Company defined the specific asset groups used to perform the cash flow analysis. The Company defined the asset
groups at the lowest level possible, by 1dent:fymg the cash flows from groups of assets that could be segregated from the
cash flows of other assets and liabilities. Usmg this methodology the Company determmed that its asset groups cons:sted of
the long-lived assets related to the Company s two reportmg segments ‘As 'the Company doés not segregate assets by oo
segment, the Company allocated assets to the two reportmg segments based on factors including facility space and revenues.
The undiscounted future cash flows related to these asset groups ‘exceeded their carrying values as of December 31, 2006°
and 2005, therefore, management concluded that thére was not an impairment of the Company’s long-lived mtanglble dssets
and tangible assets related to the tissue preservatton business or medical device business. However, depending on the
Company’s ability to rebuild demand for its tissue preservation services and the future eﬂ“ects ‘'of events surrounding the FDA
Order as defined in Note 3 below, these assets may become impaired. Management w1l] continue to evaluate the
recoverab:hty of these assets in aecordance with SFAS 144

. ) Soue
[ . C 1 i . W N o . - S N

lntangibIeAvsets S ‘»; . e . L Y P a

SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Inlangtble Assets" {“SFAS 142™), requtres that goodw:ll resultmg from busmess .
acquisitions and other intangible assets be subject to periodic impairment testing. The Company’s intangible assets consist of
patents and trademarks. In addition, during 2006, the Company acquired customer lists, non-compete agreements, procurement
contracts and access to the procurement of cardiovascular and vascular human tissues prewously received by RTI as a result of
the RTI Agreement discussed in Note 3 below. The Company amortizes its definite lived intangible assets over their expected
useful lives using the straight-line method. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 the Company did not belteve thal an lmpamnent
existed related to its intangible assets.

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 gross values, accumulated amortization, and amortization periods of the Company’s
definite lived intangible assets are as follows (in thousands):

R T [ N LI ot

' ‘ ’ L - Gross Coe : B oW
‘ ’ Carrying Accumulated  Amortization
Patents $ - 5598 $ 1,372 17 Years
Customer lists 515 -- 3 Years
Non-compete agreement 381 o 10 Years*. -
Décemher 31, 2005 : - oo
Patents $ 6,568 § - 1,691 i 17 Years
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As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 the carrying values of the Company’s indefinite lived intangible assets are as follows (in
thousands): ’ '

_ Trademarks | o e R I S S S
~ Procurement contracts - ' S : . : SR 2013 SR
. As,of December 31, 2006 schedul_éd amortization of intangible assets for.the next five years is as follouvs (in thousands):

2007 2008 2000 2010 2011  _Total’

Amortization expense $ 498 § . 498 § 496 § 321 % 315 8 2,128°

- ol E . L . B . ' o e -
Accrued Procurement Fees - . R

Tissue is procured from deceased human donors by organ and tissue procurement agencies ("Agencies"), which consign
the tissue to the Company for processing, preservation, and distribution. The Company reimburses the Agencies for their costs
to recover the tissue and passes on these costs to theicustomer when the tissue is shrpped and the service is complete. The
Company accrues the estrmated procurement fees due to the Agenc1es at the' tlme the tlssue is recetved based on contractual
agreements between the Company and the Agencles . ‘ . s

o o S R R

Product Lt::bility Claims ' = .

Vo [T T SR e R !

, In t.he normal course of busrness asla medical device and servrces company, the Company has product lrablhty complamts
filed agalnst it. The Company maintains claims-made insurance poltcres to mitigate its financial exposure to product liability
clarmsd Claims-made insurance pollc1es generally cover only those asserted claims and 1nc1dents that are reported to the
insyrance carrier while the policy is in effect. Thus a clarms—made pollcy does not generally represent a transfer of risk for
claims and mmdents that have been mcurred but not reported to the insurance camer durmg the pohcy perrod The Company _
penodrcally evaluates its exposure to unreported product lrablhty clatms and records accruals as necessary for the estlmated cost
of unreported clalms related to servrces performed and products used. The Company retatned an independent actuanal firm to
perform revised est:mates of the um'eported claims, the latest of which was. performed in January 2007 as of December 31, 2006.
The independent firm estimated the unreported product loss llablhty using a frequency-seventy approach, whereby, projected
losses were calculated by multiplying the estimated number of claims by the estimated average cost per claim. The estimated
claims were calculated based on the reported claim development method and the Bomhuetter-Ferguson method using a blend of
the Company's historica! claim experience and industry data. The estimated cost per claim was calculated using a lognormal’
claims model blendmg the Company's historical average cost per claim with industry claims data. The Company records ,
accruals for estrmated costs for unreported product lrabrhty clarms basecl on the mformanon 1ncluded in'the actuanal valuatton

" In addition to the Company s evaluation of its exposure related to unreported product hablhty clarms the Company
periodically evaluates its exposure relatéd to settled but unpaid clairiis and ‘pending product llabrltty claims based on settlement
negottanons to date, advice from counsel and historical claim settlements. The Company then records accruals for settled but
unpaid claims and pending product hablllty claims based on its analysis. '

. . . .
- i : s '

Deferred Income Taxes o 1 ‘
o . ' N [ B R i o'

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the futiire tax COnsequences attributable to'temporary '
differences between the financial statement canying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.
Deferred.tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted income tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years
in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is-established when it is
more likely than not that the full value of a deferred tax asset will not be recovered.

1

Earm'nés (Loss) Per Common Share | . S v ,‘

Earnings (loss) per common share is computed in accordance with SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share” (“SFAS 1287) on
the basis of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus the ditutive effect of outstanding stock options,
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computed using the treasury stock method, and the dilutive effect of outstanding convertible preferred stock, computed usmg the
if converted method.

Stpck-BaSed Compensation , ‘ . ; _ : o ‘
L L] i ] ) '
The Company has stock opnon and stock 1ncent1ve plans lhat prov:de for grants to employees and dlrectors of shares and
options to purchase shares of the Company's common stock at exercise prices generally equal to the fair values of such stock at

the dates of grant. - . - ‘ e : i

The Company early adopted SFAS 123 Revised “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”) on October 1, 2005. The
Company’s decision to early adopt SFAS 123R was pursuant to a sharcholder derivative action settlement, as discussed in
Note 10. SFAS 123R requires companies to recognize the cost of all share-based payments in the financial statements using
a fair-value based measurement method. The Company adopted SFAS 123R using the modified version of prospective
appllcatlon as defined in SFAS 123R. . , c P

S ! : i . L

In periods prior to October 1, 2005 the Company clected to follow Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
"Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and related interpretations ("APB 25") in accounting for its employee stock |
options. Under APB 25, because the exercise price of the Company's employee stock options equaled the market price of the -
underlying stock on the date of the grant, no compensation expense was recognized. In accordance with APB 25 the
compensation recorded for employee stock grants was equal to the value of the grant on the measurement date, the date of the
grant, as determined by the closing price of the Company's common stock on that date. Some employee stock grants vestin _
future periods based on a requirement of continued service to the Company. For these stock grants the amount of the stock grant
was recorded as deferred compensation in the equity section of the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets, and was expensed -
over the vesting period.

‘Pro forma information regarding net income (loss) and income {loss) per common share is requi_r‘ed by SFAS 123R,
which requires that the information be determined as if the Company has accounted for its employee stock options granted |
under the fair value method of that statement. The fair values for the options accounted for under APB 25 were estimated at
the dates of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. For purposes of pro forma disclosores, the estimated fair values
of the options were amortized to expense over the options' vesting periods.

Translation of Foreign Currencies . , L : ..'- .
, . . . . . , . - A .

. Assets and liabilities of the Company denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate in effect.as of the
balance sheet date. All revenue and expense accounts are translated as transactions occur at exchange rates in effect at the time
of each transaction, Translation adjustments are recorded as a separate component of other comprehensive income in
shareholders' equity.

Derivative Instruments

In accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (“SFAS 1337), the
Company is required to separate and account for the Dividend Make-Whole Payment feature, as defined in Note 8; of its 6%
convertible preferred stock as an embedded derivative. The Company determines the fair value of its derwauve and records
the value as a current liability on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. Changes in the fair value of the derivative.
are recognized in the as a non-operating income (expense) on the Company’s Consolidated _Statemems of Operations.

* R . ' ' ' I T
Fair Values of Financial Instruments .

SFAS No. 107, "Disclosures about Fair Valu_e‘of Fina;lcia_l Instruments” requires the Company to disclose estimated fair
values for its financial instrtuments. The carrying amounts of receivables and accounts payable approximate their fair values due
to the short-term maturity of these instruments. The carrying value of the Company's other financial instruments, including the
Company’s debt and derivative liabilities, approximated fair value at December 31, 2006 and 2005. :
New Accounting Pronouncements _. .

The Company will bc requlrcd to adopt | Fmancml Accountmg Standards Board (“FASB") Interpretanon No 48
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109" (“FIN 48”) for its year
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beginning January 1, 2007. FIN 48 establishes a threshold for recognizing tax benefits if they are “more-likely-than-not™ to
be upheld upon review by the appropriate taxing authority and the requirement that companies recognize the maximum
amount of tax benefit that has a “greater than 50 percent likelihood” of ultimately being realized. The cumulative effect of
adoption of this interpretation will be reported as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings: The Company
does not anticipate that the adoption of FIN 48 wiil have a material affect on its results of operatnons or ﬁnanmal position,

although the Company is continuing to evaluate the full 1mpact of the adoption of FIN 48. ol

.t

The Company will be required to adopt SFAS No. 157 “Fair Value Measurements™ (“SFAS 157”) for-the fiscal year
beginning January 1, 2008. SFAS 157 provides a single definition of fair value and a hierarchical framework for measuring
it, as well as establishing additional disclosure requirements about the use of fair value to measure assets and liabilities. The
Company is in the process of evaluating the 1mpact of SFAS 157 on its results of operatlons and financial posmon

The Company was required to adopt SAB No. 108, codified as SAB Topic 1.N, “Considering the Effects of Prior Year
Misstatements When Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements” (“SAB 108™) for the year ended
December 31, 2006. SAB 108 requires the use of both a balance sheet approach and an income statement approach when
quantifying and evaluating the materiality of a misstatement.- Adjustment to the financial statements is required if either
approach results in quantifying a misstatement that is material. The adoption of SAB 108 d1d not have a material 1mpact on
the Company’s results of operatlons and financial p051t10n i :

2. FDA Order on Human Tissue Preservation and Other FDA Correspondence and Notices '

FDA Order ' -
0 .

On August 13, 2002 the Company received an order from the Atlanta district office of the FDA regarding the non-valved
cardiac, vascular, and orthopaedic tissites processed by the Company since October 3, 2001 (the "FDA Order"). Pursuant to the
FDA Order, the Company placed non-valved cardiac, vascular, and orthopaedic tissue subject to the FDA Order (i.e. processed
since October 3, 2001) on quality assurance quarantine and recalled the portion of those tissues that had been distributed but not
implanted. In addition the Company ceased processing non-valved cardiac, vascular, and orthopaedlc tissues.

The FDA allowed non-valved cardiac and vascular tissues covered by the recall to be distributed beginning in late
September 2002, subject to specified conditions. The Company changed its processing procedures and took. other actions
intended to address the FDA’s concerns, and now processes non-valved cardiac and vascular tissues. The Company processed
orthopaedlc tissues through December 31, 2006 when' it ceased processmg orthopaedic t1ssue pursuant to the RTI Agreement
discussed below in Note 3 S ‘ e

¢ -

See Note 10 for a discussion of certain material legal proceedings relating to the FDA Order and other matters.

Other FDA Correspondence and Notices

An FDA Form 483 Notice of Observations ("483") was issued in August 2005 in connection with the FDA inspections of -
the Company's facilities in July 2005 (“July 2005 483”). The Company responded to the July 2005 483 in August 2005, in
September 2005, and in October 2005. In-April 2006 the FDA responded on the adequacy of the Company’s responses. The
Company responded to the FDA in June 2006. In response to the July 2005 483-the Company has implemented new systems
and procedures and revised existing systems and procedures. The FDA may require the Company to implement additional
corrective actions, perform additional validation testing, or supply additional information related to the inspections, and has the
authority to take other actions, which may be more burdensome. The Company has cooperated and w1ll contmue to cooperate
with the FDA to rev1ew process improvements and address any outstandlng observatlons

S G ﬂ . . t! A .

On February 20, 2003 the Company received a létter from the FDA $tating that-a 510(k) premarket notification should-be
filed for the Company's SynerGraft processed human cardiac tissues ("CryoValve SG") and that premarket approval marketing
authorization should be obtained for the Company's SynerGraft processed human vascular tissues ("CryoVein SG") when
marketed or labeled as an arteriovenous ("A-V") access graft. The agency's position is that use of the SynerGraft technology in
the processing of allograft heart valves represents a modification to the Company' s‘]ega]ly marketed CryoValve allograft and that
vascular allografis labeled for use as A-V access grafts ar¢ medical devices that require premarket approval.
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On November 3, 2003 the Company filed a 510(k) premarket notification with the FDA for the CryoValve SG. On February
4, 2004 the Company received a letter from the FDA requesting additional information. On August 24, 2004 the Company
submitted an amendment to its original 5t0{k) submission providing clarification and additional information. The FDA
requested further additional information in November 2004. On June 8, 2005 CryoLife responded to some of these additional
requests. CryoLife also has initiated an appeal of other requests through administrative procedures. The FDA requested further
additional information in January 2006.. Since March 2006:the Company has had discussions with the FDA to address the
outstanding requests for additional information and seek clearance for the CryoValve SG pulmonary valve. On July 21,
2006 the Comipany submitted an-amendment to its 510(k) application addressing information requested by the FDA. The
Company has undertaken further clinical and preclinical evaluations in résponse to requests by the FDA. These evaluations
were submitted to the FDA in-an additional 510(k) amendment on February 2¢, 2007 The FDA may still require that .
additional studies be undertaken. Clearance of the 510(k) premarket notification with the FDA will be requn‘ed before the
Company can resume distribution of SynerGraft processed CryoValve SG. . o P

[ e,
L

On December 8, 2003 the Company received a letter from the FDA statmg that it-was the agency's position that cenam
additional cardiovascular tissues processed with the SynerGrafi technology should be regulated as medical devices. On
September 14, 2004 the Company met with the FDA to discuss the data to be used to support a formal Request for Designation
("RFD") filing for SynerGraft processed non-valved cardiac and vascular tissue, including the CryoVein SG. An RFD
submission establishes the regulatory status of the tissue. The Company submitted the RFD on October 5, 2004. The FDA -,
affirmed its original decision in letters received in December 2004, That decision was subject {0 an administrative appeal. On
October 20, 2005 CryoLife was informed that the FDA had denied the appeal and that CryoLife will be unable to distribute
CryoVein tissues with the SynerGraft technology until further submissions and FDA approvals are granted. The Company is
evaluating whether it will file and seek FDA approvals for CryoVein SG or discontinue the CryoVein SG.

As aresult of these FDA communications, in 2003 the Company suspended the use of the SynerGraft technology in the - &
processing of allograft tissue and the distribution of tissues on hand previously processed with the SynerGraft technology until , -
the regulatory issues associated with these tissues are resolved. Additionally, the Company discontinued labeling its vascular,
grafis for use as A-V access grafts. Until such time as the issues surrounding SynerGraft are resolved, the Company is
employing its traditional processing methods on these tissues. As of December 31, 2006 the Company had no deferred
preservation costs related to SynerGraft processed tissues on its Censolidated Balance Sheets. - RN

3. Exchange and ServiceAgreement ros _ T .o

On December. 19, 2006 the-Company announced that it had entered into the RTI Agreement, an exchange and service
agreement with Regeneration Technologies, Inc., and certain of its affiliates (collectively, "RTI"), respecting procurement,
processing, and distribution activities for cardiovascular and vascular tissue processed and distributed by RTI and
orthopaedic tissue for the knee processed and distributed by CryoLife. According to the RTI Agreement, CryoLife ceased
accepting for processing donated human orthopaedic tissue commencing January 1, 2007 and will work to transition existing
arrangements for recovery of human orthopaedic tissue to RTI. Likewise, on January 1, 2007 RTI ceased accepting donated
human cardiovascular and vascular tissues for processing and will work to transition its arrangements for recovery of these
tissues to CryoLife. Certain physical assets relating to the tissues that are the subject of the agreement may also be 1
transferred between the parties. No cash was exchanged in the transaction. CryoLife will continue to distribute its existing
orthopaedic tissue inventory, and RTI will continue to distribute its existing cardiovascular and vascular tissue inventory, .
through June 30, 2008. After that date CryoLife will become entitled to distribute RTI's remaining cardiovascular and
vascular tissue inventory, and RTI will become entitled to distribute CryoLife's remaining orthopaedic tissue inventory,-for a
fee. Under the RT] Agreement, from July 1, 2008 through December 31, 2016, except as set forth above, CryoLife has .
agreed not to market or solicit orders for certain human orthopaedic tissues and RTI has agreed not to market or solicit orders
for human cardiac and vascular tissues. The agreement also provides for a non-gxclusive license of technology from
CryoLife to RTI, and contains customary provisions regarding'indemnification and confidentiality: S

' " : * . ! . ol e '

As a result of the RTT Agreement, the Company recorded a net $159,000 loss, which is composed of a write-down of $2.8
million in cost of human tissue preservation services and a $2.6 million gain on exit activities included in general, :
administrative, and marketing expense and disclosed on the face of the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The $2.8 million write-down was due to the impairment of certain orthopaedic tissues and processing materials. The
write-down of deferred tissue preservation costs is based on an estimate of the tissues that will be shipped during the 18-
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month period subsequent to December 31, 2006 in which the Company can continue to distribute its existing orthopaedic
tissues. The amount of tissues shipped during that period could differ significantly from this initial estimate resulting in
higher margins on shipments of orthopaedic tissues during the 18-month period or additional write-downs in future periods.
The write-down of processing materials was based on the book value of certain raw materials that would not be used in
future periods. - " E I . :

The $2.6 million gain on exit activities is primarily due to a gain on the recording of intangible assets received from RTI,
partially offset by several individually immaterial asset write-downs and expense accruals incurred as a result of the {
transaction.- The intangibles acquired from RTI in the transaction include procurement contracts and access to the
procurement of cardiovascular and vascular human tissues previously received by RTI, customer lists, and a non-compete
agreement. The assets transferred to RTI were internally developed intangible assets, and as such, had no book value on
CryoLife’s Consolidated Balance Sheets'prior to.the transaction. The RTI Agreement was accounted for as a non-monetary
exchange in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 29 (As Amended) “Accounting for Nonmonetary
Transactions”, as clarified by Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) 01-2 “Interpretations of APB Opinion No. 29” and
SFAS 153 “Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets” based upon a valuation study prepared by an independent valuation
consultant,. - .. S e T " : o Ca :

. ‘:—l ol vt I ! . : ' '
. ' v . . R R N - . : i
4. Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities..
0 T PR B .
The following is a summary of cash equivalents and marketable securities (in thousands): -

€

Unrealized Estimated

Holding Market
Cash equivalents: : N L o . S
Money market funds - . $ 2484 3 - % 2,484
Marketable securities: ot o : ' ; .
Government entity sponsored debt securities =~ " 3 3964 § - | $ 3,965
Restricted securities:
Government entity sponsored debt securities $ 571 5 . - 8 571
. L S - v Unrealized ' Estimated
S ro AL s SN . " Holding Market
Cash equivalents: vl s ' . . .
. Money market funds N . 5595, % . - 8 5,595
Marketable securities: : ‘ o
Government entity sponsored debt securities - . $ 2980 . % 2 3 2,978 .
U.S. Treasury debt securities ' SR ‘ 1990 -n 1,990
Total marketable securities oo e g. 4970 g - [d) b 4 968
Restricted securities:  ° : Lo ; . . S
Government entity sponsored debt securities "7" S 560 % .- 3. 560

.+

Gross realized gains on sales of available-for-sale securities totaled zero for the year ended December 31, 2006 and
$3,000 for the year ended December 31, 2005. Differences between cost and market listed above, consisting of a net
unrealized holding gain of $1,000 at December 31, 2006 and a net unrealized holding loss of $2,000 at December 31, 2005,
are’included as a separate component of other comprehensive income in the shareholders’ equity section of the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. . , oo '

At December 31, 2006 and 2005 all of the Company’s marketable securities had a maturity date within 90 days.
. . o Coea . T . Lo - ) . - T

- : e ' o v . ‘-
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5. Inventories ' . - . n : : - . o

Inventories at Decembef 31 are comprised of the following (in thousands):

Lo v ! ' e . P I - -t . 2

— 206 = _2005

Raw materials 3 3,048 $ 3,083
Work-in-process 479 415 .y
Finished goods 1,626 L111

Total Inventories : - - 8 5153 % 4609 . ) S
6. Debt - : B G oo

OnFebruary 8, 2005 CryoLife and its subsidiaries entered into a new credit agreement with Wells Fargo Foothill, Inc. as
lender (the “Credit Agreement”). The Credit Agreement provides for a-revolving credit facility in an aggregate amount equal to
the lesser of $15.0 million (including a letter of credit subfacility of up to an aggregate of $2.0 million) or a borrowing base . |
determined in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement. Generally, the borrowing base is 20% of the appraised value
of the business of CryoLife, reduced by specified lender reserves. The Credit Agreement places further limitations on the
amount that the Company may borrow, and includes various affirmative and negative covenants, including financial covenants
such as a requirement that CryoLife maintain on a quarterly basis (i) a minimum aggregate borrowing capacity plus cash and
cash equivalents, as defined, of $12.5 million or (ii} achieve an incréasing level of minimum earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation, and amortization ("EBITDA"), BioGlue gross margins greater than 70% for the preceding twelve months, and cash
and cash equivalents, as defined, of $5.0 million. While the Company currently expects that its aggregate borrowing capacity
under the Credit Agreement will equal $15.0 million, there can be no assurance that the capacity will remain at this level. The
Credit Agreement also includes customary conditions on incurring new indebtedness and limitations on cash dividends. Cash
dividends on any class of capital stock are prohibited; provided that cash dividends on preferred stock may be paid so long as the
Company maintains $7.5 million, in the aggrepate, of cash, cash equivalents, and borrowing capacity, as defined. There is no
restriction on the payment of stock dividends. Commitment fees are paid based on the unused portion of the facility. The Credit
Agreement expires on February 7, 2008, at which time the outstanding principal balance will be due. Due to the terms of the
Credit Agreement and due to the net losses and negative cash flows experienced by the Company since the FDA Order, the-
Company-has classified amounts due under the Credit Agreement as short-term debt on the December 31, 2006 Consohdated
Balance Sheet in accordance wnh the provisions of FASB Techmcal Bulletin No. 79-3 {As Amended) .

. - ! T . S '

Amounts bonowed under the Credit Agreement are secured by substantially all of the tangible and intangible assets of
CryolLife and its subsidiaries and bear interest at the bank's prime rate plus 1%, which was 9.25% as of December 31, 2006 and
8.25% as of December 31, 2005. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 the outstanding balance of the Credit Agreement was $4.5
million and the remaining borrowing availability was $10.5 million. .

The Company routinely enters into agreements.to finance insurance premiums for periods not to exceed the terms of the -
related insurance policies. In the quarter ended June 30, 2006 the Company entered into two agreements.to finance
approximately $1.6 million and $715,000 in insurance premiums associated with the yearly renewal of certain of the
Company’s insurance policies. The amounts financed accrued interest at a 6.71% and 6.70% rate, respectively, and were
payable in equal monthly payments over a nine month period and an eight month period, respectwely As of December 31,
2006 the outstanding balance under the agreements was Zero. . ‘ ‘

+
’

In the quarter ended June 30, 2005 -the Company entered into two agreements to finance approximately $1.7 million and
$761,000 in insurance premiums associated with the yearly renewal of certain Company insurance policies. The amounts
financed accrued interest at a 4.98% and 5.01% rate, respectively, and were payable.in equal monthly payments over a nine
month period and an eight month period, respectively. As of December 31 2005 the outstanding balance under the
agreements was zero. . s . . ) ) R

In September 2006 the Company’s European subsidiary obtained a pre-approved credit facility with a bank in the United
Kingdom for the financing of vehicles. This credit facility pre-approves the Company to enter into leases to finance vehicles,
for which terms and interest rates are set for each individual lease agreement. The Company has accounted for the leases
entered into under this credit facility as operating leases. The credit facility allows the Company to have a total exposure on
outstanding leases, as defined by the bank, of £180,000 (or approximately $353,000 as of December 31, 2006). Per the
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bank, the Company had a total exposure of approximately £90,000 or $176,000 as of December 31, 2006, and the
Company’s total payment obligations related to these outstanding leases was $109,000 as of December 31, 2006.

t

Total interest expense was $657,000, $346,000, and $l_96,000 in 2006, 2003, and 2004, respectively.

7. Private Equity Placement

On January 7, 2004 the Company’s Boatd of Directors authorized an agreement with a financial advisory company to
sell shares of the Company’s common stock in a private investment in public equity transaction (the “PIPE”). The PIPE was
consummated on January 27, 2004, and resulted in the sale of approximately 3.4 million shares of stock at a price of $6.25
per share. The sale generated net proceeds of approximately $19.3 million, after commissions, filing fees, late registration -
fees, and other related charges, which was used for general corporate purposes. The Company filed a registration statement
on Form S-3 with the SEC covering the resale of the shares sold in the PIPE by the investors. The Company paid a total of
$466,000 in late registration penaltiesito the investors through May 18, 2004, the date the registration statement was declared
effective. This amount was deducted from the PIPE proceeds in recordmg net proceeds from the PIPE in‘shareholders’
equity. _ : o - . _ b W

[

8. Convertible Preferred Stock o

On December 17, 2004 the Company announced that it had ﬁled a shelf registration statement on Form S- 3 with the SEC
covering the sale from time to time of uip to $50 million of its common stock, preferred stock, depositary shares, or any
combination of these securities for its own account in one or more offerings. - :

[, - - . st . ‘ |
On March 18 and April:19, 2005 the Compariy completed a public offering of 417,000 shares of 6% convertible

preferred stock (the “Preferred Stock™) at-a price to the public of $50.00 per share. Net proceeds from the offering; afier
deducting underwr:tmg discounts and. offermg—related expenses totaled approx1mately $19 1 million.

Dividends on the Preferred Stock are cumulative from the date of original issue at the annual rate of 6% of the liguidation
preference of the Preferred Stock, payable quarterly on the first day of January, April, July, and October, commencing July
1,2005. Any dividends must be declared by the Company’s board of directors and must come from'funds that are legally
available for dividend payments. The Company declared dividends of $973,000 and $777,000 in the years ended December
31, 2006 and 2005, respectively to shareholders of record. The Company made cash payments of $973,000 and $533,000 in
the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2003, respectively for dividends declared. Dmdends of approx1mately $243,000
were paid on January 2,2007 1o shareholders of record on December 22, 2006, : .

The Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the holder at any time into the Company’s common stock at a
conversion rate of approximately 6.2189 shares of common stock for each share of Preferred Stock, based on an initial
conversion price of $8.04. The initial conversion price is subject to adjustment in certain events. The Company reserved
4,600,000 shares 'of common stock for issuance upon conversion. Through December 31, 2006 holders had voluntanly

converted 92,000 shares of Preferred Stock into 575,000 shares of common stock
v ! -1 .

The Company may automat1cally convert the Preferred Stock into common stock if the closing price of the Company 5
common stock has exceeded $12.06, which is 150% of the conversion pnce of the Preferred Stock, for at least 20 trading
days during any 30-day trading per1od endmg w1th1n five trading days prlor to notice of automatic conversion.

If the Company elects to automatlcally convert, or the holder elects to voluntanly convert, some or all of the Preferred
Stock into common stock prior to April I, 2008, the Company will make an additional payment on the Preferred Stock equal
to the aggregate amount of dividends that would have been payable on the Preferred Stock through and including April 1,
2008, less any dividends already paid on the Preferred Stock, (the “Dividend Make-Whole Payment”). The Dividend Make-
Whole Payment is payable in cash or; at the Company’s option, in shares of the Company’s common stock, or a combination
of cash and shares of common stock. : At December 31, 2006 the Company had issued 119,000 shares of common stock to
converting holders to satisfy this additional payment : :

]
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The Preferred Stock has a liquidation preference of $50 per share, plus accrued and unpaid dividends. - The liquidation
preference of the Preferred Stock was approximately $16.5 million as of December 31, 2006, before the payment of the
January 2007 dividend.

The Company may elect to redeem the Preferred Stock, in whole or in part, at declining redemption prices on or after
April 7, 2008,

The Preferred Stock has no maturity date and no voting rights prior to conversion into common stock, except under
limited circumstances.

9. Derivatives
Dividend Make-Whole Payments . ‘.

In accordance with SFAS 133, the Company is required to separate and account for the Dividend Make-Whole Payment
feature of its Preferred Stock as an embedded derivative, (the “Derivative™). As an embedded derivative instrument, the
Dividend Make-Whole Payment feature must be measured at fair value and reflected as a current liability on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Changes in the fair value of the Derivative are recognized in the line item change in valuation
of derivative as a non-operating income (expense) on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company
determined the fair value of the Derivative to be $1.0 million on March 18, 2005, the date of issuance. The Company
determined the fair value of the Derivative related to the issuance upon exercise of the underwriter’s over allotment option to
be $32,000 on April 19, 2005, the date of issuance. These amounts were allocated from the proceeds of the Preferred Stock
to the derivative liability.

Due to the quarterly revaluation of the derivative liability, the Company recorded other expense of $121,000 and other
income of $140,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. o . .

10. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

The Company's capital lease obligations result from the financing of certain of the Company's equipment. The Company's
operating lease obligations result from the lease of land and buildings that comprise the Company's corporate headquarters
and manufacturing facilities, leases related to additional manufacturing, office, and warehouse space rented by the Company,
leases on housing for expatriated employees, leases on Company vehicles, and leases on a variety of office equipment. .

The term of the lease of the land and buildings that comprise the Company’s corporate headquarters was originally 15 years
and was later extended to 19 years. This lease expires in 2015. Certain leases contain escalation clauses and renewal options for
additional periods. Rent expense is computed on the straight-line method over the lease term with the offsetting accrual recorded
in other long—term liabilities.r . . - .- ~

N

{
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v Future minimum lease paymients under non-cancelable leases as of December 31, 2006 are.as follows (in thousands):

A et
Leases \
—Capital =~ _QOperating
007 e T b ot Lt e . | .53 %8 2459
2008 52 2,360
2009 53 2,226
2010 v - clui o e e e S ‘ © - 35 < . 2,119
2011 - 2,145
Thereafter == 8,524
Total minimum lease payments 3 193 §__ 198313
Less amount representing interest at a weighted average 9% interest rate ) 29
Present value of net minimum lease payments S 1640
Less current maturities 40
- Capital'leasé obligations, less curréni maturities =+« Tes owtooerts o c§i. o 124 Sh
Y O T TV SV OU U U U AL MR . ., L i .

The gross-amount of propeity acquired under capital leases included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets consists of the

following (in thousands}): bl e N Wao. < TR BRI
N N T T PO PP L R [ S S BRI T N LPRPRIE (TR S :
T T U S P AR L S 1 R VOO ST PR SR 2006 - 2005 .
Equiprientf 1ot ety e N 937 & 730
Furniture and fixture§ -+~ 0 I R 765 - 686
Leasehold improvements 1,244 1244

Total b —

oM U e sy v L 'Y LI B it e, . : e

The amortization of the Company’s assets acquired under capital l€asés is recorded as depreciation expense based on the life
of the lease. Total rental expense for operating leases was $2.3 million, $2.4 million, and $2.5 million, for 2006, 2005, and 2004,
respectively. Total rental income under a sublease that terminated during 2005 was $258,000 and $310,000 in 2005 and 2004,

respectively. _ -
Litigation, Claims, and Assessments

Product Liability Claims * = "+ 6 Voo 50 o0 IR
IR N TURIE S DI AT NE VRN CI L/ ST O M SO PR R e .

2 .In the norimal cotirse of business'as a imédical device and services company, the Company has product liability complaints
filed against it: -As of February 16, 2007 the Company-was aware of three pending product liability lawsuits.' The lawsuits are
currently in the pre-discovery or discovery stages. Of these lawsuits, two allege product liability claims arising out of the
Coinpany's‘allograft heart valve issue services, and one alleges a product liability claim arising from the Company’s allograft
orthopaedic tissue setvices, »-- v 1 Waen e Lo L -t oL e

A Lol A S T L VA PR o, RS o .

Two of the outstanding product liability lawsuits against the Company are not covered by insurance, as the claimed loss date
was prior to the effective coverage date for the insurance policy. Additional uninsured claims may be filed in the future. Other
product liability claims have been asserted against the Company that have not resulted in lawsuits as of Febmary 16, 2007. The

Company is monitoring these claims.

The Company performed an analysis as of December 31, 2006 of the settled but unpaid claims and the pending product
liability claims based on settlement negotiations to date and advice from counsel. As of December 31, 2006 the Company had
accrued a total of approximately $330,000 for pending product liability. The $330,000 accrual is included as a component of
accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the December 31, 2006 Consolidated Balance Sheet. This amount represents
the Company's estimate of the probable losses related to one of the three pending product liability claims. The Company has not
recorded an accrual for the remaining two product liability claims because management has concluded that either a loss is remote
or that, although a loss is reasonably possible or probable, a reasonable estimate of that loss or the range of 1osses cannot be
made at this time. As of December 31, 2005 the Company had accrued a total of approximately $1.5 million for settled but
unpaid claims and pending product liability claims and recorded $244,000 representing amounts to be recovered from the
Company's insurance carriers. The $1.5 million accrual is included as a component of accrued expenses and other current
liabilities on the December 31, 2005 Consolidated Balance Sheet.
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If the Company is unable to settle one or more of the product liability lawsuits in which the Company:is a defendanl and 1f
any such lawsuit should be tried with a substantial verdict rendered in favor of the plaintiff{s}), there.can be no assurance that
such verdict(s) would not exceed the-Company’s available liquid assets. - Additionally, the Company does not-have a reasonable
method for estimating the amount of compensatory-or punitive damages that could -be assessed by a trial jury with respect to any
lawsuit that it is unable to settle prior to,trial, and the Company’s product liability insurance policies do not include coverage for
any punitive damages. Failure by the Company to resolve the outstanding product liability claims within its ability to pay, would
have a material adveme effect on the financial posmon results of operations, and cash flows of the Company Ce

SR o PIN -1 T et . G M ) l‘. el inow” i ' ' o L

On April 1; 2006 the Company bound coverage for the 2006/2007 insurance, pol1cy year: This polrcy isa four-year cla1ms-
made insurance policy, i.e. claims incurred during the period April I, 2003 through March 31, 2007 and reported during the
period April 1, 2006 through March 31, 2007 are covered by this pol1cy Claims incurred prior to Apnl 1, 2003 that have not
beenreportedarcumnsured T L TR f11 Vs R i

BT PR TN o Yla N - Rt 1 1. P I IR 0 ’ '

The Company maintains claims-made insurance policies to mitigate its financial exposure to product liability claims.
Claims-made insurance policies'generally cover only those asserted claims and incidents that are reported to the insurance carrier
while the policy isin effect. Thus, a claims-made.policy does not generally represent a transfer of risk for claims and incidents..
that have been incurred but not reported to the insurance carrier during the policy period. The Company periodically evaluates..
its exposure to unreported product liability claims and records accruals as necessary for the estimated cost of unreported claims
related to services performed and products used. In January 2007 the Company retained an independent actuarial firmto;. -+ -
perform revised estimates of the unreported claims as of December 31, 2006. The independent firm estimated the unreported
product loss Hability using a-frequency-severity.approach, whereby projected losses were calculated by multiplying the estimated
number of claims by, the estimated average cost per claim! The estimated claims were calculated based on the reported claim', -
development method and the Bornhuetter-Ferguson method using a blend of the Company's historical claim experience and |
industry data. ‘The estimated.cost per claim was calculated using a lognormal claims model blending the Company's historical ,
average cost per claim with industry claims data. The independent actuarial firm used a number of assumptions in orderto, » , -
estimate the unreported product loss liability including: .3, . T T T

i N . Lty o, A L oL

o A ceiling of $5.0 million was selected for actuarial purposes in deterrmnmg the llablllty per claim given the
‘uncertainty in projecting claim losses in excess of $5.0 million; .., . fs.f sy 0 e T 4 0
S ' o - "".*..,-"ws.h---" LI ATV
+ »  Thefuture claim reporting lag time would bc a-blend of the Company’s experiences and industry data,.
L T T PPN oL RS [ L L N ) PR R A
n. s+ The frequency of unreported claims for accrdent years 2001 .through 2006 would be lower than the Company’s |
" experience in the 2002/2003 policy- year but higher than the Company s historical claim frequency pnor tothe -

2002/2003 policy year, e vl U

» The average cost per claim would be lower than the Company’s experience since the-2002/2003 policy. year, but .
hlgher than the Company s historical cost per claim prior to the 2002/2003 policy year,

3 ) L. N ] ., i L. ! r . . R . . . ‘- .
S e The average cost per BioGlue claim would be consistent with the Company s overall hrstoncal exposures unul 4,
adequate historical data is available on thls product line,and- v+ o wuw. . L A e

' il a7 . ooy 1 N ' . .‘l"'l" . Ch

..;e  The number.of BioGlue claims per million dollars of BloGlue revehue would be 40% lower than non—BmGlue .
claims per million dollars of revenue. The 40% factor was selected based on BioGlue claims experience to-date
and consultation with the actuary.

"

i SR =gty
The Company believes that these assumptions provide a reasonable basis for the calculation of the unreported product
liability loss; but accuracy of the actuarial firm's estimates is limited by the general uncertainty that exists for any estimate of
future activity due to uncertainties surrounding the assumptions used and due’to Company specific conditions, the:Company's: ¢
increased litigation activity following the FDA Order, the Company's low; volume of pre-FDA-Order historical claims, and the -
scarcity of industry data directly relevant to.the Company's business activities: Due to these factors, actual results may differ .- +
significantly from the assumptions used and amounts accrued. .. .+ .« . ot L e
Co ST ' - U K P T R Coa et
--Based on the actuarial valuation performed in January-2007 as of December 31, 2006, the Company estimated that its
Ilablllty for unreported product liability claims was $6.6 million as of December.31,.2006. In accordance with Emergmg Issues™

A o, vt R I Yo
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Task Force Issue 03-8, the Company has accrued $6.6 million, representing the Company’s best estimate of the total liability for
unreported product liability claims related to services performed and products sold prior to December 31, 2006. The $6.6 -
million balance is included as a component of accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $3.3 million and other long-term
liabilities of $3.3 million on the December 31, 2006 Consolidated Balance Sheet. Further analysis indicated that the liability
could be estimated to be as high as $12.3 million, after including a reasonable margin for statistical fluctuations calculated based
on actuarial simulation techniques. Based on the actuarial valuation, the Company estimated that as of December 31, 2006, $2.3
million of the accrual for unreported liability claims would be recoverable under the Company's insurance policies. The $2.3
million insurance recoverable is included as a component of other receivables of $1.1 million and other long-term assets of §1.2
million on the December 31, 2006 Consolidated Balance Sheet. These amounts represent management's estimate of the probable
losses and anticipated recoveries for unreported product liability claims related to services performed and products sold prior to
December 31, 2006. -Actual results may differ from this estimate.
. ' . DR "

As of December 31, 2005 the Company accrued $7.5 million for unreported product liability claims and recorded a
receivable of $2.5 million for unreported liability claims estimated to be recoverable under the Company’s insurance
policies. This $7.5 million accrual is included as a component of accrued expenses and other current liabilities of $3.8
million and other long-term liabilities of $3.7 million on the December 31, 2005 Consolidated Balance Sheet. The $2.5
million insurance recoverable is included as a component of other current receivables of $1.1 million and other long-term
assets of $1.4 million on the December 31, 2005 Consolidated Balance Sheet. - at

Class Action Lawsuit ' - .o . _ . .

‘ O . Lot “

Several putative class action lawsuits were filed in July through September 2002 against the Company and certain officers
of the Company, alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 based on a series of
purportedly materially false and misleading statements to the market. The suits were consolidated, and a consolidated amended
complaint filed, that principally alleged that the Company made misrepresentations and omissions relating to product safety and
the Company did not comply with certain FDA regulations regarding the handling and processing of certain tissues and other
product safety matters, The consolidated complaint sought certification of a class of purchasers between April 2, 2001 and -
August 14, 2002, compensatory damages and other expenses of Imgatlon

! i

On July 21, 2005 the Company reached an agreement in prmCIp]e to settle the securities class action lawsuit. The
settlement resolved all claims asserted against the Company and the individual defendants in this case. The terms of the
settlement included a total settlement of $23.25 million in cash and stock. The cash payment, which included approximately
$12.0 million in insurance proceeds and approximately $9.3 million in Company funds, was paid in the third and fourth
quarter of 2005. The Company transferred 500,000 shares valued at $2.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2005 in payment of
the stock portion of the settlement. The Company-and the individual defendants have denied any wrongdomg and liability
whatsoever, and the settlement does not contain any admission of liability.

Insurance Coverage Dispute

In September 2006 the Company favorably settled insurance coverage disputes with former insurance carriers for $2.1
million, net of associated legal fees. The disputes involved losses stemming from approximately $11.3 million paid in 2005
by the Company in settlement of outstanding claims. No party admitted any liability as part of the ‘September 2006
settlement. The net proceeds of $2.1 million were received in October 2006 and are included as a component of general,
administrative, and. marketing expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31,
2006. "

Shareholder Derivative Action

On August 30, 2002 a purported shareholder derivative action was filed by Rosemary Lichtenberger against Steven G.
Anderson, Albert E. Heacox, John W. Cook, Ronald C. Elkins, Virginia C. Lacy, Ronaid D. McCall, Alexander C. Schwartz,
and Bruce J. Van Dyne in the Superior Court of Gwinnett County, Georgia. The suit, which named the Company as a nominal
defendant, alteged that the individual defendants breached their fiduciary duties to the Company by causing or allowing the
Company to engage in certain inappropriate practices that caused the Company to suffer damages. The complaint was preceded
by one day by a letter written on behalf of Ms. Lichtenberger demanding that the Company's Board of Directors take certain
actions in response to her allegations. On January 16, 2003 another purported derivative suit alleging claims similar to-those of
the Lichtenberger suit was filed in the Superior Court of Fulton County by complainant Robert F. Frailey. As in the
Lichtenberger suit, the filing of the complaint in the Frailey action was preceded by a demand letter sent on Frailey's behalf to the
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Company's Board of Directors.. Both complaints sought undisclosed damages, costs and attorney's fees, punitive damages, and
prejudgment interest against the individual defendants derivatively on behalf of the Company.

A settlement with respect to the shareholder derivative lawsuit was agreed to by the parties and approved by the board
and the court. Pursuant to the settlement, the Company paid $3.5 million, in the third quarter of 2005, related to the
plaintiffs’ counsel fees and expenses. The $3.5 million payment was entirely covered by the Company’s insurance carriers.

Additionally, as part of the settlement, the-Company and its management have also agreed to several changes in
corporate governance, including the identification and appointment of a new director with regulatory experience who was
appointed in December 2005, the formation of a regulatory affairs and quality assurance committee, and the adoption of
SFAS 123R in the fourth quarter of 2005, '

SEC Investigation : - . Lo

r . . . v e, . l . .

On August 19, 2002 the Company issued a press release announcing that on August 17, 2002, the Company received a letter
from the Atlanta District Office of the SEC inquiring about certain matters relating to the Company's August 14, 2002
announcement of the FDA Order. The SEC notified the Company in July 2003 that the inquiry became a formal investigation in
June 2003. CryoLife has cooperated with this investigation both before and after the issuance of the formal order of
investigation in June 2003 and intends to continue doing so. CryoLife voluntarily reported the names of six employees and .
former employees to the SEC in December.2002 after discovering they had apparently sold CryoLife shares-on August 14, 2002,
before trading was halted pending CryoLife's press release reporting the FDA Order. These individuals were not and are not
executive officers of CryoLife. The fonmal order of investigation indicates that the SEC's scope includes whether, during 2002,
among other things, CryoLife or others may have traded while in possession of material nonpublic information, made (or caused
to be made) false or misleading statements or omissions in press releases and SEC filings, and failéd 1o maintain accurate records
and adequate controls. The investigation could also encompass matters not specifically identified in the formal order. On
September 15, 2005 the SEC announced that it had commenced proceedings in federal district court against certain of the
above-referenced former and current employees (and certain of their spouses) for alleged illegal insider trading arising out of
their August 14, 2002 trading activities. Those proceedings resulted in settlements with the SEC. As of the date hereof, the
SEC has had no discussions with CryoLife as to whether the SEC will seek additional relief against CryoLife, or the nature of
any relief that may be sought. At present, CryoLife is unable to predict the ultimate focus, its current status, outcome of the
investigation, or when it will be completed. An unfavorable outcome could have a material adverse effect on CryoLife's
reputation, business, financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.

. f‘ . B " . i
11. Stock Option and Stock Incentive Plans and Stock Compensation

" r

Stock Option and Incentivé Plans g -

The Company has stock option and stock incentive plans that provide for grants to employees and directors of shares and
options to purchase shares of the Company's common stock al exercise prices generally equal to the fair values of such stock at
the dates of grant. Options granted to employees typically become exercisable over a five-year vesting period and have a 66
month term. Options granted to directors typically vest immediately and have a 60 month term.,

As of December 31, 2006 the Company is authorized to grant under the Company's plans up to the following number of
shares: - e "

Plan . . _ Shares

1998 Long-Term Incentive Plan | 900,000
2002 Stock Incentive Plan : .- - . ro Vo T 974,000
2004 Employee Stock Incentive Plan . it o T ' 2,000,000

2004 Non-Employee Directors Stock Option Plan ‘ S 500,000

. As of December 31, 2006 and-2005 there were 1.9 million and 2.6 million, respectively, shares of common stock reserved
for future issuance under the Company's stock option and stock incentive plans after considering prior grants. Upon the exercise
of stock options, the Company may issue the required shares out of authorized but unissued common stock or out of treasury
stock, at management’s discretion. - :
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A summary of Company’s stock option transactlons under the plans as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006, 2005

and 2004 follows: " .
: Weighted
' ! Average
Weighted Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic .
Shares . Exercise Price Term Value l

Outslandmg at December3l 2003 ’ 2523000 £ 1148 -
Granted o ‘ 319,000 5.49
Exercised (72,000) 232
Forfeited (123,000) 947
Expired ——(354,000) 11.54 _

Outstanding at December 31, 2004 2293000 8 11.04 278 $ 3,354,000
Granted - Tl - 115,000 7.08 -

Exercised+. or ' . (36,000) - 3.14 '
Forfeited . + ' ' o -{126,000) 5.62 ' :
Expired ' Co o (492,000) 1024 : -

Outstanding at Decamber3l 2005 v o0 1754000 % . 1155 242§ 505,000
Granted .o -948,000 -4.98 - . {
Exer(:lsed 1 {101,000) - 2.25 e c
Forfeited ' : : (103,000 5.09
Expired - : — (310.000) 26.67 -

Outstanding at December 31, 2006 — 2188000 § 7.29 303 $ 5,328,000.

Vested and Expccted to Vest . - 2,084,000 § 7.41 . 090 § 5,053,000

‘ 1,091,000 §- 9.69 1.89  $- 2,318,000 .

Exercisable at December 31, 2006

The following table summarizes information concerning outstanding and exercisable options at December 31, 2006: .

|
—'»‘

Options Outstanding

) QOptions E xg[‘ ¢isable .
Weighted :
Range of Average Average Weighted Weighted
Exercise Number Remaining Average Number Average
Pri Q i C Life E ise Price - E isahl Exercise Pri
$ 2.20-4.25 595,000 2.65 $ 3.11 271,000 § 224
4.78-5.03 450,000 3.94 4.97 155,000 4.92
5.05-5.80 554,000 4.05 5.43 131,000 5.31
6.16-27.90. - 496,000 1.85. 12.26 441,000 » 12.99
. 29 15-30.86 93,000 L14 2972 : 93000 _ - 2970
o $220-30.86 - 2,188,000 303§ 729 ...1091000 § 9.69
Other information concerning stock options for the years ended December 31 is as follows:
2006 2005 2004
Weighted average fair value of options granted b3 264 § 3.51 § 2.80
Intrinsic value of options exercised $ 362,000 $ 148,000 $ . 304,000

In August 2006 the Company's Board of Directors authorized the grant of stock to its non-employee directors. The
stock grants of 2,500 shares of common stock per non-employee director were valued at a total of $109,000 based on the
stock price of $5.47 on the date of grant. The value of this stock grant will be recorded as director compensation over the
12-month vesting period. As of December 31, 2006 the Company recorded $36,000 in expense related to these stock grants
and had deferred compensation recorded of $73,000. The Company also made cash payments totaling $38,000 to the non-
employee directors to: pamally offset each individual’s income tax liability as a result of the stock gram

In February 2006 the Company s Board of D1rectors authorized the grant of stock to recognize the perfonnance of certain
Company executives. The stock grants totaled 34,000 shares of common stock, which were valued at $145,000 based on the
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stock price of $4.25 on the date of grant. The Company purchased $50,000 of Company stock from employees, based on the-
closing price on the New York Stock Exchange on the day the stock was transferred to the Company, to pay employee federal
and state withholding taxes related to these stock grants. The Company recorded $145,000 in compensation expense related to .
these stock grants for the year ended December 31, 2006. As of December 31, 2006 the executive stock grants were fully
vested. . . :

[ ) ' L ' AT o Sy ‘ -3

On November 2, 2004 the Company's Board of Directors authorized the grant of stock to Company employees in lieu of
annual performance based salary increases and to recognize the performance of certain Company executives. The stock grants
totaled 84,000 shares of commaon stock, which were valued at $580,000 based on the stock price of $6:91 on the date of grant,
Certain of these stock grants, contingent upon future service to the Company, vested at a rate of one twelfth per month for the
twelve months following the grant date. Certain federal and itate withholding taxes related to the stock grant were paid by
individual employees through deduction of 2004 earnings or through payments made in cash or Company stock. ‘The Company
purchased $54,000 in treasury stock from employees, based on the closing price on the day the stock was transferred to the _ .
Company, to pay employee federal and state withholding taxes related to these stock grants. The Company recorded $202,000
and $358,000 in compensation expense related to these stock grants for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The Company reversed $20,000 of deferred compensation due to stock grants that were cancelled in 2005. As of
December 31, 2005 the employee stock grants were fully vested and the Company had zero remalmng as deferred compensation

in the equlty section of the Consolidated Balance Sheet. . A At . : '

A summary of stock grants follows: g o e . oo

. . . - ‘l ) ‘ .
i " * Weighted
o ‘ .. Average - . PR
Grant Date

Unvested at December 31, 2003 St T ; " TR Ca- :

Granted .. . Lo 84, 000 e w691,

Vested ' — (52000 ___ - 691.
Unvested at December 31, 2004 32,000 6.91

Vested : - " (29,000) - . .. *6.591

Canceled (3,000) 6.91
Unvested at December 31, 2005 2 - , - -

Granted T .. LD i L. 54,000 4,70

Vested - - 41000y 470
Unvested at December 31, 2006 . 13,000 £ 470 .-

Stock Compensation

The Company early adopted SFAS 123R for the period beginning October 1, 2005. The Company’s decision to early
adopt SFAS [23R was pursuant to the shareholder derivative action settlement, as discussed in Note 10. SFAS 123R_,
requires companies to recognize the cost of all share-based payments in the financial statements usirig a fair-value based -
measurement method. The Company adopted SFAS 123R using the modified version of prospective appllcatlon as defined
in SFAS 123R, and, as such, the adoption did not affect prior interim or year end periods. - -

' 1 ] . cTe P o

In anticipation of the adoption of SFAS 123R on September 30, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the
accelerated vesting of unvested and “out-of-the-money” options with an exercise price equal to or greater than $6.97, the
closing price of the Company’s common stock on September 29, 2005. Vesting was accelerated on a total of 167,000
options for 29 employees with a range of exercise prices from $7.03 to $31.99. As a result of this accelerated vesting the:
Company recorded on a pro forma basis an additional expense of $1.4 million for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2005, This expense is deducted from the net loss applicable to.common shares — as reported to calculate net
loss applicable to common shareholders - pro forma and the corresponding pro forma loss per share amounts in the tables
below. The decision to initiate the accelerated vesting, which the Company believed to be in the best interest of the
Company and its shareholders, was made primarily to reduce compensation expense related to unvested “out-of-the-money”
options that might be recorded in future periods following the Company's adoption of SFAS 123R on October 1, 2005.

The Company also maintains a sharcholder approved Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"} for the benefit of its
employees. See Note 14 for additional discussions of the ESPP.. The ESPP allows eligible employees the right to purchase

F-27




common stock on a quarterly basis at the lower of 85% of the market price at the beginning or end of each three-month offering
period. Pursuant to the adoption of SFAS 123R the lookback portion of the Company’s ESPP constitutes an option and as such
issuances of stock under the Company’ s ESPP must be valued and expensed.

SFAS 123R applies to new awards and to awards modiﬁed, repurchased, or cancelled after the required effective date or
implementation date, as well as to the unvested portion of awards outstanding as of the required effective date or
implementation date.. The Company uses the Black-Scholes model to value its stock option grants under SFAS 123R and
expenses the related compensation cost using the straight-line method over the vesting period. The fair value of the
Company’s ESPP options is also determined using the Black-Scholes modei and is expensed quarterly at the end of the
purchase period, as the option is fully vested at that time. The fair value of stock options is determined on the grant date
using assumptions for the expected term, expected volatility, dividend yield, and the risk free interest rate. The term
assumption is primarily based on the contractual term of the option and historic data related to exercise and post-vesting
cancellation history.experienced by the Company, adjusted based on- management’s expectations of future results. The
expected term is determined separately for options issued to the Company’s directors and to employees. The Company’s
anticipated volatility level is primarily based on the historic volatility of the Company’s common stock, adjusted to remove
the effects of certain periods of unusual volatility not expected to recur, and adjusted based on management’s expectations of
future volatility, for the life of the option or option group. The Company’s model includes a zero dividend yield assumption,
as the Company has not historically paid nor does it anticipate paying dividends on its common stock. The risk free interest
rate is based on recent U.S. Treasury note auction results with a similar life to that of the option. The Company’s model does
not include a discount for post-vesting restrictions, as the Company has not issued awards with such restrictions. The period
expense is then determined based on the valuation of the options, and at that time an estimated forfeiture rate is used to
reduce the expense recorded. The Company’s estimate of pre-vesting forfeitures is primarily based on the recent historical
experience of the Company, and is adjusted to reflect actual forfeitures as the options vest.

During the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company’s valuation analyst performed its annual review of the underlying
assumptions the Company uses in its Black-Scholes model for the valuation of options in accordance with SFAS'123R.
During this review the Company evaluated the volatility, expected term, and forfeitures. The Company began using these
revised assumptions for all options gr‘amed beginning in the fourth quarter of 2006.

i .

The following welghted-average assumptlons were used to determine the fair value of options under SFAS 123R:

Twelve Months'Ended Three Months Ended
Expected dividend yield - T 0% 0% 0% 0%
Expected stock price volatility .650 417 650 525
Risk-free interest rate 4.80% 4.39% 432% . 3.55%
Expected life of options 4.1 Years .24 Years 5 Years .25 Years

The modified prospective approach requires that the Company expense over the remaining vesting period the value it
previously calculated under the fair value method for stock options issued prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R. As of -
October 1, 2005, the date of adoption, there was approximately $593,000 in total unrecognized compensation cost related to
unvested stock, before considering estimated forfeitures. That cost is expected to be recognized based on the vesting of the
underlying option awards through the quarter ended June 30, 2010.

For the yearended December 31, 2006 the Company’s stock-based compensation expense was approximately $1.6
million of which appfoximately $852,000 was related to stock option grants and ESPP, $587,000 was related to executive
bonuses paid by the issuance of stock during 2007, and $181,000 was related to common stock grants. The Company
capitalized $75,000 of the stock-based compensation expense into its deferred preservation costs and inventory costs. For
the year ended December 31, 2005 the Company’s stock-based compensation expense was approximately $322,000 of which
approximately $120,000 was related to stock option grants and ESPP and $202,000 was rclated to common stock grants.

The Company capitalized $37,000 of the stock-based compensation expense into its deferred preservation costs and
inventory costs. Included in this total stock-based compensation expense were expenses related to options issued prior and
subsequent to the adoption of SFAS 123R and compensation related to the Company’s ESPP and common stock grants. This
amount was recorded as compensation expense and subject to the Company’s normal allocation of expenses to inventory and
deferred preservation costs. The Company did not recognize a tax benefit, or a related operating cash outflow and financing
cash inflow, related to the additional compensation expense recorded in the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 as the
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Company is maintaining a full valuation allowance on its'deferred tax assets. See Note 16 for additional discussions of the
Company’s income tax valuation,

As of December 31, 2006 and DeEe;yber 31, 2005 there was approximately $2.1 million and $495,000, respectively, in
total unrecognized compensation costs related to nonvested share-based compensation arrangements, before considering the
effect of expected forfeitures. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005 this expense is expected to be recognized over a weighted
average period of 2.0 years and 1.5 years, respectively. o '

. In periods prier to October 1, 2005 the Company elected to follow APB 25 in accounting for its employee stock options.
Under APB 25, because the exercise price of the Company's employee stock options equaled the market price of the underlying,
stock on the date of the grant, no compensation expense was recognized. In accordance with APB 25 the compensation recorded
for employee stock grants was equal to the value of the grant on the measurement date, the date of the grant, as determined by
the closing price of the Company's common stock on that date. Some employee stock grants vested in future periods based on a
requirement of continued service to the Company. For these stock grants the amount of the stock grant was recorded as deferred
compensation in the equity section of the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets, and was expensed on a straight-line basis
over the vesting period.

Pro forma information regarding net loss and loss per share was required by SFAS 123R for options accounted for under
ABP 25. SFAS 123R required that option valuation information be disclosed as if the Company accounted for its employee
stock options granted under the fair value method of that statement. The fair values for these options were estimated at the dates
of grant using a Black-Scholes optipn-pricing model and the following weighted-average assumptions were used:

. . ‘ e ‘ feo L Nin._e Mon_t:ﬁs Ende‘d ) Twelve Mdnths Ended .

.0 - oy e R September 30, , December 31,
v - Y 2005 . | 2004
Y S et Lo B . (unaudited) . .
Expected dividend yield = | . o, A 0% o 0%
Expected stock price volatility = ... | " P 519 _ +.589,
Risk-free interestrate . , ., - - : . _ 336% 7 3.09%
Expécted lifeof options , . . ... — L .. 32Years . . 3.7 Years

PR P ' '
y For purposcs of pro: forma dlsclosures the cstlmated falr values of the options are arnortlzed to expense over the options'
vesting periods on a ratable basis. The Conj.pany s pro forma mforjmatlon follows (in thousands, except per share data):

0N #

JI ' ‘ . ‘. S - _ Nine Months Ended . I‘Twelve Months Ended.

.“ : o September 30, , December 31,
2005 “ _ 2004
(unaudited)

Basic net loss applicable to common shares—as reported . $ _ (19,387) . 3 (18,749)
Stock-based employee compensation: Ve L0 R . ‘ ‘ . .

Add expense included in the determination of net loss . : 166 - 358

Deduct expense determined under the fair value based . e . :

methed for all awards . . Ve o . i 3253 . 3,003
Basic net loss appllcable to common shares——pro forma b ____(22474) S (21484)
Basic weighted-average shares 23,839 23,043
e T S Cae e

Basic loss per common share: ., ., . . . T o .

Asreported |, . . : . A | (0.81) $ (0.81)

Pro forma . | - L R (0.94) S (0.93)

-
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' -+ Nine Months Ended Twelve Months Ended
September 30, December 31,
_ . _ 2005 2004
- S o e - % " (unaudited) : oo
Diluted nét loss applicable to common sharcsu-as rcported o8 T {19387y - % (18,749)
Stock-based employee compensatlon . - " o e T R -
Add expense included in the determination of net loss O [ L i v 358
Deduct expense determined under the fair value based ) _ .
method for all awards* " " . ¢ e e e ' 328300 0 e - 3003
Dlluted net loss* apphcable to common shares—pro forma G 22474y~ 0 S (2] 484)
v, T SV - - .
Dlluted welghled-average shares ~ % e e e e 23,839 T 23,043
o I b BEREI bt ., - '
Diluted loss per cominon share S oW S . .
Asreported .© - . (08D \S : (0.281)
Pro forma 8 (0.94) g » (0.93)
! : e 2 Tt : W - 4 Chie r i . [ : ' . .
12. ShareholdernghtsPlan L j_-"' L ‘

o T Ay - ' . ' - "ot . . - N

On November 1, 2005 the CryoLife; Irc. Board of Directors approved the amendment and restatement of the shareholder
rights agreement, which was prev:ous]y adopted by the Board in 1995, The Board of Directors determined that the amendment
anid extension of the rights agreement protected the long-term share value for the Company's sharcholders. Under the rights
agreement each shate of the Company's ¢orinon stock outstanding on December 11, 1995 is entitled to one “Right,” as defined
in, and-subject to, the terms of the rights: agreérhent A Right entitles the registered holder to purchase from the Company one
one-hundredth of a share of Series A junior participating preferred stock (“Series A Stock™) of the Company at $33.33 per one
one-hundredth of a Preferred Share, subject to adjustment. Additionally, each common share that has or $hall become’
outstandmg after December 11, 1995 is also entitled to a Right, subject to the terms and conditions of the rights agreement. At
the meeting on November 1, 2005 the Board also declared that each share of 6% convertible preferred stock of the Company (a
“Convertible Share”) outstanding on November 23, 2005 is entitled to one Right for each share of common stock into which the
Convertible Share is convertible as of the Distribution Date (as defined in the rights agreement), subject to the terms and
conditions of the rights agreement. Each Convertible Share that becomes outstanding after November 23,2005 is also entitled to
a Right, subject to the terms and conditions of the rights agreement. The Rights, which expire on November 23, 2015, may be
exercised only if certain conditions are met, such as the acquisition of 15% or more of the Company’s common stock by a person
or affiliated group (together with its affiliates,’ associates, and transferees, an "Acquiring Person™. Rights beneficially owned by
an Acqumng Person become void from-and aﬁer the time such persons become Acquiring Persons, and Acquiring Persons have
no rights whatsoever under the rights agreement

e

Each share of Series A Stock purchasable upon exercise of a Right will be entitled, when; as, and if declared, to a minimum '
preferential quarterly dividend payment of $1.00 per share but wilt be entitled to an aggregate ‘dividend of 100 times the dividend
declared per share of common stock. ‘In the event of liquidation each share of the'Series A Stock will be éntitled to a minimum
preferential liquidation payment of 100 times the payment made per share of common stock. Finally in the event of any merger,
consolldatlon or other transaction in whlch shares of common stock are exchanged, each share of Series A Stock will be entitled
to receive 100 times the amount réceived per share of common stock. These rights are protected by customary antldllutlon
prov151ons .

. v ey

In the event the Rights become exercisable, each Right will enable the owner, other than Acquiring Persons, to purchase
shares of the Company’s Series A Stock as described above. Alternatively, if the Rights become exercisable, the holder of a'¢
Right may elect to receive, upon exercise of the Right and in licu of receiving Series A Stock, that number of shares of common
stock of the Company having an exercise value of two times the exercise price of the Right. In the event that, after a person or
group has become an Acquiring Person, the Company is acquired in a merger or other business combination transaction or 50%
or more of its consolidated assets or earning power are sold, proper provision will be made so that each holder of a Right will
thereafter have the right to receive, upon the exercise of a Right, and in lieu of Series A Stock of the Company, that number of
shares of common stock of the person with whom the Company has engaged in the foregoing transaction (or its parent) that at
the time of such transaction will have a market value of two times the exercise price of the Right. In addition, after any person or
group becomes an Acquiring Person and prior to the acquisition by the person or group of 50% or more of the outstanding
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common stock, the Board of Directors may elect to exchange all outstanding Rights at an exchange ratio of one share of
common stock (or fractional share of Series A Stock or other preferred shares) per Right (subject to adjustment).

B 1 B . . . . .t e
- L ! PG PV ST 3 * N ‘ * P ) T Y v .t

13. Comprehensive Income (Loss)

r
L&3} -

Components of comprehenswe income (loss) consist of the following, net-of applicable taxes (in thousands):

. : * .- BN |

N . ) oo ) _ 2006 2008 ., 2(]_[]4
Net income (loss) . L $ 365 ,. 8., (19.535). .5 . (18749)
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments 3 (34) (53}
Translation adjustment 34, — (04 49
Comprehensive income (loss) - : $ 402, .3__(19773)  § . (IR753)

The tax effect on the change in unrealized gain (loss) on investments is zero, $11,000, and $28,000 for the years ended |
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. The tax effect of the translation adjustment is a benefit of $91,000 for the
year ended December 31, 2006 and an expense of $64,000, and $17,000, for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, ., |
respectively. . REPIEE .

At December 31, 2006, components of accumulated other comprehensive income consist of the followmg, (1n thousands)

. e e e 2006 .. 2008 -
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments o s S L8 ()
Translation adjustment - 159 _ ___ 125,

Total accumulated other comprehensive income 3 160 .§ .. 123

14. Employee Benefit Plans
+ NN v

The Company has a 401(k) savings plan (the "Plan") providing retirement benefits to all employees who have completed at
least three months of service. The Company made matching contributions of 50% of each participant's contribution. for up to 4%
of each participant's sala.ry in 2006, 2005, and 2004. Total Company contnbutlons approx1mated $340,000, $296 000, and
$312,000 for 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. Additionally, the Company may make discretionary contributions to the Plan
that are allocated to each participant's account. In 2006 discretionary contributions of $56,000 were made by the plan, .
administrator.on behalf of the Company No discretionary contributions were made in 2005 qr 2004,

4 e

On May 16, 1996 the Company S, shareholders approved the CryoLlfe [nc Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP")
The ESPP allows eligible employees the nght to purchase common stock on a quarterly basis at the lower of 85% of the market
price at the beginning or end of each three-month offering penod As of December 31,2006 and 2005 there were 205,000 and
281,000, respectively, shares of common stock reserved,under.the ESPP and there, were 695,000 and 619, 000, respectlve]y,
shares issued under the plan. P o e "
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15. Loss Per Common Share ~ < ¢ -
1

Sttt daa b e e

[P

S

- T

The following table scts forth the computation of basic and diluted loss per common share (in thousands, except per share

data):
. . — 2006 — 2008 = ___ 2004
Numerator for basi¢ incomé (loss) per common share: L
Net income (loss) N 3 365 $  (19535) §  (18,749)
Effect of preferred stock-*-* L i (973) (177) -
Net loss applicable to common: shares 2 (603) S 20312y 3 (18749)
Denominator for basic loss per common share:- P
Basic welghted—average ¢ommon shares’ — 24,829 23,959 23043
| Basrc Toss per common share’ e $=g;g2; 1§t (D8S) -§ (OR1)- °
| L B 70 T AR AC U S R . ¢ el ' o0 : ’
I . N , . -
Numetator for dilited incomé (10ss) per common share: : ' e .
Net income (loss) $ 365 $ (19,535 §  (18,749)
Effect of preferred stock *” (973) (171D — ==
* Net loss$ applicable t6 common shares "’ gt - (GOR) v TR (20312 & (18.749)
Denominator-for diluted income-(loss) per common share:
Basic werghted-average common shares 24,829 23,959 23,043
Effect of dilutive com_'ertlble '
preferred stock © - - e
Effect of dilutive stock options ° - - -
Adjusted weighted-average common shares — 24,829 23,959 23,043
Diluted loss per common share $ (002 Y {0 Ri\ & {08’11

'
PRPERRRV LR | PR ¢ [P R

* * The" atnount of the accumulated dividend on the' Preferred Stock'increased the niet loss applicable to common shares by
$973 000 and S'{'?? 000 ‘for the years ended December 31,2006 and December 31 2005 respectively.
N I T A S
®  The amoufit of the’ aceumulated dlvrdend on Preferred Stock offset the Company s net income and resulted in a net loss
applicable to common sharés with a-total infavorable efféct of $973,000 for the year énded December 31, 2006. ‘The
adjustment for the quarter]y revaluation of the derivative llabrlrty, would have instead increased the net income
'applrcable to comron shareholders by $121,000 for the year éndéd December 31; 2006, and the common shares that
-+ 'would be. issued to ‘shateholders upon conversion of the remaining Preferred Stock and in payment of thé remaining
Dividend Make-Whole Payment ‘would hdve increased the werghted-average common shares by 2.2 million for the year
ended December 31,2006: These adjustments were excluded from the calculation above, as they were anti-dilutive
pursuant to the provisions of SFAS 123. .

-

.

The amount of the accumulated dividend on Preferred Stock increased the Company’s net loss by $777,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2005. The adjustment for voluntary conversions of Preferred Stock which took place during the
period March 18, 2005 through December 31, 2005, and the adjustment for the quarterly revaluation of the derivative
liability, would have instead increased the net loss applicable to commeon shareholders by $140,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2005. The common shares that would be issued to shareholders upen conversion of the remaining
Preferred Stock and in payment of the remaining Dividend Make-Whole Payment would have increased the weighted-
average common shares by 2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. These adjustments were excluded from
the calculation above, as they were anti-dilutive pursuant to the provisions of SFAS 128.

¢ Qutstanding options to purchase the Company’s common stock that would have resulted in additional dilutive common

shares of 229,000, 331,000, and 345,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively, were
excluded from the calculation above, as they were anti-dilutive pursuant to the provisions of SFAS 128.
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,In future periods,the basic and diluted loss per common share are expected to be affected by the declaration of dividends
on Preferred Stock, the conversion of Preferred Stock, fluctuations in the fair value of the Company’s common stock, and
changes in the valuation of the derivative.

-

- A . -

16. Income Taxes

Income (loss) before income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

Domestic
Foreign '
Income (loss) before ncome taxes

.lnco_me tax expense (beneﬁt) consists of the following (in thousands):

Current:, .
Federal -
State
Foreign

. ) o

Deferred: .

Federal
State ‘¢
Foreign

' 1 VR T

L . .. R
[ A A} ; L P tesh

Income tax expense (benefit) - -, ;v o ..

LU v l LA R IR

2006 2005
$ 358§ (19956) $ .. (22,205)
, 292 @ 439
$ 650 kY {19 963%) h 21 Zﬁﬁl
_2006 __2005 2004
$ 85 § 65§ -(3,120)
(58) 70 27
(7 123 103.
10 (364) (2,990).
$ ~ 8 -~ 3 -
275 _(64) on’
. ) @n

The Company’s income tax expense of $285,000 for 5006 wa; primarily due to the reeording of deferred tax liabilities

related to a foreign _]Ul‘lSdlCthIl and alternative minimum tax on the Company’s taxable income for 2006 that cannot be offset

by the Company’s net operating loss carryforwards, partlally offset by the favorable effect of adjustments to certain state tax
obligations and the favorable effect of reductions in the estimated foreign taxes on income of the COmpany s wholly owned

European subsidiary. ..., ... .., .. .

0
Y

+

Such amounts differ from the amounts computed by applymg the U.S. federal income tax rate of 34% in 2006, 2005 and

2004 to pretax income as a result of the followmg (in thousands):.

P [

- Moy et T e AL . L. : .
' 2006 2005 2004
Tax expense (benefit) at statutory rate $ 221 b 6,787) § (7,400)
Increase (reduction) in income taxes resulting from: -, . ; . . ' ..
Deferred tax valuation (330) 6, 493 . 5,475
Research and development credit (126) (1 00) (550)
Extraterritorial income exclusion 49) (54) 54
Foreign income taxes ‘ 258 59 76 -
Equity compensation 175 30 -
Entertainment expenses - ., . ., . 81 74 67
+. Loss (Gain) on preferred stock d1v1dcnd make whole payments . S 4] . . (48), -
- State income taxes; net of federal benefit . : o . 3 (142) (604)
Nontaxable interest income .. ., ... -- (10} 27)
Other .. N TS . . 11 51 -
: ) " ! ' b 285 : 3 (428). . S... . (3.017). .
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* The tax effects of temporary dlfferences Wthh gwe rise to deferred tax liabilities and assets at December 31 are as follows

(m thousands): AL " RIS . o

— 2006 2008

Deferred tax assets: ‘
Allowance for bad debts $ 50 $ - 36 ‘
Property . 62 -
Intangible assets CRT © 3350, 356
Accrued expenses 3,327 2,356
Loss cartyforwards -- LR —_—mr 23,603 20,177
Credit canyforwards a ‘ : ‘ 5,372 5,134
Deferred preservation costs and 1nventory reserves 1,467 258
Other ' : I I A : Co237 e

Less valuation allowance — (32978) ___ (26 53R)

Net deferred tax assets Moo A o 1475 : 1,790

Deferredta liabilities:- - 7.5« -~ ~ = dilid
Property _ ) - (608)
Intangible assets ’ oo ' (574) (499)
Prepaid items o ' 441) (422)
Accrued expenses - ~ ST (401) (13)

Other 3 bl (285) (248)
Total gross deferred tax liabilities (1,701) (1,790) i

Total net deferred tax liabilities o o (226) & - |

The Company assesses the recoverability of its deferred tax assets on an annual basis, and on an interim basis, as
necessary; when the Company experiences changes that could materially affect its determination of the recoverability of its
deferred'tax assets. Managemem providés a valuation allowance when, as a result of this analysis, management believes it is
more likely than not that its deferred tax assets will not be realized. In assessmg the recoverability of its deferred tax assets
at Decémber 31, 2006 thé' Company revrewed its historical operatmg results, including the reasons for its operating losses in
prior years ‘and unceriainties regardmg projected future operatmg results. Based on the results of this analysis, at December
31, 2006 the Company ‘determined- that it was more likely "than' not that ‘the Company’s deferred tax assets would not be
realized. ‘Therefore, 2§ of Deteriber’31, 2006 thie: Company had a total of $33:0 million in valuation allowances’ against
deferred tax assets and a net deferred tax liability of $226,000 related to taxes in a foreign jurisdiction.

-"As of Decémber 31, 2006, the Company had approxnmately $48.5'million of U.S: federal net operating loss *
carryforwards that will begin to expire in the 2023 tax year and$3.1 million in research and'devélopment tax credit "
carryforwards that will begin to expire in 2010. Addmonally, at December 31, 2006 the Company had $2.3 million in
a]temallve minimum tax credn carryforwards that do not expire,

ol [ - . ‘-
- ! . . '

The reallzablllty of the Company’s net operating losses could be limited in future periods as mandated by Intemal
Revenue Code Sect1on 382 ST I )

Vi, 1. \

17. Executive Insurance Plan - . Co

t

Pursuant to a supplemental life insurance program for certain executive officers of the Company, the Company and the
executives shared in the premium payments and ownership of insurance policies on their lives. At death, policy proceeds equal
to the premium contribution were due to the Company with the remaining proceeds due to the designated beneficiaries of the
insured party. In 2003 the Company suspended all contributions to the plan in order to evaluate the plan in relation to Section
402(a), of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. No contnbunons were made to the pian in 2005 or 2004, In 2004 the Company
awarded as a bonus amounts contributed by the Company to policies for two departing executive officers that had participated in
the plan. The Company's Board of Directors terminated this plan during 2005, and awarded as a bonus the Company’s
remaining interest in the plan to three executive officers that had participated in the plan. As a result the Company recorded
compensation expense of approximately $253,000 and $75,000 related to this plan in 2005 and 2004, respectively.
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18. Transactions with Related Parties

The Company expensed $135,000, $27,000, and $30,000 in 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively, relating to supplies for , . ¢
clinical trials purchased from a company whose CFO and Senior VP is 2 member of the Company's Board of Directors and a
shareholder of the Company. The Company expensed 326,000 in 2006 relating to research performed by.a company whose
former Chief of Thoracic Surgery is a member of the Company’s Board of Directors and a shareholder of the Company. The . |
Company recorded products and preservation services revenue of $151,000, $18,000, and $38,000 in 2006, 2005, and 2004
from a customer whose former Chief of Thoracic Surgery is a member of the Company’s Board of Directors,and a shareholder
of the Company. : o —_ .

: “ | B
r ‘i'- '{" ".\.

19. Segnient and Geogréphic Information Lo e

The Company has two reportable segments organized according to its products and services: Implantable Medical, |,
Devices and Human Tissue Preservation Services.

- The Implantable Medical Devices segment includes external revenue from product sales of BioGlug and pipprostﬁetic
devices, including stentless porcine heart valves and SynerGraft processed bovine vascular grafts. The,Human Tissue
Preservation Services segment includes external services revenue from preservation of cardiac, vascular, and orthopaedic
allograft tissues. There are no intersegmentrevenues. — :. ,, .. ¢ . . Fo s oo a0 1w N la

: (e B T o d
The primary measure of segment performance, as viewed by the Company’s management, is segment gross margin, or
net external revenues less cost of products and preservation services. The Company does not segregate assets by segment,

therefore, asset information is excluded from the segment disclosures below. -

. ' y
! LT R

I

e '-IJ”‘J ol

The following table summarizes revenu‘cs,lcost of products and preservation services, and gross margins for the.
Company’s operating segments (in thousands): ‘

oo . B Y (I L T B A R N Y T R N B
Soeo g, —2006 oy 2008 . - 2004

Revenue: .
Implantable medical devices . : $ 41,037 § 38932 § 36,637
Human tissue preservation services 40,078 30,307 25,676
All other® 196 43 21

b R1311 b 69,282 g 62,384

Cost of products and preservation services:
[mplantable medical devices 3 7,463 L 8,065 ) 7,818
Human tissue preservation services —~——20958 ___ 24357 __.. 29807
b 37,421 by 32422 § 37625

Gross margin:

Implantable medical devices $ 33,574 $ 30,867 $ 28,819
Human tissue preservation services 10,120 5950 (4,131)
All other® 196 43 11

$ 43800 § 36860 24759

All other designation includes 1) grant revenue and 2) revenues related to the licensing of the Company’s technology
to a third party.
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.Net revenues by product for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 were as follows (in thousands)

st IS T LA 4 '1- o St
Products: EENEEL I TP T e O UL M I PSR S LA
BioGlue: - we et 5§ ' 40025 0§ 937985 4§ 35745
Bioprosthetic dev1ces ML Cose T ':’ S012 oSt ‘947 v e il 'ROD ¢
Totalproduots S po E 41037 - . -38932: T 36,637
1 N g b | Vo ' st ad A o . "'nu' 1J AR e, oL T .
Huinan tissue preservation services: : ' T A A R R S AR
Cardiovascular tissue 15,988 13,762 12,504
Vascular tissue _ 16,956 11,453 10,293
Orthopaedic tissue _ , 7,134 5,092 2,879
Total preservation services ' 40,078 a2 930,30767: L6 25,676 -
All other” o R B T RN L1 R N AL SR & SV UL T S A

€ L URTAT] MR -%(9282 -  §ab'i.g2384' -3

# " All other designation mcludes 1) grant revenue and 2) revenues related to- -the l1censmg of the Company’s- techhology
toathrrdparty ’ P v . KRR S T e fe e bR
- LN - S Y T T T

Net revenues by geographic location attributed to countries based on the location of the customer for the years énded ™
December 31 2006 2005 and 2004 were as follows (m thousands)

. ¢ et PRI PR Y LN LT R I S S IR TI 8

Cen . : S LR N N W, T 11 ci 08 2004+
us. ' R *'$r- 69,467 | “§. . 58869 ' i§ . 53244
International 11,844 10,413 9,140
Total ‘ R U C . WL 15211 R “a 69 729"‘-‘ -en 62 384
¥ Yo et "r"."‘ o7

At December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, over 95% of the long-lived assets of the Company were helcl in the U S., where all
Company manufacturing facilities and the corporate headquarters are located.
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SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
(in thousands, except per share data)

First
—Quarter
REVENUE:
2006 $ 19,449
2005 17,665
2004 15,086
GROSS MARGIN:
2006 $ 10,763
2005 9,650
2004 4,036
NET (LOSS) INCOME:
2006 $ {1,780)
2005 . (1,357)
2004 (7,026)
(LOSS) INCOME PER COMMON SHARE—DILUTED:
2006 : ‘ $ (0.08)
2005 . (0.06)
2004 : (0.32)

F-37

Second

_Quarter__

3 20,754
17,198
15,314

3 11,638
9,049
5,871

$ 217
(14,379)
(3,352)

$  (0.00)
{0.61)
(0.14)

Third
~—Quarter

$ 20,018
16,458
16,118

$ 11,488
8,503
6,996

$ 1,978
(3,118)
(6,008)

$ 0.07
(0.14)
(0.26)

Fourth

$ 21,090
17,961
15,866

$ 10,001
9,658
7,850

$ (50)
(681)
(2,363)

$ (00D
0.04)
(0.10)




CRYOLIFE, INC. AND.SUBSIDIARIES

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004

I ] I

D .
Year ended December 31, 2006:
Allowance for doubtful accounts

Year ended December 31, 2005:
Allowance for doubtful accounts

Year ended December 31, 2004:
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Deferred preservation costs

DR

. 4

—of Period

£ 105,000

$ 85,000

$ - 65000
50,000

S-1

Balanee "
Beginning

65,000

57,000

53,000

37,000

33,000
50,000

SCHEDULE 11

Yo e
L

¢

. -Balance
e End

—of Period

$ 130,000

§ 105,000

$ 85,000




Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF CRYOLIFE, INC.
Subsidiary ; ' Jurisdiction :
CryoLife AcquiSition COIP. ......ec.oceieuerrriisrisecssensecsnissiassrssns Florida
CryoLife Europa, LTD. ..ot England and Wales
AuraZyme Phammaceuticals, INC....ocvoocvivineininnnissnirennsieins Florida
CryoLife International, INC. .......uvrvecirvcieriinneenn: rereermmnsensesnns e FlOTICR
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO deds ¥ians g0d sotdeA bived
o ted ode s wrticpe oo «-18U8.CrSECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT.TO no rogs1 lsunas 2idl bewaiver uvad A

Cre e e L SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES:OXLEY ACT OF 2002 :* -« ::v 2o nal

lm'r ARSI L. 511355 o g;rrp 10 3_1'13'*' tfzmlagg 1o G 22T, AR Eneadnn Path o 1 azﬂlbgb‘;imml ymmrhoscfie: &
In connection with the’Annua]lRepon :of CryoLife; lnctr(thei "Company")’on Form:10-K:for the'year ending December3 132006,
as filed with the Securitics and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report");éach ofi Steven G Anderson;:thén
Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,-and- David Ashley:Lee, the: Executive Vice Pres:dent Chief
Operatmg Oﬂicer'and Chnef Fmanmal Officer of thé Conipany Hereby;certifies; pursuart toland for purposes of:18 U:S.C. £
Section’l 3501 as adopted pursuant tofSecnonl906 of the: Sarbanes-Oxley:Act of2002uthat, to-his' knowledge t letrotstie e m
1oqen pidf ni bsiraeo1q ebubhsg
s (1. a;The Report ﬁJlly complles with the. reqmremenls of Section-13(a), or:15(d) of the Securities Exchange ‘Act of i
b ,alfzdnn.r 1934 and “n{mrmmm b;pa 2 ﬁ»'ldmaauq);sgd;;gpqcm 16} hng famoait 0 geidindaaadbd atnoitsipared Ry (0 B
anilrousy {maqpfx] 1equiraeed fagratnl hes () Bolibam(e)2. l-npd"ﬂdtllﬁ oA ounodoxd ni baniteb 25) z'*:ubﬂoo‘tq
(2) The information contained inithe- Repon fairly. preSénds}in’all material: respects JIthe*financial Sondition'and
o results of operations.of the Company., T AR WO TNV T I ST AR
od o1 ?.nuboumq bnﬁ e}fmgoo snuzolqeib, d xse by .;,{.a 'm‘ asmboypypbaas ajp;mmq‘ﬂ rmolugth dove bangies(l oy .,(n
/s/ STEVEN'G I ANDERSON 241 ailt.of snitnlsy qoissrustnidenoy/s/. DAVID 'ASHLEY: LEERam @ tir 'rabr:; boawtsnb - o i

STEVEN!G] ANDERSONQ!UQ'TU}:;;Q?MQH-) pepdr nicbiv @ailio \DAVID ASHLEYULEE #oitsibiadue basshiloamnd

Chairman, President, and Executive Vice President:tiod 21 roga 2ird) toidw

Chief Executive Ofﬁcer,--;c hiatonr Lo ol oo innactad eChief Operating Officer;andr ] ; bt o or o0
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Steven G. Anderson
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
CryoLife, Inc.
Kennesaw, Georgia

Thomas F. Ackerman(1).(2).(4)
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Charles River Laboratories
International, Inc.

(Research tools and services for
drug and medical device
development)

Wilmington, Massachusetts

James S. Benson(3),(4)

Retired

Former Executive Vice President

Advanced Medical Device
Association

(A health industry
manufacturers’ association)

Rockville, Maryland

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Daniel J. Bevevino(2)

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Respironics, Inc.

{Medical devices)

Murrysville, Pennsylvania

John M. Cook(1),(2)
Partner

CT Investments, LLC
{Private Investments)
Atlanta, Georgia

Ronald C. Elkins, M.D.(1),(3)

Professor Emeritus, Section of

Thoracic and Cardiovascular
Surgery

University of Oklahoma

Health Sciences Center

QOklahoma City, Oklahoma

Virginia C. Lacy

Administrator

The Jeannette & John Cruikshank

Memorial Foundation

(A charitable foundation)

and President,

Precision Devices Corporation

{A distributor of small medical
products to hospitals)

Napervilte, lllinois

Ronald D. McCall, Esq.(5)

Attorney at Law

Tampa, Florida

Bruce J. Van Dyne, M.D.(3),(4)

Board Centified Neurologist

Private Practice
Minneapolis, Minnesota

Committee Members as of

February 16, 2007

(1) Compensation Committee

(2} Audit Committee

(3) Regulatory Affairs and Quality
Assurance Policy Committee

(4) Nominating and Corporate

Governance Commiltee
(5) Presiding Director

The graph below matches CryoLife, Inc.’s cumulative 5-year total shareholder return on commaon stock with the cumulative total returns of
the Russell 2000 Index and to a peer group selected by the management of CryoLife. This peer group includes public companies in the tissue
preservation industry or tissue engineering industry which are listed on Nasdaq and is composed of LifeCell Corporation, Osteotech, Inc., and
Regeneration Technologies, Inc. The graph tracks the performance of a $100 investment in our common stock, in the peer group, and the index
(with the reinvestment of dividends) from December 31, 2001 to December 31, 2006. The stock price performance included in this graph is not
necessarily indicative of future stock price performance,

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among CryoLife, Inc,, The Russell 2000 Index,

And A Peer Group
$250 -
$200 - —®—Cryolife,inc. — A— Russell 2000 °
I ca
- - O - - Peer Group B
$150 | e Q- JUS S

so L L : 1 —
12/01 12/02 12/03 12/04 12/05 12/06

*  $100 invested on 12/31/01 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year ending December 31.




